
    

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 22 September 2022 at 10.00 am

Teams Virtual Meeting 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Griffiths

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of agenda.

Andrea Griffiths

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 8)

The Committee is asked to approve the minutes of the previous meeting.   

Andrea Griffiths

4  Alternative Provision - Current Position and Development Plans linked 
to the SEND Green paper content & Direction of Travel (Pages 9 - 16)

The Committee is asked to note the update report.

Phil Haslett

5  Family Hubs - Where are we in the process (Pages 17 - 74)

To update the Committee on the Family Hubs model in Gloucestershire.

Wendy Williams

6  Continuous Improvement Board Update (Pages 75 - 78)

The Committee is asked to note the update report.  

Chris Spencer

7  Fostering Update (Pages 79 - 130)

To update Children and Families Scrutiny Committee on the Fostering 
Service Annual Report 2021/22

Tammy 
Wheatley

8  Please send in questions on the following agenda items by the end of 
day on Monday 12th September 2022 

9  Improvement Plan (Pages 131 - 168) Ann James

10  Performance Report (Pages 169 - 182) Andy Dempsey

11  Quality Assurance Framework (Pages 183 - 206) Rob England



    

12  Revenue Monitoring Report (Pages 207 - 218) Suzanne Hall

13  Work Plan (Pages 219 - 222) Andrea Griffiths

Membership – Cllr Linda Cohen, Cllr David Drew, Cllr Ben Evans (Vice-Chair), Cllr Tim Harman, 
Cllr Stephen Hirst, Cllr Beki Hoyland, Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, Cllr Dr Andrew Miller 
(Chairman) and Cllr Emma Nelson

Added Members - Charlotte Blanch (Clifton Diocese)

Co-Opted Member - Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.
 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Griffiths  Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324206/e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p88 of the 

Constitution).

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.hill2@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on Thursday 14 July 2022 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet 
Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Charlotte Blanch
Cllr Linda Cohen
Cllr David Drew
Cllr Ben Evans (Vice-
Chair)
Cllr Tim Harman

Cllr Beki Hoyland
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller (Chairman)
Cllr Emma Nelson
Ambassador for Vulnerable Children & 
Young People

Officers: Chris Spencer (Director of Children’s Services), Kirsten Harrison 
(Director of Education), Andy Dempsey (Director of Partnerships & 
Strategy), Ann James (Director of Children’s Safeguarding and 
Andrea Griffiths (Democratic Services).  

Apologies: Cllr Stephen Hirst

28. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Miller declared he was an approved foster carer.  

29. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

That the minutes of the 26th May 2022 were approved as a correct record. 

30. ADOPTION WEST - HOW DOES THE PROCESS WORK? 

30.1 The Director of Partnerships & Strategy presented the report in detail and provided 
the Committee with an overview of the Adoption West (AW) joint scrutiny panel and 
its relationship with Adoption West.  

30.2 It was noted the Director of Partnerships & Strategy (DPS) was the Chair of the AW 
Board and the Chair of CFSC was also a member of the AW Joint Scrutiny Panel. 
He explained there were different volumes of work in each of the localities covered 
by AW and the adoption activity detail was contained within the report.  

30.3 Members were informed that the volume of adopted families were now greater than 
ever before and AW was making headway in terms of placing siblings and harder to 
place children.  It was explained that a new identity, especially for a young person, 
in a new family had the potential to cause tensions and that had to be managed 
carefully.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

30.4 A member advised the Committee that she was aware of a case, that had taken 
over two years, she felt it was a slow process but felt reassured that the situation 
was improving.   It was noted that were now more prospective parents than there 
were children and the opportunity to foster children was also available.  

30.5 The DPS explained that the pandemic had moved the adoption process to a virtual 
platform and not face to face, which in many cases had led to a breakdown in the 
process.  It was noted there was a proposal to restructure AW in order to map the 
locality’s more effectively and the focus had shifted slightly to find adopters for 
sibling groups.  Officers added that adoption was a long process and intrusive 
process and it often deterred potential adopters. Members appreciated that it took 
time to find the right parents for the child/children.   

30.6 Members felt that many children remained in the system for longer than necessary, 
although they recognised the metrics in placing the right child with the right family.  
In response to a question, it was noted that Government didn’t retain a high level of 
detail in terms of adoptions but the data was held locally.  

31. SEND GREEN PAPER - OVERVIEW, LOCAL AREA SEND INSPECTION AND 
SEND QA PROCESSES 

31.1 The Director of Education (DoE) presented the Committee with a detailed 
presentation.  She explained that SEND services continued to be under pressure 
owing to sustained demand and service level expectations across the sector as the 
number of EHCPs continued to rise and are above trends from previous years.  It 
was reported that the net increase in plans supported by the High Needs budget 
was 420. This was 70 plans above the same time in the previous year.  This rise, 
plus an increased number of Post 16 and further education placements was 
creating additional pressure on the High Needs budget.  It was reported that the 
current forecast showed an in-year deficit of £4.1m compared to the planned £3.5m 
overspend.

31.2 The DfE published its Education White Paper and Green SEND Paper in March 
2022 and the consultation will close on the 22nd July 2022.  The SEND paper 
focused on outcomes for children and young people with SEND and those in 
alternative provision settings.  

31.3 Members questioned the meaning of the term ‘alternative provision’. They felt it was 
a huge concept and wondered what was the direction of travel.  The DoE explained 
it referred to any provision that was not within a school setting.  The vision for the 
LA’s Alternative Provision schools was to develop a coherent service that served 
the county as a whole, supporting those children/young people who weren’t in 
mainstream education.  Alternative provision was also a term used to describe was 
provision/services offered by independent and private providers. 

31.4 There has been some concern raised over unregulated providers and the Authority 
was working with the regulator, Ofsted, to provide some oversight and intervention 
in order to keep service users safe where provisions were unregulated and that the 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

rules on their use were followed.  Officers were looking to review the LA’s directory 
of alternative provision to provide greater safeguarding assurances as regards 
registration with Ofsted and compliance with legal use.  It was noted that an update 
on alternative provision would be presented to the September Committee meeting.  

31.5 Members were surprised at who could establish themselves as an alternative 
provider and this gave some cause for concern. The DoE reiterated the existence of 
the directory and the work in train; she explained that the due diligence 
responsibility sat with the school commissioning the placement for a child or young 
person.  

31.6 Members welcomed the report and found the content interesting. They were 
interested to know if Government had lowered the thresholds for SEN, hence the 
increase in numbers.  The DoE explained there was no formal shift in thresholds, 
although since the pandemic alongside the longer term shifts in parental attitudes 
from the 2014 Reforms, there had been a shift in parents’ perceptions and 
understanding which had been a contributory factor in the increased requests to 
assess for an EHCP. It was suggested prior to the 2014 reforms there was a stigma 
attached to what was then called a statement, but they had now been replaced by 
EHCPs, it had come to be seen as an ‘entitlement’ and a key way to access 
resources.   

31.7 It was recognised there were a combination of factors contributing to the EHCP 
increases, including the skills and ability of classroom teachers to meet pupils 
needs in the mainstream classroom.  The DoE accepted there was more work to be 
done in terms of embedding the Graduated Pathway.  

31.8 The Committee were advised that the Authority in collaboration with schools were 
working to create a more inclusive school system. It was recognised this was 
difficult as many schools felt under resourced to do so.  Head teachers felt 
challenged to meet the needs of their pupils without the right tools and resources, 
and deliver additional support in a timely way.  

31.9 In response to a question, members were advised that the Green Paper sought to 
address the rights of redress for parents to reduce the escalation of cases rapidly to 
tribunal.  Officers welcomed the shift in the Green Paper, as the changes could 
promote a more collaborative and less adversarial approach to meeting a child’s 
needs.  It was recognised that extreme court cases often made for poor laws and 
early intervention was key in preventing the need for such escalations.  

31.10 The DCS explained the 2014 legislation was well intended but it had landed in a 
hostile environment and made some incorrect assumptions.  He added there were 
perverse incentives around EHCPs as SEND was not always clearly diagnosable 
and it often depended on the context, i.e. how inclusive the school that the child 
attended was.  

31.11 It was noted it was necessary to move schools to become more ‘SEND friendly’ and 
inclusive across the board. The SEND Green paper would help to address some of 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

the issues.  The DCS stated that SEND training was not covered in teacher training, 
the committee felt in terms of professional development; it should be.  

31.12 The Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Bus Transport wished to thank the 
DoE for all her efforts on this area of work. He felt it was a step change from where 
the service was and various issues had been identified.  

31.13 The Clifton Diocese Member recognised it was important to monitor the Covid 
situation, as this was an ongoing legacy that had made it difficult to identify SEND 
early.  She felt strongly that EPS and ATS support for schools had fallen apart in 
the pandemic and she hoped in terms of the White Paper, that it would provide an 
opportunity to address the backlogs.  It was noted many schools SATS results were 
further away from where they thought they would be and the member suggested 
perhaps the Schools Improvement Team should look at this area.  As a head 
teacher she felt there were more needs now and schools were now more aware of 
the importance of mental health.  

31.14 It was noted there was considerable disparity between schools in the same area in 
terms of the quality of the universal offer. It was suggested the aim should be to 
achieve high quality universal offers from all schools rather than allow an imbalance 
to persist.  The DoE explained it would be difficult to hold all schools to account, as 
academies were under the remit of the Regional Director in terms of school 
improvement and as the White paper was implemented and the trust-led system 
established, all schools would sit under the Regional Director.  

31.15 The DCS advised the Committee that he had over 200 statutory responsibilities for 
schools, yet he had diminishing powers of intervention and there was little he could 
do to enforce a visit to an academy from the School Improvements Team, as 
academies were under the remit of the Regional Director.  He explained that the 
Regional Director was now working to improve partnership working and under the 
new White paper, Local Authorities would acquire some further duties that would 
equally apply to academies. 

 31.16 It was suggested that the Regional Director be invited to a future meeting of the 
Committee to give an account of what they were doing for failing academies and 
what contribution they were making to the improvement of the wider educational 
landscape in Gloucestershire.  It was noted that previously failing academies 
around which this concern had been raised, had subsequently achieved ‘good’ 
Ofsted judgements in recent inspections.

31.17 Members had observed full service effects of the cuts and strains that had been 
placed on the system. This had resulted in a lack of floating staff able to assist with 
pupils as and when required.  In response to a question, the committee were 
advised that the EHCP assessment process should take 20 weeks to complete in 
line with statutory timelines, involving often a number of agencies.  At present the 
LA was challenged in terms of timeliness with assessment processes taking on 
average 20-30 weeks to complete for some children. However, the EHCP 
depended on the level of need and whether the school could meet that need.  
Some members felt primary teachers did not have the finance, resources or support 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

they needed and were struggling to support children with additional needs in their 
schools.  

31.18 The DoE added that in a worst case scenario an EHCP could take up to 40 weeks 
to complete but this was a similar position across many authorities, given the 
increased demand nationally; it was confirmed there was a current backlog.   

31.19 The DCS informed the Committee that the financial issues for small rural schools 
were magnified and for schools which were under capacity, otherwise school 
budgets were sufficient to deliver good quality education but were coming under 
greater pressures associated with rising costs of fuel and liabilities.  In his 
experience it was sometimes necessary to restructure staffing groups to overcome 
financial challenges and make the school more financially viable.  He felt there was 
no reason for a school to be underfunded and there was a relationship between 
how well a school was managed and its staffing levels.  It was noted there was an 
element of additional funding that could be accessed through Pupil Premium.  The 
DCS felt there were clear financial challenges facing schools and sometimes head 
teachers were ill equipped through lack of training to deal with them.  

31.20 In response to a question, members were informed that the notional first £6000 
funding for an EHCPs was within a school’s budget. It was a question of how that 
£6k budget was deployed.  Therefore, it was essential to utilise those resources 
effectively.  Members were reminded that the Inclusion Strategy and the progress of 
its roll out and impact would be presented to Committee in 2023.   

32. IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

32.1 The Director of Children’s Safeguarding presented the Improvement Plan in detail 
and advised the Committee that the plan included specific actions in response to 
the five formal recommendations made within the inspection report, alongside a 
wider programme of improvement in support of the development of consistently 
good services.  Members were informed that the plan was in essence the road 
recovery and sustainable good services by ensuring consistency for all children in 
Gloucestershire.  

32.2 It was anticipated that the Plan would eradicate delay, delivery timely and skilled 
intervention and deliver sustainable outcomes for children and young people.  The 
officer explained there were social and economic challenges and the demand for 
services had increased by 30% since the pandemic.  

32.3 Members recognised the increased in organised crime in terms of gangs, drugs, 
etc. and pressures on the system.  This was further compounded by numerous 
other factors as we emerged from lockdown, such as workforce turnover, the 
number of vacancies and the increased costs versus the demand.  

32.3 The Committee noted that the plan had been devised with Heads of Services and 
Partner agencies but the plan was very much owned by the service.  The focus was 
very much on the practical improvements.  The Director wished to thank Clarisse 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Forgues for her efforts in developing the key actions and metrics in the plan.  
Officers were committed to earlier intervention, planning and delivery.  

32.4 It was explained that the Executive Director of Corporate Resources would chair the 
new improvement Board and a DfE representative would continue to sit on the 
Board, as they still retained and advisory role as the Authority still remained in a 
DfE category of support and supervision.  Officer reminded members it was 
essential to support and invest in Children’s Services in order to make good 
progress sustainable.  Members were advised that the first meeting of the Board 
would take place on the 28th July 2022.  

32.5 The Director of Children’s Safeguarding felt it was a unique time given the Social 
Care Review, the white and green education papers and the reviews following child 
murders of Star and Arthur reported widely in the media.    She added it was 
necessary to build resilient families and communities through positive change and 
the detailed improvement plan would help to support that journey.  

32.6 Members welcomed the new style of Improvement Plan and felt it was a good user 
friendly format.  During the discussion, members questioned the red warnings and 
wondered what were the immediate problems facing the service.  The Director 
explained that the priorities were to stabilise the workforce, while recruiting and 
retaining staff, as it was not possible to deliver the service without them.  Therefore, 
it was a relentless focus that set the context.  

32.7 The Committee were informed that Police, Education and Health all had input in an 
effort to build a constructive plan across the partnership agencies, as it was 
essential to get it right for the children and young people of Gloucestershire.  

32.8 The development of family hubs in association with Child Friendly Gloucestershire, 
was critical to develop the power of the communities working relationship as part of 
the wider system.  

32.9 In response to a question, members were advised that the plan was to get the 
Authority to a good rating, however the distance from where the service currently 
stood to sustainably good was significant.  Officers explained if and when the 
categories were rated as amber or green, then that would indicate a consistent 
delivery, which meant the service would be on track for the journey to a good rating.  

32.10 Members raised concerns over IT system failings, officers explained they were 
working with the Director of People and the appropriate IT Team in order to 
understand the performance issues in real time.  The DCS advised committee that 
it was business critical, as the current infrastructure was very old and the case 
management system sat on top of that, which meant that generally they were 
compatible they often found it difficult to interact efficiently creating problems for the 
front line staff.  He recognised the longer it took to upgrade the infrastructure the 
longer the problematic issues would continue.

32.11 In an effort to resolve the issues he had approached Liquid Logic with the support 
of Corporate IT to ask them to host the system.  It was anticipated the host service 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

would be in place in the Autumn and the issues would be resolved which would 
help to boost staff morale.  Members were reminded that an ICT Update would be 
presented to the November meeting.  The Committee requested that the Assistant 
Director Digital & ICT also attend the meeting to answer any questions that may 
arise (Action – CS/KG)

32.12 The Committee were advised a cost benefit analysis was required and the Liquid 
Logic help desk was not just 9-5.  Members recognised the need to ensure the IT 
system was fit for purpose, but they felt the Council had lapsed in this area and it 
was necessary to press on as a matter of urgency.  

32.13 The Chair informed the Committee the Corporate Overview Scrutiny Committee 
had looked at the ICT security and work was being undertaken.  He felt that the 
Improvement Plan was a considerable move forward and appreciated the given 
timescales, he added the scrutiny committee could now hold officers to account.  

32.14 In response to a question, it was explained that the quality assurance framework 
was being revised to understand families and their needs.  Practice weeks were 
being undertaken to observe families and child development practices in order to 
develop an informed understanding to help protect children.  Officers explained that 
the sharing of learning with practioners was a valuable learning exercise and aided 
the continued development of the service.  

32.15 Some members felt this was a valuable experience for the Senior Leadership Team 
(SLT), the aim was to give them the opportunity to view the practice in reality and 
give them opportunity to test what is actually being done on the ground.  Officers 
recognised the importance of asking service recipients, in order to test the quality of 
the services provided.  

32.16 The Committee were advised that Ofsted had commented that the service had a 
robust data and performance management systems in place.  It was recognised 
that children services were subject to regulation and scrutiny by Councillors, Ofsted 
and the SEND Inspection.  

32.17 The DCS informed Members that the plan in general reflected the ambition to 
achieve a good rating and provide a sustainable service.  He recognised the high 
number of red ratings and accepted there was still a lot of work to do and he 
intended to keep his foot on the pedal as the service was in a fragile position and 
had a history of being in and out of intervention.  During the discussion, members 
requested that recruitment and retention of staff be included on the work plan.  

32.18 Members were advised the major issues to overcome were the workforce and the 
placements markets which had created high profit margins for the private sector 
and venture capitalists in particular while profiteering at the expense of children and 
young people.  It was explained that the service aimed to create their own 
placements in an effort to bring about positive change and disrupt the market.  The 
DCS felt these issues could be overcome with the modernisation and reshaping of 
services going forward.    

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

32.19 In response to a question, members were advised that it was a question of 
improving the service for children and young people, and not for the benefit of 
inspectors, it was now a question of business as usual.  Officers referred to the 
various upcoming ILAC and SEND inspections and explained that data was 
reviewed regularly to ensure consistency.  

33. WORK PLAN 

During the discussion, members requested the following items be included on the 
work plan: 

- Recruitment & Retention of Children Services staff (Social Workers, etc)
- Briefing paper on academies as part of the levelling up agenda, in relation to 

schools in deprived areas and secondary education failings.
- Regional Director be invited to attend a meeting to give an update on what 

they were doing in terms of failing academies.  
- Training around the scrutiny process in relation to Children’s Services.

The Committee  agreed that in order to make the best use of time, any questions in 
relation to the Improvement Plan be submitted prior to the meeting.  The revised 
work plan would be circulated to Members in due course.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.38 pm

Page 8



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Date: 15th September, 2022 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Alternative Provision Transformation – Progress Report

Purpose of Report: To provide members of the committee with: 

 an understanding of the purpose and structure of 
Alternative Provision in the County;

 an update on the developments and improvements that 
have been made to Alternative Provision; and

 an outline of the continued activity to support the 
improvement of Alternative Provision across the county.

Recommendations: None – Report provided as an update on progress

Officer(s) Contact: Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Inclusion

Key Risks
High Quality Alternative Provision is an essential, early 
intervention, component of the local education system. If effective 
provision is not in place the risks are:

 children that need specialist short-term provision to enable 
them to access mainstream education with not be able to 
access the support they need.

 permanent exclusion, suspensions and attendance rates 
will all be negatively affected.

 Children’s needs will escalate and cost of provision to 
support them will rise, increasing the pressure on the High 
Needs budget.

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



1. What is Alternative Provision and why is it important?
1.1. Alternative Provision (AP) is an umbrella term defined by the Department of 

Education as: 
‘an education arranged by local authorities for pupils who, because of exclusion, 
illness or other reasons would not otherwise receive suitable education; education 
arranged by schools for pupils on a fixed period of exclusion; and pupils directed by 
schools to off-site provision to improve their behaviours.

1.2. The most common type of AP is a Pupil Referral Unit (PRU): a school that primarily 
caters for children and young people who have been permanently excluded from a 
mainstream school. The most common reason for permanent exclusion is 
persistent disruptive behaviour although serious one-off incidents can also result in 
permanent exclusion. 

1.3. Children and young people may also access a PRU because they are at risk of 
permanent exclusion, they are missing education (e.g., temporarily not having a 
place at a mainstream school) and in some circumstances, because their needs 
cannot be met by the mainstream school, and they are awaiting a place at a special 
school.

1.4. Other types of Alternative Provision include:

 AP Free Schools or Academies (local example: Abbeyview, Tewksbury)

 Independent providers (e.g., outdoor learning centres)

 Further Education Colleges (e.g., Practical, and vocational education)

 Voluntary sector providers (e.g., Young Gloucestershire, counselling, and 
mentoring services)

 Hospital Education (Gloucestershire Hospital Education Service)
1.5. High Quality Alternative provision is an essential component of an effective local 

education system. It provides invaluable specialist support for children, families, 
and the mainstream school system.  At its best, it is short term provision, that 
enables children who are struggling to access mainstream education or have 
medical needs to access the specialist support they need, so that they can return to 
mainstream provision with their peers.

Page 10



2. What does the local AP offer look like? 
2.1. Gloucestershire’s LA maintained Alternative Provision Schools (APSs) are 

constituted as PRUs and offer countywide placements for pupils who have been 
excluded from mainstream school or who are at risk of exclusion. These 
placements can be on a full or part time, and short- or long-term basis. 

2.2. There were three LA maintained AP schools but following the coming together of 
The Stroud and Cotswold Alternative Provision School (SCAPS) and The 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Alternative Provision School (CTAPS) in January 
2022, under a single AP School called Severn Valley School, there are now two LA 
maintained Pupil Referral Units in Gloucestershire:

 The Gloucester and Forest Alternative Provision School (GFAPS)

 Severn Valley Alternative Provision School (SVAPS)
2.3. These schools operate from five centres across the county, which are identified on 

the map below. Rutherford House is the only dedicated primary centre, with the 
others focussing on provision for secondary aged children.

2.4. As well as the five registered centres shown above, both schools work with a range 
of other education providers to offer outreach and partnership services based on 
mainstream school sites and other venues. For example, GFAPs runs provision 
from the site of Dean Academy School in the Forest and both providers use Post 16 
providers such as Gloucestershire College for support with vocational provision.

Page 11



2.5. In addition to the two LA maintained AP schools there is a range of other provision 
in the county, including:

2.5.1. An Academy Free School APS that operates from Tewkesbury (Abbey 
View School).  The school was founded by three mainstream secondary 
schools, Cleeve, Chipping Campden, and Tewkesbury schools.  The school 
provides an early intervention service to mainstream schools but is not 
formally commissioned by the local authority and as such, does not take 
children who have been permanently excluded.

2.5.2. The Gloucestershire Hospital Education Service, which is commissioned by 
the LA, provides specialist support for children that are not able to attend 
mainstream school for medical reasons.  The aim of the service is to 
address inclusion and reintegration issues specific to young people with 
medical needs; making it possible for a child to have a seamless 
educational transition between hospital, home, and school. 

2.5.3. A range of third sector and independent Alternative Provision that operate 
across the county (Young Gloucestershire, CMAS, Bridge Training).  This is 
a mix of both Ofsted registered and unregistered provision. Registration 
allows the providers to operate as a school and as such, offer full-time 
education. 

2.6. The term unregistered provision should not be interpreted as a judgement of 
quality, but it does mean the provider is subject to less regulation and is limited in 
terms of the education it can provide. An unregistered setting is deemed to be an 
illegal independent school if it is providing full time education to five or more 
children and/or to one or more students with an EHCP or who are Looked After.

2.7. The local authority maintains an approved catalogue of registered and unregistered, 
independent and third-sector alternative provision services, which mainstream 
schools can access for support.

3. Transformation and change so far - What we have been doing and why?
3.1. There has been a strong focus on the development and improvement of our local 

alternative provision offer for the last 2 years. There were two drivers for this.
3.2. Firstly, national policy and evidence on the quality and impact of Alternative 

Provision. ‘The Timpson Review’ states “the cost of permanent exclusion to the 
public purse was and continues to be disproportionate to what early 
intervention with the pupil/family would have cost”.  The average whole costs 
without early intervention are circa £370,000 per young person including education, 
health, social services - with there being a higher likelihood of entry into the criminal 
justice system; higher likelihood of social security involvement; and increased 
average healthcare costs.

3.3. The review found that on average, 2,000 children were temporarily excluded from 
school every day on a ‘fixed term’ basis in England in 2016/17.  In addition, every 
day an average of 40 children were also permanently excluded. Whilst this is an 
improvement on historical figures, it represents a worrying upwards trend in recent 
years, which contributes to poor outcomes in children’s attainment and an 
unsustainable pressure on the High Needs budget both nationally and locally.

3.4. Secondly, the High Needs consultation in 2019 identified several areas for 
improvement. The key issues included:  

Page 12

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2110312/alternative-provision-catalogue-current-version.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/school-exclusions-review-call-for-evidence


 Variation in quality of provision: One of the schools had a ‘requires 
improvement’ judgement from Ofsted, the other two had just received ‘good’ 
judgements, although one gave warning for a return visit, as it was not 
deemed a secure good. 

 Lack of focus on early intervention: A commissioning model for the 
maintained AP schools that was predicated on children being permanently 
excluded to access support, which allowed no room to support earlier 
intervention. 

 Poor quality buildings and facilities: A capital infrastructure that was not fit 
for purpose, lacked investment and was, due to the focus on permanent 
exclusion, predominantly structured to support secondary age children, with 
only one small primary site in Joys Green. 

3.5. In response to the High Needs Consultation in 2019, an Alternative Provision 
development project was established in June 2020.  By working in partnership with 
key stakeholders the project aimed to reduce the number of children and young 
people being permanently excluded and improve outcomes for children and young 
people identified as at risk of permanent exclusion, by refocusing provision and 
funding to deliver earlier intervention and support services in Gloucestershire.

4. Progress and achievements so far
4.1. Despite the significant challenges faced by launching a project in the midst of a 

global and enduring pandemic, the project has maintained momentum and made 
good progress over the past two years, particularly in changing the narrative around 
alternative provision and in building relationships between the Alternative Provision 
Schools, mainstream schools and the local authority.

4.2. Areas of progress and success against the project’s original objectives include: 

 Quality of provision: A successful Ofsted inspection at GFAPs, which means 
that all LA commissioned Alternative Provision is judged ‘Good’ by Ofsted. In 
addition we have been piloting the use of the alternative provision benchmark 
toolkit produced by IntegratED.  This has been done through a self-assessment 
and peer-review model. This is an exciting national development that is looking 
to address the crucial question of ‘what are the characteristics of a good quality 
AP’

 Quality of environments: Improvement works have been undertaken on all 
sites to enhance the learning environments.  This includes the closure of the 
Joys Green site and the opening of Rutherford House, a brand-new primary 
provision in Gloucester in September ’21, which provides a much-needed 
emphasis on the needs of the primary sector.

 A new service offer: The funding and commissioning models have been 
changed so that the schools are now able to provide a part-funded outreach 
and partnership offer to mainstream schools. This provides a much-needed 
emphasis on early intervention for those at risk of exclusion. For example, 
Rutherford House is providing support for around 35 primary age children of 
which over three quarters are on partnership placements. We are also 

Page 13

https://www.integrated.org.uk/2021/05/12/alternative-provision-benchmark-toolkit-summary/
https://www.integrated.org.uk/2021/05/12/alternative-provision-benchmark-toolkit-summary/


supporting ‘Space to Shine’, a part-time social and emotional intervention 
programme that operates over 4 weeks, to support children who are struggling 
with the Social Emotional Mental Health needs in their mainstream setting.

 Understanding the quality of assessment: A detailed review of the current 
approaches to assessing children’s needs has been undertaken and reported.  
The aim of this review was to understand common issues around the 
assessment of children and to secure a more consistent approach.  The focus 
of this review started with AP, but quickly broadened to include mainstream 
provision, as it became clear that the quality of assessment and use of the 
Graduated Pathway in mainstream was inconsistent.  The report makes a 
number of recommendations to improve assessment processes, which are now 
being embedded within the Graduated Pathway. 

 Developing models of effective transition: Effective transition in and out of 
Alternative Provision is critical, given the intended, short-term nature of support.  
Again, this is an area that has been reviewed, with a view to understanding the 
conditions for successful transition and embedding more consistent approaches 
across the county.

 The therapeutic offer: We have also just completed a review of the 
therapeutic offer available at AP. To successfully operate AP, we must find a 
positive blend between academic progress and therapeutic intervention and 
support.  The report has just been completed by one of our education 
psychologists and is with the AP Headteachers for consideration.

 Effective systems and processes: To support changes to the way in which 
we commission services, we have been adapting our systems and processes to 
ensure greater alignment between the inclusion service and AP; improved our 
use of digital solutions and to enable a consistent county-wide approach (e.g., 
development of a single, county-wide partnership referral form with clear 
referral criteria)

4.3. Overall, we are pleased with progress that has been made in the last 2 years.  We 
have seen improvements in several key areas and have undertaken extensive 
reviews, to gain a better and shared understanding of the efficacy of key elements 
of provision.  This provides us with a clear pathway forward towards an outstanding 
local AP offer.

5. Transformation and change – next steps
5.1. The new Inclusion Strategy, which was signed off by Cabinet in June, outlined our 

continued focus on improving AP across the county.  To deliver this work an 
Alternative Provision Transformation project was established in June ’22 to focus on 
the next phase of development. We are doing this by asking ourselves two 
questions: 

 How do we ensure that we deliver ‘Outstanding’ provision and that we are 
innovative and relentlessly focussed on early intervention? 

Page 14



 How do we do this whilst making the best use of the funding that is available? 

5.2. In response to these two questions and following discussion over the last few 
months, the Management Committees of the two schools (Gloucester and Forest 
APS and Severn Valley APS) and the Local Authority have agreed that to take the 
final step in ‘restructuring’ by bringing the two schools together to form a single 
school model with a single management committee and leadership structure.  

5.3. This will help us align with the DfE’s SEND Green paper and provides greater 
opportunity to: 

 improve the consistency and quality of provision across the county 

 consider how the existing sites can be best used to support the increasingly 
complex needs of children and young people accessing AP 

 develop effective systems and processes for the assessment of children and 
young people’s needs and successful transition into, and out of alternative 
provision 

 create efficiencies and reduce workload on staff, through a reduction in the 
duplication of core activities 

 improve multi-agency collaboration and communication to ensure 
support/services are targeted and available at the point of need

 support AP staff, through an increased investment in professional development 
and specialist roles 

 to strengthen and scale up the focus on early intervention through structured 
partnership and outreach working.

5.4. The current plans are for the new single school model to be in place for the start of 
the 2023/24 Academic year.  

5.5. In addition to the development of a single LA maintained AP service, we are also 
exploring our role in managing the wider AP marketplace.  As outlined above we 
maintain an approved catalogue of third sector and independent providers.  

5.6. However, the catalogue is only maintained and approved on a compliance model.  
We visit the provision, review their offer and safeguarding procedures, and approve 
them as a provider.  We make no judgment on the quality of provision.  This is left 
to the individual schools who commission support from the providers.  This is not 
sustainable or effective given the infrequency in which schools might access these 
services. 

5.7. We are currently looking to put in place the required resource for the LA to have 
greater oversight, not just of the compliance, but the quality of provision. This will 
place us in a better position to provide advice and guidance to the school system on 
what services are effective and in which context they are successful.  It will also 
enable us to further develop the marketplace, encouraging and supporting new and 
specialist providers to enter the local system.

5.8. This is an important step, not just for the development of our local AP system, but 
also to strengthen local regulation of provision.  It is clearly an area of focus for the 

Page 15



DfE and Ofsted and as such we expect stronger legislation in this area. Our 
approach will ensure we well prepared for any legislative changes.

6. Conclusion
6.1. Overall, we are really pleased with developments to the AP sector over the last 3 years. 

There have been many successes, not least the fact that all LA Maintained AP is now 
judged to be ‘Good’.

6.2. Over the next 2 years we have a clear plan to make the further refinements that are needed 
so that we can offer truly outstanding and innovative provision.  

6.3. We are also well prepared to respond to a strengthened focus from the DfE and Ofsted on 
the quality and use of alternative provision.

Page 16



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

Report Title Gloucestershire Family Hubs

Purpose of 
Report

To update on the Family Hubs model for Gloucestershire

Is this for 
information or 
decision?

Information only.

Author Wendy Gray – HOS Commissioning

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council – Children’s and Families 
Commissioning

Key Issues:  
1.1.Cabinet approval was given in July 2021 to vary the current contracts 

to extend the end date of the targeted services (in the 16 CCs) until 
31st March 2023. This was to allow GCC to reshape and engage with 
the purpose of considering an offer around developing an integrated 
service to children and families in Gloucestershire.

1.2.Recently the Family Hub model has emerged nationally as an effective 
integrated model which is being encouraged by various policy 
initiatives as facilitators to support a range of policy areas. In particular, 
the agenda is driven by a Children’s Commissioner Paper; Best Start 
for Life: A vision for the 1001 critical days (March 2021).

1.3.This prompted the Integrated Children and Families Commissioning 
Hub, to explore the future of Children and Family Centre’s as part of a 
potential key ingredient to support the creation of Family Hubs, 
whereby they are reimagined as community bases for families with 
children aged 0-19 (up to age 25 with SEND). 

1.4. In August 2022 there was a further vary to existing contracts with 
current providers for a further 3 months, from 31st March 2023 to 30th 
June 2023, for the provision of targeted family support services within 
Children and Family Centres in Gloucestershire was sought. This will 
allow further community and voluntary sector engagement, to reduce 
any barriers in creating consortium bids and allow reflection upon the 
implications of the independent review of children’s social care; Final 
report (May 2022).

Recommendations to the Committee: 

For information only

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



Financial/Resource Implications: 
Financial implications have been considered and agreed. Schools’ forum and 
Early Years Forum have formally been consulted and agreed to commit DSG 
funding for the duration of the contract. The remainder of the funding will come 
from Public Health Grant monies or from GCC budgets.

Background Documents

Cabinet paper February 2022
Decision - The recommissioning of Children and Family Centres as the starting point 
for the development of Family Hubs across Gloucestershire for children aged 0-19 
years (up to 25 years where children have special educational needs or disabilities).

Cabinet paper July 2021
Decision - Variation of existing contracts for an extension to the existing services to 
Children and Family Centres

Cabinet paper June 2016
Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children

The best start for life: a vision for the 1,001 critical days
The_best_start_for_life_a_vision_for_the_1001_critical_days.pdf 
(publishing.service.gov.uk)

Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-18 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-
planspolicies/children-and-families/ 

Right Placement First Time – Sufficiency Strategy 
Sufficiency Strategy 2018 - 2021 - Gloucestershire County Council

Children and Family Centres information and local offer 
Local Offer - Search Results | Glosfamilies Directory

Summary, executive summary, booklets and data dashboards for Children and 
Family Centres can be viewed upon request to the report author.

Pre engagement undertaken with children and families (Nicholas Day Associates), 
with partners and key stakeholders and with youth support (DNA Youth Consultancy) 
have all been listed below and can all be viewed upon request to the report author:

‘GCC – Report of Engagement on the Future of Children & Family Centres

‘Locality finding, provision and gaps’

‘DNA Gloucestershire Summer 2021’

‘Children & Families pre-engagement survey November 2021’

Page 18

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1815
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1815
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1815
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1694
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1694
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=830
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/973112/The_best_start_for_life_a_vision_for_the_1_001_critical_days.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/973112/The_best_start_for_life_a_vision_for_the_1_001_critical_days.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-planspolicies/children-and-families/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-planspolicies/children-and-families/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/results.page?familychannel=2&qt=Family+Centres&term=&sorttype=relevance


Scrutiny Report

Family Hubs - Gloucestershire 

What is a Family Hub?
In March 2021, the publication of the Best Start for Life: A Vision for the 1001 Critical 
Days (led by Andrea Leadsom) pledged a commitment to champion Family Hubs as 
a place where parents can access Start for Life Services.  The manifesto included the 
introduction of a national centre for family hubs led by Anna Freud Centre. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-
1001-critical-days

Family Hubs are centres which, are part of integrated family services ensuring families 
with children and young people aged 0-19/25 receive early help to overcome a range 
of difficulties and build stronger relationships. Family Hubs enhance integrated 
working by enabling easier access to support, better outcomes for families, more 
effective service delivery and smarter use of budgets. This is based on research 
showing that effective early intervention can improve:

 Children’s wellbeing
 Educational attainment
 Life chances
 Reduce family poverty
 Improve mental health
 Lead to lower crime 
 Lower unemployment
 Amongst other negative outcomes which carry significant cost to the public 

purse.

Family Hubs Gloucestershire – our vision and key principles

In March 2022, the Children’s Coalition for Gloucestershire agreed the following 
Vision Statement:

‘We will develop an innovative ‘Gloucestershire Family Hub’ model which puts the 
well-being of all families, children, and young people at the heart of its work and 
leads to systemic and transformative change for individuals and the community.’

The Family Hubs model in Gloucestershire has been built on the principles and 
vision co-produced by stakeholders (parents, communities, health, and care 
colleagues including Public Health). They will operate through a hub & spoke model 
with the current Children and Family Centres and de-designated Children’s Centres 
to form the initial physical hubs and spokes for delivery and facilitation of support. 

Page 19

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days


The model will become bespoke to each locality as a wider range of support is 
identified and developed through integrated leadership and community co-production 
to enable the family hub to extend information and support to meet the needs of local 
families with all ages of children.

The core offer will include developing a consistent culture of family support, which 
will be achieved through a multi-agency workforce development strategy. This will 
enable the family hub workforce to build relationships with whole families and 
connect families into the wider support they need.

The concept of the core, locality and connecting roles of the family hubs is shown 
below:

The Core Offer includes:

 New parent services - ante natal, birth registration, family nurse partnership, 
midwifery, health visiting, breastfeeding support 

 Provision for children's early years 0-5 - Stay and Play sessions
 Childcare and early education – access to not always on site, mainly delivered 

by CVS
 Parenting support, parenting courses, play, attachment, ages and stages, 

evidence-based courses, trauma recovery courses
 Couple and relationship support – parental conflict work
 Supporting Families programme to be integrated into Family Hub offering 
 Specialist health support for children and their parents - could include 

substance misuse advice, mental health services, obesity strategy, etc. 

Page 20



 Learning and mentoring support – volunteer opportunities
 Employment training advice – return to work, getting ready for work
 Domestic Abuse
 Youth Services 
 Community Café’s
 Services for Dads
 SEN and Inclusion i.e.., ensuring services support all our diverse communities 

tackling health and race inequalities
 Healthy Lifestyles

By March 2024 our suggested model will comprise of:

 16 Family Hubs, with a growing range of spokes including the 27 de-
designated centres, with the potential to increase these spokes using other 
community assets, which are recognised as a single point of access, 
welcoming and for all families in the local community. 

 A digital information and signposting offer will further support accessibility.
 Integrated leadership team driving forward integrated, co-located services and 

shared outcomes, at a minimum comprising the pre-birth-2 and Best Start for 
Life offers (in line with public health and primary health commissioning 
teams). 

 Shared data system to facilitate an effective early help system 
(communication and evaluation). 

 Embedded co-production structures and opportunities which build genuine 
capacity to ensure support is driven by and responsive to diverse local needs 

 Co-location with community and voluntary sector support in line with local 
capacity and need 

 A workforce with expectations to build relationships and support whole 
families, using strength-based approaches – where families are engaged from 
birth and get help at the earliest point.

Offer

Universal Offer
Our Universal Offer will be joined up and be flexible to local need, to enable families 
to access support when they first need it. Our ambition is for Family Hubs to become 
the delivery model for Continuity of Carer, Babies in Lockdown, and Start for Life. In 
this way, Family Hubs will become a normal part of the family landscape and integral 
to the local communities they serve. They will engage families at the very start of 
their parenting journey (pre-birth), building relationships that will facilitate access to 
the right information and type/level of support – particularly in the critical early years. 

Page 21



We will integrate the six elements of a Universal Offer by providing: 

Seamless support for families 
Local maternity services will support delivery of the new Continuity of Carer 
(CoC) and our Baby Hubs model (Babies in Lockdown), so that midwives 
become central to Family Hubs. They will be a key part of the co-located 
integrated teams, which will drive the integration of health and public health 
priorities, early help and community assets, focused on meeting joint priorities 
and shared outcomes. 

Midwives will have smaller caseloads enabling them to build up trusting 
relationships. This means that they will be able to provide personalised care 
from conception. This will help with early identification of mental health, 
parenting or safeguarding issues or families likely to require elements of a 
universal plus offer, so that these can be flagged appropriately and in a timely 
way. 

The integrated information and data system will also facilitate the seamless 
service we aspire to. The health visiting caseloads are aligned to the current 
boundaries of the Children and Families Centres. These boundaries will be 
reviewed as part of the development of Family Hub and spoke model to 
ensure that the boundaries are also coterminous with that of the CoC teams. 
Aligning boundaries also means that professionals working together in these 
smaller geographical areas will get to know each other, enabling effective 
communication and greater integration of the workforce.

We aim to integrate Birth Registration services into our family hub model 
This will help to breakdown the stigma of current children and family centres 
being for families with problems, alongside rebranding of children and family 
centres as family hubs (anticipated April 2023 subject to Cabinet approval). 

Furthermore, our family hub with spokes will be in trusted community spaces 
which will feel accessible and welcoming for all families. Volunteers and staff 
will be trained in trauma informed practice to create a safe experience. Pre-
engagement work has identified food/Cafés are key in creating a welcoming 
space and encouraging people to chat informally to share parenting 
experiences and form peer networks. Our aim is to co-produce an evolving 
family hubs model with parents and community organisations to continually 
understand what makes family hubs accessible and welcoming.  

The Information families need when they need it 
Family hubs and community spokes will be physical information hubs. Our 
digital offer will build from this, ensuring that families have 24/7 access to 
quality information to support informed decisions. 

We will promote existing apps to maximise social media platforms and 
develop new ways to provide information that is accessible to all. 

Our information strategy will be a key focus of our co-production work, taking 
account of digital poverty.

Page 22



Workforce development 
We will develop the workforce through multi-agency training opportunities to 
strengthen links across the different professional groups. A training needs 
analysis will be undertaken which will inform the workforce development 
programme for staff and volunteers. We anticipate training needs will include 
early child development trauma informed practice and building resilience, 
supporting children with SEN and disabilities, EYFS curriculum delivery to 
support the universal offer

Integrated Leadership 
The exploration around Family Hubs is an exciting opportunity to do more 
than re-commission Children’s Centres in isolation. There is a recognition that 
to take forward the creation of Family Hubs across Gloucestershire it will 
require a wider transformation over a period (likely to be a min 3-years) and 
that an incremental approach is the most appropriate.

To support this approach an integrated leadership is vital to support:
 Joint planning about how we work – we all work with the same families
 Collective responsibility
 Using the expertise to its best across the locality
 Ability to respond to an co-operate in a way that uses our resources to their 

best
 Shared understanding of roles and remits
 Developing shared insights into client groups and local issues
 Opportunity for peer support/learning and supervision

Role of our providers
 Building community capacity – work with families to identify 

strengths/gaps/barriers and ways to address need within the community 
(learning from local experiences, insights from data and national good 
practice/evidence-based approaches). 

 Connecting the system for families – key role in connecting and influencing 
both Statutory and Voluntary services to work more coherently together 
through the family ‘hub and spoke’ physical sites, as well as ensuring that 
services are connected and supported by a digital offer. 

 Ensuring families have access to a range of universal family support services 
– providing a welcoming environment in each family hub and offer information 
and access to universal family support largely provided by existing statutory 
and community support services.  

 Directly providing targeted family support services – offer a more intensive 
level of support for children, young people & families (Tier 1 and Tier 2) with 
multiple adversity, either over a short or longer period of time. Family needs 
will be assessed using Gloucestershire’s Graduated pathway. These services 
aim to reduce the need for statutory intervention, improve better outcomes 
and reduce trauma for children and young people, but also to identify those 
families where change and improvement are more difficult to achieve and 
sustain.

 Contributing to shared health and education outcomes across prevention and 
early intervention for families and strengthen the Early Help system.

Page 23



Next Steps

Children 
Centres  

Recommission the CC offer, moving back to a 
more universal/ prevention service, creating a 
core Family Hub within each district with wider 
bespoke services/ building

Complete by 
June 2023

Public Health 
Nursing Health 
Nursing g

Recommissioning of health visiting services will 
be aligned   to the new Family hub model 
creating a more integrated place-based offer

2023/4

Youth Services Recommissioning of youth provision will mirror 
the place-based approach to CC to create a 
joined-up offer for families

2023

Health  Wider health service will be brought into the 
Family Hub offer: 
•  Midwifery  
•  Autism pathway 
•  Obesity pathway 
•  Early Bird parenting etc. 
•  Emotional wellbeing - perinatal mental health

2022/23/24

Short Breaks 
offer  

Inclusion of children and families with additional 
needs.  
Short breaks offer/ information will be part of the 
wider Family Hub offer

2023

Early Help Map out links/ pathways and services like 
parenting programmes etc. to be part of the 
wider Family Hub offer

2023

Early Years Mapping exercise to consider the wider Early 
Years offer and school readiness

2023/24

Other Areas to 
consider:  

Adult Education 
Housing 
DWP - Benefit advice 
Birth registrations
Trauma informed / ACEs

2023/24

Timescale
 Tender opens -Autumn 2022
 Tender closes – Winter 2023
 Award confirmed – Winter 2023
 Transition work begins – March – June 2023

This approach provides an opportunity to recommission Children and Family Centres 
within a longer-term vision for Family Hubs. It allows GCC the flexibility and time to 
work with partners to develop the “whole Family Hub” model, which is not possible 
within the timescales for commissioning Children and Family Centres.  

Page 24



An incremental approach will enable alignment with GCC transformation 
programmes and multi-agency working. This approach will also allow the 
development of an integrated leadership approach and will seek to lever in funding 
from wider agencies as part of the vision for Family Hubs as an integrated multi-
agency model. 

This incremental approach to commissioning will be tested throughout the 
procurement process. A contract with a longer lifetime is in-line with national practice 
which suggests longer term commitment to funding is needed to evidence outcomes, 
impact, and efficiencies within Early Help.

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire County Council

Family Hubs  
Community Engagement - hard to reach groups

P
age 27



2  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  h a r d  t o  r e a c h  g r o u p s

P
age 28



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  3

P
age 29



4  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  h a r d  t o  r e a c h  g r o u p s

P
age 30



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  5

 

P
age 31



6  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  h a r d  t o  r e a c h  g r o u p s

P
age 32



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  7

 

P
age 33



8  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  h a r d  t o  r e a c h  g r o u p s

P
age 34



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  9

 

P
age 35



1 0  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  h a r d  t o  r e a c h  g r o u p s

P
age 36



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  1 1

 

P
age 37



1 2  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  h a r d  t o  r e a c h  g r o u p s

P
age 38



 

G
lo

uc
es

ter

shire Children and Fam
ilies

• Commissioning Hub
 •

Prepared by Gloucestershire County Council Children and Families Commissioning Team 
Shire Hall, Westgate Street, Gloucester GL1 2TG

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire County Council

Family Hubs  
Community Engagement workshops - Playgroups

P
age 41



2  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  p l a y g r o u p s

Playgroups

P
age 42



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  3

P
age 43



G
lo

uc
es

ter

shire Children and Fam
ilies

• Commissioning Hub
 •

Prepared by Gloucestershire County Council Children and Families Commissioning Team 
Shire Hall, Westgate Street, Gloucester GL1 2TG

P
age 44



Gloucestershire County Council

Family Hubs  
Community Engagement - Family Centres

P
age 45



2  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  f a m i l y  c e n t r e s

Family Centres

P
age 46



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  3

P
age 47



4  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  f a m i l y  c e n t r e s

Family Centres

P
age 48



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  5

P
age 49



Family Centres

6  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  f a m i l y  c e n t r e s

P
age 50



G
lo

uc
es

ter

shire Children and Fam
ilies

• Commissioning Hub
 •

Prepared by Gloucestershire County Council Children and Families Commissioning Team 
Shire Hall, Westgate Street, Gloucester GL1 2TG

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire County Council

Family Hubs  
Community Engagement - online with families

P
age 53



2  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  o n l i n e  w i t h  f a m i l i e s

P
age 54



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  3

P
age 55



4  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  o n l i n e  w i t h  f a m i l i e s

P
age 56



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  5

 

P
age 57



6  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  o n l i n e  w i t h  f a m i l i e s

P
age 58



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  7

 

P
age 59



8  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  o n l i n e  w i t h  f a m i l i e s

P
age 60



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  9

 

P
age 61



1 0  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  o n l i n e  w i t h  f a m i l i e s

P
age 62



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  1 1

 

P
age 63



1 2  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  o n l i n e  w i t h  f a m i l i e s

P
age 64



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  1 3

 

P
age 65



1 4  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  o n l i n e  w i t h  f a m i l i e s

P
age 66



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  1 5

 

P
age 67



G
lo

uc
es

ter

shire Children and Fam
ilies

• Commissioning Hub
 •

Prepared by Gloucestershire County Council Children and Families Commissioning Team 
Shire Hall, Westgate Street, Gloucester GL1 2TG

P
age 68



Gloucestershire County Council

Family Hubs  
Community Engagement - November meetings

P
age 69



2  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  n o v e m b e r  m e e t i n g s

P
age 70



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  3

P
age 71



4  |  f a m i l y  h u b s  -  c o m m u n i t y  e n g a g e m e n t  n o v e m b e r  m e e t i n g s

November meetings

P
age 72



g l o u c e s t e r s h i r e  c o u n t y  c o u n c i l  |  c h i l d r e n ’s  s e v i c e s  |  5

P
age 73



G
lo

uc
es

ter

shire Children and Fam
ilies

• Commissioning Hub
 •

Prepared by Gloucestershire County Council Children and Families Commissioning Team 
Shire Hall, Westgate Street, Gloucester GL1 2TG

P
age 74



Gloucestershire Continuous Improvement Board for Children and Families
Report – September 2022

REPORT TITLE Gloucestershire Continuous Improvement Board for Children 
and Families

DATE OF MEETING 15 September 2022

REPORT AUTHOR: Chris Spencer, Director Children’s Services

REASON FOR BRINGING 
TO CFOSC

To update Children & Family Overview Scrutiny Committee on 
developments and focus of the Gloucestershire Continuous 
Improvement Board for Children and Families (CIB)

1. At the last Improvement Board (29 March 2022), board members agreed that following 
the lifting of the Ofsted improvement notice on 1st April 2022:

 The focus of the Board should shift from Ofsted to continuous improvement of 
good outcomes for children. 

 The Board should focus on continuous improvement of the wider Children’s 
Services agenda

 The Board should be ambitious, support innovation and work at pace

2. To this effect, Board Members were asked their views on the following:
 Frequency / timing of the Board  
 Membership of the Board 
 The need for an independent Chair
 Board branding 

3. Based on the feedback received, the format of the new Improvement Board is as 
follows:

 Meetings are every two months, this will be reviewed after 6 months. 
 Board members are: The Leader, Chief Executive, Portfolio holder, Group 

Leaders, GCC senior officers,  Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children and 
Young People, DfE Adviser, DfE Case Lead, Head of Public Protection Bureau 
Gloucestershire Constabulary, Executive Lead for safeguarding 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board, Representatives of Heads of Primary 
Schools, Secondary Schools and Special Schools, Chair of VCS, Chair of Child 
Friendly Gloucestershire, District Council Lead for Children

 The Board is chaired by Steve Mawson, GCC Deputy Chief Executive
 The Board has been rebranded Gloucestershire Continuous Improvement 

Board for Children and Families

4. The new Continuous Improvement Board (CIB) held its first meeting on 28 July 2022. 
At this meeting the following was on the agenda:

 Terms of reference: the draft terms of reference were well received by the 
Board; board members welcomed that these are focused and aspirational. 
Board members agreed that partners involvement and commitment is essential 
for the next phase of our improvement journey. The terms of reference can be 
found in Appendix 1.

 Improvement Plan progress update: This report is on the agenda of today’s 
meeting. The format of the report was welcomed by board members. A number 
of deep dive / areas for focus haven agreed by the Board, namely: Workforce 

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



strategy, Police inspection report and improvement plan, ICT, Family hub, 
SEND and Child exploitation.

 Performance and QA report: these are also on the agenda of today’ s meeting

5. The next meeting of the Continuous Improvement Board is planned for 8 September 
and will focus on Workforce and ICT journey.

Page 76



Appendix 1 – CIB Terms of Reference

Gloucestershire Continuous Improvement Board for Children and Families
Terms of Reference

 
Context

At the last Improvement Board (29 March 2022), Board members agreed that following the lifting of 
the Ofsted improvement notice on 1st April 2022:

 The focus of the Board should shift from Ofsted to good outcomes for children. 
 The Board should focus on continuous improvement
 The Board should be ambitious, support innovation and work at a pace
 The Board should recognise that all partners in Gloucestershire need to own this agenda

Role and purpose

The role and the purpose of the Continuous Improvement Board is to support and challenge the 
improvement of services delivered to vulnerable children, young people and their families by the 
County Council and their partners ensuring in particular, that all the areas identified in the Ofsted 
inspection report published on 1st April 2022 are effectively addressed (inspection of services for 
children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers). 

The test of success in improving services is improvement in outcomes secured for and achieved by 
children and young people. The Board will seek to ensure that the voices and experiences of 
Gloucestershire’s children and families are central to all its work.

The Board will review and monitor the Improvement Plan submitted to Ofsted in July 2022. This plan 
sets out the actions which the Council is committed to take, the timescale for completion and lead 
officer responsibilities, and the qualitative and quantitative measures which will be used to evaluate 
success and impact. The Plan will be subject to ongoing review, to take account of the outcomes of 
any peer review work, recommendations from Ofsted focused / JTAI visits, and any other emerging 
issues.

Progress against the Plan will be regularly and rigorously reviewed by the Board.

The scrutiny and challenge of improvements will be primarily the responsibility of the Children and 
Families Overview Scrutiny Committee and the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Board for 
the multi-agency working aspects.  

Membership 

The Board will be chaired by Steve Mawson, GCC Deputy Chief Executive and Executive Director 
of Corporate Resources.

Board members will be:
The Leader of Gloucestershire County Council
Cabinet Member, Children’s Services, GCC
Leader or Representative of Labour Group, GCC
Leader or Representative of Liberal Democrat Group, GCC
Leader or Representative of Green Group, GCC 

Page 77



Chief Executive , GCC
Director of Children’s Services, GCC
Director for Safeguarding and Care, GCC
Director for Education, GCC
Director of Partnership & Strategy, GCC
Director – People and Digital Services, GCC
Principal Social Worker, GCC
Two Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children and Young People
DfE Adviser appointed by the Department for Education
DfE Case Lead
Head of Public Protection Bureau, Gloucestershire Constabulary
Executive lead for safeguarding, Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board 
Chief Officer  Gloucestershire VCS Alliance
District Council lead for Children
Chair of Child Friendly Gloucestershire
Head Teacher rep for Primary Schools 
Head Teacher rep for Secondary Schools 
Head Teacher rep for Special Schools

Substitutes: Each member of the Board should nominate a named substitute who may attend in 
their absence.

The Board will also be attended by:
Head of Quality & Safeguarding, GCC
Performance & Improvement Manager, GCC
Programme Manager, GCC

Ways of working:

The Improvement Board will use the ways of working outlined below in guiding its work.
 Clarity of view – ensuring that progress or lack of progress can be clearly understood, and 

that the welfare of children remains as the central focus of the Board’s work – there will be 
consistent reporting of performance data and quality assurance findings

 Challenge – effective challenge leading to effective action and impact 
 Rigour – to show persistence in not letting go of an issue until it is resolved 
 Collaboration – demonstrating shared responsibility for improvement 

Other Matters

The Board will initially, from July 2022, meet every two months; this will be reviewed after 6 months. 

The Programme Manager will have responsibility for agreeing the agenda with the Chair of the Board 
and arranging for appropriate reports to be provided to the Board for approval or further action.

Changes to membership can be agreed by the Board. The Board may invite anyone who it believes 
will be useful in achieving its aims and purpose to attend meetings or join the Board as a full member.

Page 78



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

Report Title Fostering Service Annual Report 2021/22 

Purpose of 
Report

To update Children and Families Scrutiny Committee on 
the Fostering Service Annual Report 2021/22

Is this for 
information or 
decision?

Information.

Author Ann James, Director of Children’s Safeguarding and Care

Organisation GCC Children’s Services

Key Issues:  

1. The Annual Fostering Service Report forms a key part of our response to 
Regulation 35 (review of quality of care) of the Fostering Regulations 
2011, which requires the relevant service manager to review the quality of 
care the service provides, on at least an annual basis.  A copy of the 
2021/22 report is attached at Appendix 1 and should be read in the context 
of the Fostering Service: Statement of Purpose, which is an appendix of 
the annual report.

2. The operational environment over the period covered by the report was 
extremely challenging due to a combination of factors, including the 
profound and enduring impact of Covid on both the service and current 
prospects foster carers and a sustained growth in the numbers of children 
in care in the county.  Overall, the service has responded proactively and 
effectively to those challenges, with a sustained focus on ensuring that 
foster carers are supported and enabled to provide good quality care for 
our children and young people.

3. Key issues to highlight from the 2021/22 annual report include:

 The recruitment and retention of Foster Carers has been challenging over 
the reporting period with a reduction of 19 in the number of available 
fostering households, from 204 to 185 by March 2022. While this is due in 
part to the impact of Covid on prospective and current carers, it also 
reflects the work undertaken by the service to review inactive capacity and 
ensure that the number of approved households accurately reflects 
available places.  A 3-month management review of inactive households 
has been introduced to ensure this is sustained.

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



 The proportion of children placed with in-house foster carers has been 
more or less sustained at 69% but remains some distance short of our 
target of 80%, with 20% placed with independent foster care agencies.  
Increasing the pool of available in-house foster carers is a key focus for 
the service going forward. Good utilisation of in-house foster care capacity 
has been sustained at 85%, which is in line with target.

 The service has enhanced its utilisation of Liquid Logic in generating its 
performance data to ensure it is robust and accurate, enabling leadership 
to have a comprehensive appreciation and firm grip on key aspects of 
performance. Performance in key areas such as unannounced visits, 
health and safety checks, DBS checks, medicals and supervision is 
generally good, with regular monitoring enabling leadership to understand 
and address underperformance.

 Engagement with foster carers and children has been sustained and 
gradually evolved from on-line to face to face, as the impact and 
restrictions of Covid have relaxed. Children’s views are obtained via 
questionnaire and feed into the foster carer annual reviews, although more 
work is needed in this area. Extensive use of e-learning has ensured that 
the training and development of foster carers has continued.

 Fostering Assessments are timely (completed within the 8-month window) 
and generally of good quality. Practice is subject to quality assurance 
through regular case file audits which also capture the views of the carers 
and children.  These evidence a mixed picture of variability in the quality 
of practice.

 A Fostering Transformation Action Plan was introduced in 2020 and will 
feed into the Continuous Improvement Plan developed by the Director of 
Safeguarding and Care in response to the findings of the Ofsted 
Inspection (February 2022) – see comments below.

 GCC has an effective and proactive Fostering Panel with a new Chair 
appointed in 2021, who had previously been Vice Chair thereby ensuring 
continuity. An ambassador also sits on the Panel.

4. In February 2022, Gloucestershire’s Children’s Services were subject to 
full inspection by Ofsted with an overall judgement that services “Require 
improvement to be good”. In respect to the fostering service the 
inspectors highlighted that “most children are living in homes with 
carers who understand their needs. Children are appropriately 
matched to carers, including family member, with viability 
assessments of family and friends completed promptly.  However, 
there is not a sufficiently wide range and choice of placements 
available to meet the needs of all children in care.”  Inspectors also 
noted that “the recruitment of foster carers since the last inspection 
has continued to improve”.

5. In response to the inspection outcome, a revised Continuous 
Improvement Plan (CIP) has been established for the children’s social 

Page 80



care.  The CIP will encompass the response to Ofsted’s specific 
observations about the fostering service and deliver on the Strategic 
Transformation Plan for the Fostering Service, including the following:

 Quality Assurance 
 Service Development
 Placement capacity and quality
 Support to Children
 Support to Foster Carers
 Recruitment and Retention of carers
 Care Planning

Recommendations to the Committee: 

Children and Families Scrutiny Committee is recommended to note:

 the Fostering Service Annual Report 2021/22; and,
 agree to receive periodic updates on progress with Fostering 

Service improvement as part of the regular reporting by the Director 
of Children’s Safeguarding and Care on progress with the 
Continuous Improvement Plan.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

There are no direct financial and resource implications from this report.

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



1
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

 

Gloucestershire County Council
Children’s Services

Fostering Service

Annual Report
April 2021 - March 2022

Page 83

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=XqBCID5U&id=91FDE97B6977C33A574AB39AC0351F1E99B73D8A&thid=OIP.XqBCID5UWi_JNZG6jfApJgEsDL&q=children+and+families&simid=608037555530892909&selectedIndex=66


2
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Contents

Foreword 3

Executive Summary 4

Service structure 6

Summary of developments and challenges 8

Children in Care and fostering 17

Recruitment and assessment of foster carers 20

Summary from the Fostering Reviewing Officer 27

Training and development of foster carers 31

Post approval support and supervision 38

Fostering Transformation Plan 44

Key issues in the year ahead. 46

Appendix 1: Report from the independent chair of the fostering panel 
Appendix 2: Statement of Purpose
Appendix 3: Feedback from birth children 
Appendix 4: Feedback from training 

Page 84



3
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Foreword

Children do best when they grow up with loving parents however, when that is not possible, 
children need connected people, often family members who know and love them. If that too 
cannot be achieved, then well-matched, high-quality, local foster carers who can provide the love 
and care that a child needs is the ideal that Gloucestershire’s fostering service strives to achieve. 
By keeping our children close, we can maintain close ties with friends and family, support the 
child’s developing identity and start early on the journey to recover from the trauma they have 
experienced.   

Gloucestershire County Council is committed to providing the best possible service to children 
who need our care, providing safe, stable, and high-quality foster care where children and young 
people feel loved, valued, supported, and encouraged to grow and develop as individuals. In 
keeping with the Children’s Services vision, the Fostering Service aims to provide the right 
support, at the right time, first time. 

The Fostering Service, hereinafter referred to as “the service”, is a highly regulated service. It aims 
to comply fully with the National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services (2011), the Fostering 
Services Regulations (2011), the National Care Standards Act (2000), The Care Planning, 
Placement and Case Review Regulations (2010), The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review 
and Fostering Services (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations (2013) which amends the 
Fostering Services (England) Regulations (2011) in respect to the assessment and approval of 
foster carers for looked after children, The Children and Families Act (2014) and the Training, 
Support and Development Induction Standards for Foster Care. 

This annual report outlines the service’s key aims and objectives; including details of foster carer 
recruitment, approval, training, and support; the composition of the service and allied services 
that support fostering activity and individual foster carers; as well as details of the staffing and 
management of the service, which underpin the delivery of an effective service. 

Gloucestershire County Council aims to place local children in care with local foster care families. 
The service provides an important contribution to meeting the aims of the Sufficiency Strategy to 
meet the needs and circumstances of children in care and delivering on our corporate parenting 
responsibilities.

Page 85



4
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Executive Summary 

Gloucestershire County Council’s Fostering Service continues to recognise the vital role it has in 
ensuring foster homes are the best they can be to meet the needs and circumstances of local 
children and young people in and leaving care. 

During this year the service has continued to be affected by the Covid pandemic, both in terms of 
the current foster carers and the amazing job they did during the pandemic and as we all 
recovered from the national lockdowns and the impact of this. During the pandemic, our foster 
carers continued to care for our children and were (unless unwell) committed to helping and 
assisting the service to run ‘business as usual’. They all adapted to the world of online training, 
meeting, and more commendable home schooling. 
The recovery from the covid pandemic had a significant impact on the service which was not fully 
appreciated in relation to new enquiries and people wishing to be approved as foster carers, this 
was reported nationally as an issue as people across the country were prioritising seeing family, 
having holidays, and returning to work and generally adjusting to life as normal. The number of 
enquiries during the first quarter which coincided with the end of the final national lockdown was 
significantly quiet which resulted in decrease in approval numbers to 19 further reducing our 
overall net increase to 15 households. 

In February 2022 Gloucestershire’s children service were subject to a full inspection by Ofsted, 
the outcome of the inspection overall was ‘Requires improvement to be good’. The final report 
stated that significant progress has been made in many areas of Gloucestershire’s children’s 
services since the last inspection in 2017, when the local authority was judged to be inadequate 
overall. 
In relation to fostering the inspection found that “Most children are living in homes with carers 
who understand their needs. Children are appropriately matched to carers, including family 
members, with viability assessments of family and friends completed promptly. However, there 
is not a sufficiently wide range and choice of placements available to meet the needs of all 
children in care, and, as a result, a small minority of children in larger family groups continue to 
live in unsuitable arrangements while the right home is found”.
When considering the sufficiency of fostering households for our children the inspectors reported 
that “The recruitment of foster carers since the last inspection has continued to improve. The 
increase in foster carers has been offset by an increase in the numbers of children needing to be 
looked after, meaning that sufficiency of foster placements for children remains a challenge. 
Some children have experienced more moves than they should have as a result of being placed 
in an emergency placement at the point of coming into care due to the lack of a suitable 
placement being available at that point, and then waiting to move when one becomes available. 

The feedback from the inspectors in relation to fostering was reassuringly known by the service 
following a root and branch review of the fostering service in 2021. 
The outcome and recommendations of the fostering review and the Ofsted inspection has led to 
a strategic transformation plan of the fostering service which has identified 7 main areas which 
will be further developed and improved across the service. These include: 

 quality and assurance, 
 service development,
 placements,
 support to children,
 support to foster carers,

Page 86



5
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

 recruitment and retention,
 care planning. 

The service is committed to continuous improvement in terms of the overall quality of care and 
increasing the overall capacity of foster care households available to meet the needs of children 
in care. Having received significant investment over the last three years the impact of Covid has 
delayed the speed in which the service plan has been achieved. The process of ensuring the right 
foster carers are approved and improving the overall offer to foster carers and children has been 
and continues to be essential to compete in the market for fostering households, making 
Gloucestershire foster service the agency of choice. It is anticipated that the next two years will 
see several building blocks being added to the foundations we have built within the service with 
increased numbers of approved fostering households and greater retention of our current carers.   

This annual report complies with the statutory requirements as set out under Regulation 35 
(review of quality of care) of the Fostering Regulations 2011, which requires the relevant manager 
of the service to review the quality of care that it provides.

Regulation 35 also requires the relevant manager to improve the quality of the service provided 
and to provide assurance that the service is effective and achieving good outcomes for children.

This report should be read in conjunction with the Gloucestershire County Council Fostering 
Statement of Purpose, which can be found at appendix 2. 

Page 87



6
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Service structure

The Fostering Service is part of Children’s Safeguarding and Care within Gloucestershire Children’s 
Services under the overall leadership and direction of the Director of Children’s Services. The 
Corporate Parenting Panel is a group of Council officers, foster carers, elected members and allied 
partners from Health, Education, and the Police services as well as children in care and care 
experienced young people representing the Children in Care Council and Ambassadors. They 
meet regularly to oversee the strategic and operational delivery, practice and performance of 
services with children in care and care leavers. 

The roles and responsibilities within the Fostering Service are as follows:

Tammy Wheatley Head of Service Permanence - has overall responsibility for the operational 
management and strategic leadership of the fostering service, providing direct supervision of the 
Service Manager, Fostering Team Managers and Fostering Panel Advisor as well as fulfilling the 
role of Agency Decision Maker (ADM).

Lisa Long, Service Manager Permanence - reports directly to the Head of Service to support the 
operational management of the Fostering Service and directly supervises the Under 11 
Permanence Teams as well as the Training and Marketing Officers. 

The Fostering Panel Advisors - are responsible for the line management of the independent 
Fostering Reviewing Officers and the operational management of the Fostering Panel process. 
 
Kelvin Troake, The Independent Chair of the Foster Panel - is responsible for the leadership of 
the Foster Panel. 

The Fostering Reviewing Officers – A team of two half time officers are responsible for chairing 
the Foster Carer’s annual reviews and making recommendations relating to their approval to the 
Foster Panel and ADM. 

The Fostering Service is a countywide service, with task-focused teams as follows:

The Fostering Recruitment Team (FRT) is responsible for the recruitment of prospective Foster 
Carers. They provide preparation training to applicants and assess their suitability to become 
Foster Carers. Once approved, Foster Carers transfer to one of the fostering support teams as 
part of a streamlined and managed transfer process. 

The staff team consists of one part time Manager (4 days), one Deputy Team Manager, 5.5 full 
time equivalent social workers, 1 full time Fostering support worker and two half-time 
recruitment officers.

The Fostering Placement & Support Team (FPST) are responsible for identifying foster families 
for children who require them. They work collaboratively with Children’s Placement 
Commissioning Service, operational social work teams and other parts of the Fostering Service to 
identify the most suitable homes for children in care by ensuring their needs are well matched 
and best placed to build stability. In addition, they support specialist foster carers (band 3 and 4 
and parent and child) who care for children with more complex needs. 

Page 88



7
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

The staff team consists of a full-time Manager, three full time equivalent Social Workers, one full 
time Placement Social Worker, one full time Placement Coordinator and a full time Support 
Worker. 

The Fostering Support Teams (FST) are responsible for the supervision and support of the general 
(Band 1 and 2) approved Foster Carers. The team is split into three, across the three teams there 
are three full time Team Managers, 1.5 Deputy Team Managers, 16.5 full time equivalent Social 
Workers and three full-time Fostering Support Workers. 

The Friends and Family Assessment and Support Teams (FFAST) are responsible for assessing, 
training, and supporting those becoming foster carers who are already connected to the child in 
some way, such as an existing family member or friend. The team are also responsible for 
assessing the suitability of, and fulfilling the visiting requirements to, children being care for in 
private fostering arrangements1. The FFAST complete all stage two viability assessments and full 
assessments for Special Guardians2 and provide training and support, (including financial) in 
respect of all Special Guardian arrangements. The Team consists of one full time Team Manager, 
two full time Deputy Team Managers, 13.6 full time equivalent Social Workers and three Fostering 
Support Workers. 

The Family Link Team - In addition to the mainstream fostering functions, Children’s Services 
operates a Family Link Scheme which is a family based short-break provision for children with 
disabilities. The Family Link Carers are approved under the framework of Fostering Regulations 
and the same National Minimum Standards apply. In view of its specialist function, the Family 
Link Team has its own Statement of Purpose and works very closely with DCYPS.

The Fostering Progression and Development Team are responsible for several service-wide 
functions including marketing and recruitment activities, facilitating face to face and online 
training for foster carers, allocation of work and supervision of Fostering family support workers 
and development of life story work with Children in Care across Children’s Services.   The team is 
managed by the Service Manager and currently consists of two part time specialist colleagues and 
a full time Support Worker providing marketing and training support. The Marketing and Training 
Officers work in collaboration with the Corporate Communications Team and external training 
providers; one senior family support worker is in post to supervise and coordinate allocation of 
work to fostering family support workers and a Life Story Coordinator is responsible for 
developing, supporting and embedding life story work with Children in Care across Children’s 
Services. 

1 Private fostering is governed by a separate regulatory framework: 6091-DfES-ChildrensActFostering 
(publishing.service.gov.uk). Children who are privately fostered live away from home by arrangement of 
the parent and not the local authority. As such, whilst the local authority has responsibilities to ensure the 
arrangements are assessed and reviewed, children in private fostering arrangements are not children in 
our care. 
2 Special Guardianship is a form of permanency for children conferred by court order for children who no 
longer need our care as they can grow up with their former foster carer or connected person/family 
member without the requirements of being a ‘child in care’. 

Page 89

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/274414/Children_Act_1989_private_fostering.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/274414/Children_Act_1989_private_fostering.pdf


8
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Summary of developments and challenges

As of 31 March 2022, the number of children in care was 841 which is an increase of 52 children 
from the same time in the previous year. At the time of publication, on 5 July 2021, the number 
of children in care had further increased to 864.

The tables below show that the number of available fostering households has reduced by 19 from 
204 to 185 during 2021/22. This was primarily due to the change in practice aimed at ensuring 
the number of fostering households and available places for children to live were viable and 
accessible. Following a targeted service review, data cleansing and improved leadership 
oversight, previously approved fostering households who had not recently cared for a child in 
care or were no longer available to care either resigned/withdrew or were de-registered. Practice 
currently is for foster carers who are inactive for 3 months are now automatically subject to a 
review chaired by the relevant Team Manager. This is to ensure that approved fostering 
households are more robustly managed and supported to actively care for our children. In 
addition to this, the latter part of the year has seen a number of fostering households resign due 
to personal reasons, with a number reflecting on their circumstances and life plans after the 
pandemic and no longer feeling able to meet the requirements of fostering. It is however worthy 
of recognition that despite the decrease in households the occupancy numbers for in house foster 
carers has increased, which evidences that the right foster carers are approved, and the reviews 
are contributing to a more positive outcome.   

204 203 201 201 200 198 196 196 194 191 185 186 185

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0

50

100

150

200

250

Number of Approved General  Fostering Households

322 312 300 298 304 285 283 287 289 274 268 272 288

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0

100

200

300

400 354
325

General: full-time placements (available placements)
General:  full-time placements

Number of Approved General Fostering Places

Page 90



9
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Despite the overall decrease in fostering households, which equates to a decrease of 29 potential 
places for a child to live, the utilised capacity for all approved in-house foster carers improved 
significantly, as the table below shows, with an increase from 76% to 85% which is at the 2021/22 
target.

76
%

78
% 83
%

80
% 88

%

82
%

83
%

85
%

83
%

82
%

84
%

86
%

85
%

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%
84%

88%
95%

91%
98% 98% 99% 99% 97% 99% 100% 100%

96%

General: full-time placement capacity (inc. on hold carers)

Target (available placements)

General: Full time capacity (available placements)

In-house General Fostering Capacity Utilised

For all children in care placed with foster carers, 69% (275) are placed with in house foster carers 
(snapshot as of 31st March 2022). This is a decrease of 2% on the previous year when 71% (272) 
of all children in foster care were placed with in-house foster carers, as opposed to Independent 
Fostering Agency foster carers. The service continues to strive towards meeting the target of 80% 
of all children living in a fostering family securing a home with in-house foster carers. This target 
was set when the service was forecasting 700 children in care, it is highly likely that the service 
would have been in tolerance of this target with 250 approved foster carers if the population had 
not grown. The priority for the forthcoming reporting year is to increase the recruitment of new 
foster carers to meet the fostering performance target of 80%. This means recruiting an additional 
40 fostering households in 2022/23.

The 2021/22 year has been extremely challenging, both locally and nationally. The impact of the 
COVID Pandemic has significantly affected the retention and recruitment of foster carers. During 
the first part of this year, which coincided with the step down from the national pandemic 
lockdown (March 2021) there was a reduction in fostering enquiries locally and nationally lasting 
until late summer. Market intelligence suggests that families were allowing themselves time to 
catch up with family and friends, take holidays and reflect on their life plans. This has resulted in 
22 fewer approvals this year than last. 

The ongoing improved data and performance reporting in the Liquid Logic electronic recording 
system relating to all areas of the fostering service has served as a tool to drive practice 
improvements and compliance with the fostering regulations and National Minimum Standards. 
The next section provides more detail as to how we are achieving this.

Page 91



10
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Nationally, securing foster homes for children in care continues to be a challenge with an overall 
reduction in the number of approved foster carers reported by Local Authorities. During 2021/22 
in Gloucestershire, there was an overall net increase of 15 additional fostering households. The 
changes in the overall number of fostering households are as follows:

 30 foster carers withdrew and ceased to be available - the majority of these were because 
of changes in personal circumstances which meant that they were no longer available to 
care for children. 

 22 foster carers ceased fostering when children returned home to parents or moved to 
permanence through Special Guardianship with those or other carers. 

Whilst the overall net increase is 15, which is lower than the previous year when it was 49, the 
work undertaken to review and ensure that approved foster carers are actively available and able 
to meet the needs of children in care is essential. In future this practice will ensure the fostering 
service remains efficient and effective and continues to report on the genuine capacity within the 
system.  

The fostering panel has continued to be well established. The demand on the fostering panel 
remained high during 2021/22 with an average of 4.5 panels per month across the year, this 
includes the additional panels held when required to meet the demand and reduce delay within 
the service. Panel away days moved on-line as a result of the pandemic and continued to be 
beneficial in developing positive working relationships between panel members.  

The retention of staff across the fostering service remained positive and provided stability and 
consistency for fostering staff, operational teams, fostering households and children in care.

Foster Carer Records and Liquid Logic

The fostering service continued to make progress with the Liquid Logic review and redesign. 
Historically, unlike most other areas of the children’s social care, the fostering service relied on 
word documents and spreadsheets which was not efficient and hampered overall improvement 
and development. Business critical elements of the service did not have a Liquid Logic workflow 
and no electronic performance reporting was possible. In 2020, the fostering service began a 
Liquid Logic implementation programme that continues today. It aimed to ensure good oversight 
and monitoring of compliance with the Fostering National Minimum Standards and Fostering 
Regulations. 

Progress has been made with recently launched new forms for our in-house fostering team, 
updated variation and exemption forms and long-term matching forms for tracking and 
assessment are in progress. There remains outstanding development work which requires 
protected Liquid Logic time to progress. Current work is undertaken when the Application Support 
Team have sufficient capacity, and this is something that is being reviewed with the new Digital 
Business Partner who has recently been appointed. 

Progress has also been made in respect of in-service reporting during 2021/22, with further 
changes planned for the forthcoming year. Recent reports focused on performance data, however 
the focus for 2022/23 will be on qualitative reporting, for example, reporting on long-term 
matching of carers and children, as well as on capturing children’s outcomes. Over time the 

Page 92



11
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

service intends to maximise the use of the electronic data reporting and additional functionality 
within Liquid Logic to improve the performance and quality of care provided. This will include 
specific developments for children missing from care, children prescribed medication and 
children with disabilities.

Stakeholder engagement 

Engagement this year has been predominately via virtual platforms and remote working due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic and, because of this, overall engagement has reduced. More recently, 
events have returned to face-to-face, with some hybrid approaches being where these have 
proven successful. 

Engagement with foster carers: 

Liaison meetings are held quarterly, chaired by the Head of Service, and attended by a 
representative from each of the established support groups. Across the county there are 12 
support groups which run monthly, during the evening and daytime, with one on a Saturday 
morning, to meet the needs of working foster carers. Support groups have continued throughout 
the year, albeit virtually and remotely and have received mixed feedback. There have been some 
ICT issues which has been a source of frustration for some foster carers but increasing the number 
of groups and having less participants overall invited to each support group meeting has improved 
this and helped in part to mitigate the fragility with ICT connectivity. 

Some foster cares have reported the benefits of virtual support groups, especially single foster 
carers and Link Carers who work full time. Most support groups have set up WhatsApp groups 
too during the pandemic and lockdown periods which has provided a source of additional support 
and direct access to one another. One group has used it to share ideas, advice, worries and 
members have reported that this has helped keep morale high. 

The purpose of the liaison meeting is to share feedback from all support group attendees and for 
service provision information and developments to be fed back to foster carers. Attendance has 
been consistently good and has a good representation from all support groups.

Engagement events are open to all foster carers and are usually held twice a year, unfortunately 
these have not taken place this year due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Head of Service did 
maintain contact with foster carers through regular email communications and via the service 
newsletter. The first face-to-face engagement event was planned for June 2022 after which they 
will be three times per year, two daytime and one evening event. 

Foster carers are routinely consulted as part of the annual review process and at other times 
throughout the year as part of the audit process (see below). During 2020/21 foster carers were 
included in recruitment campaigns and were involved in the interview process for new colleagues 
which they said was interesting and enjoyable. Foster carers indicated that they felt part of the 
‘team’ and that their contribution was valued. 

Additionally, foster carers are often consulted via questionnaires that inform practice 
development. A recent example of this was the review of support groups that resulted in the plan 
to adopt a hybrid approach following the pandemic. 

Page 93



12
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

There are also plans in place to have foster carer representation within working groups associated 
with the Fostering Transformation Plan. 

Children: The service continued to work closely with the Participation Team and Ambassadors 
during 2020/21 in relation to many aspects of the fostering service practice and development. 
The Participation Team and Ambassadors have been routinely consulted when reviewing 
fostering processes and documentation. 

Towards the end of 2021/22, the Head of Service accepted an invaluable opportunity to be 
mentored by two ambassadors, meeting every six weeks and working together to improve the 
fostering service by incorporating the voice of young people in the work of the service. 

All children and young people in foster care are asked to complete consultation forms relating to 
their foster homes. This contributes to the foster carer’s annual review. Children in care are also 
seen and spoken to by the fostering supervising social worker during their visits to the fostering 
household. This in turn informs the foster carers’ supervision, training and/or development plan. 

Foster carers receive training on the use of the ‘Mind of My Own’ App ( an online platform for 
children to communicate and send messages to professionals including their social worker, 
reviewing officer or team manager as examples, this can include concerns, worries, compliments 
or general requests for help) and have been asked to encourage the use of this for all children in 
their care, by helping them to download the app and having it available on the fostering family’s 
ICT equipment.

Three members of the fostering service have been recently recognised for their use and 
commitment to encouraging use of Mind of My Own.  

All children in care are provided with the formal complaints process and where needed, are 
allocated an independent advocate support them to be heard. 

Fostering Champions

The Fostering Champion’s Scheme was first discussed in late 2019 and was launched in March 
2020. It is a scheme that has been introduced across the fostering service to encourage current 
foster carers to become involved in the marketing, recruitment, and retention of new foster 
carers. It is recognised that foster carer applicants want to hear about the experience of fostering 
from other foster carers and prospective foster carer applicants really value the opportunity to 
speak to approved foster carers to find out more about their experiences and perspective on a 
wide range of issues. Several foster carers already provide support to fostering recruitment 
events, participate in training and inducting new foster carers and also act as a ‘buddy’ to support 
other carers.  The service acknowledges the importance of this approach and the impact that it 
brings. 

The Fostering Champions scheme provides development opportunities for foster carers and has 
increased the number of foster carers who are actively engaged in supporting the fostering 
service to grow, develop and improve. Led by the fostering service manager and supported by the 
marketing and recruitment officer and the fostering training coordinator, we now have 17 

Page 94



13
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

fostering champions.  The following is a list of some of the activities that the fostering champions 
were involved in during 2021/22:

• Buddying up with fostering applicants during their assessment period to provide advice 
and support.

• Providing peer support to newly approved foster carers who were starting to look after 
their first child in care.

• Providing advice and guidance to carers who had taken on different caring responsibilities 
or who were experiencing challenges in the foster home.

• Supporting face to face recruitment stands at events across the county.
• Being part of interview panels for new members of staff in the fostering service. 
• Contributing to the interviews and selection of companies wishing to tender for the foster 

carer online training contract.
• Being interviewed and filmed for social media releases.
• Offering support to foster carers struggling with ICT issues.
• Being interviewed on local radio stations about the fostering role.
• Members of the Virtual School Management Board.
• Testing out and giving feedback on new online training courses with AC Education and 

the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children’s Partnership.
• Foster carer representative on K4K group.
• Supporting delivery of Skills to Foster training and Information sessions.

In return, the fostering champions can expect from the fostering service:

• On-going support and guidance from staff within the fostering Service and fellow 
champions.

• Bi-monthly meetings to discuss the ongoing priorities and progress of any new initiatives 
and opportunities including upcoming communications and events.

• All travel and time costs are reimbursed at a set standard rate.
• Bespoke training is offered to all champions from external providers, including:

 Talking with confidence – one day course 
 Mentoring and coaching – one day course
 Media skills training – half day course 

The service has received valuable feedback in relation to the champions scheme from social 
workers, foster carers receiving the support from the champions and from the fostering 
champions themselves.  Some examples of the feedback are as follows:  

Feedback from referring social workers commissioning the support: 

“Thank you for agreeing this referral, as it is clearly working. The fact that champion H is an 
experienced carer is also so useful. This is an excellent initiative for the Fostering resource.”

Feedback from foster carers who have received support:  

“Champion T supported A whilst plans were being made to move a young person in A’s care to 
long-term foster carers. A said that Champion T was supportive, she listened, shared her own 
experiences but didn’t try and over advise or judge. A reflected that T’s support was incredibly 

Page 95



14
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

valuable at a time when fostering was difficult and emotional. Please thank T again for her support 
as it was very much appreciated.”

Feedback from champions who have supported others:

“I am so proud of B, she has done everything that I have asked her to do, she got herself a Tablet 
so that she can keep her fostering work and everyday internet use separate, she also made sure 
that it has Windows / Office so that she can use the word documents to electronically make and 
send recordings etc. She achieved 100% in her Online Safeguarding Training, and this makes 
working with her feel very rewarding. I just hold her hand (metaphorically) and explain things and 
she runs with it, brilliant!”

Fostering file audits

Audits of the fostering service records have taken place across ten months in 2021/22 (one month 
was missed due to Service Manager absence and one month was missed due to the OFSTED 
inspection) with a total of 68 records being audited and moderated. Auditing records in 
consultation with foster carers, social workers and team managers ensured that the impact of the 
collective support and intervention with and for children and young people remained positive and 
purposeful and ultimately achieved positive outcomes for children in care. From a compliance 
perspective, audits ensure adherence with Fostering Regulations and National Minimum 
Standards. Fostering practice is evaluated across 12 key areas and a rating is then given in line 
with the Ofsted grade descriptors: outstanding; good; requires improvement to be good; and 
inadequate. The audit recording template also includes scrutiny of fostering interventions and 
the impact of these on children and young people within the context of the child’s experience of 
the fostering household.

The judgements for audits completed between April 2021 and March 2022 are as follows:

Inadequate Requires improvement Good Outstanding

Audit ratings

Across the 2021/22 reporting year the audit judgements were as follows which indicates that, 
although there has been an overall improvement in ratings on the previous year, there still needs 
to be a shift in the quality of practice during 2022/23:

 Inadequate = 12, 18% of total audits, compared with 25.5% last year   

Page 96



15
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

 Requires Improvement = 41, 60% of total audits, compared to 55.3% last year  
 Good = 12, 18% of total audits, compared to 21.8% last year  
 Outstanding = 3, 4% of total audits, compared to 0% last year. 

The audit judgements broken down by month during 2021/22 are as follows:

Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22
0

5

10

Inadequate Requires improvement Good Outstanding

Audits and ratings per month

The above table shows that the number of audits completed each month varied between 9 and 
5 and the audited standard of practice was also variable. 

The 2022/23 reporting year needs to demonstrate more consistent and improved audit 
outcomes, but it is hoped that this will be increasingly more achievable with the ongoing Liquid 
Logic developments which should allow better grip and pace of practice and performance 
improvement.

Foster carer’s views are captured as an integral part of the audit process. Feedback included: 

“H said that her previous SSW was very good, and her new SSW is also good, and she feels 
supported. H said she also feels supported by the wider team including P&C lead and fostering 
team manager. H likes the support group she attends.”

“Good communication is key. We feel we are well supervised by the current and previous Social 
Worker. Online training and support groups at weekends and evenings are helpful as we are 
working.” 

“We have always found our SW to be available and approachable, if they are away then they have 
always given us an alternative contact. The addition of AC Education to enable online learning has 
been extremely useful especially when the Covid restrictions were in place.” 

“Both carers agreed the assessment was “full on” but recognised this is how it has to be for the 
safety of the children, they said everything was always thoroughly explained and there were no 
shocks or surprises. No gaps and carers report D is AMAZING, she is supportive and goes the extra 
mile, gives us guidance and advice – and is very tenacious advocating for us. We find the FFAST 
team have been awesome, the support groups are good, and we find it supportive to speak to 
other carers.” 

“My supervising social worker is very supportive. Regular recorded supervision takes place every 
six weeks; however, I know that support is there for me outside of this if needed. I had always had 
a bit of an issue with the training as an already experienced practitioner I have completed many 

Page 97



16
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

of what’s on offer. Since the online training has been available, I have found training to be much 
easier and a better use of my time. I find fostering rewarding and fulfilling. I am very lucky to have 
a YP placed with me who I have known for many years and have a lovely relationship with.” 

“I have felt supported by the Fostering Support team. They do well in regular visits/phone calls 
and being available in times of difficulty. I have also received good support from the Family 
Support Team with regular visits and being available.” 

Several carers have stated that they were unprepared for the amount of paperwork they would 
be expected to complete and gave examples of claiming expenses and completing foster carers’ 
recordings.  As well as support from their Supervising Social Workers, foster carers can now seek 
additional support from Fostering Champions with regards to all administration and IT queries.  A 
steering group has also been set up to develop relevant training and support for foster carers who 
need extra help with IT equipment and skills; this will be launched in Autumn 2022.  

One carer stated that they found the virtual Skills to Foster course particularly difficult at times 
as she was unable to have additional discussion with applicant colleagues in a group setting in the 
normal way.  As restrictions slowly lifted during 2021, Skills to Foster courses returned to face-to-
face sessions to ensure we could offer the added benefit to applicants in the assessment process 
and enable them to have valuable discussion and learning with their colleagues and with workers 
facilitating the training.    

Individual audit findings, any remedial action and timescales are communicated to the allocated 
supervising social worker and relevant team manager. Team managers follow up on the 
completion of the actions in supervision and report back to the service manager when they are 
completed, and progress had been made. Audit findings are now a standing item on all team 
meeting agendas and learning from audits, including specific themes and issues, are used to 
inform on-going practice and performance improvement. Key messages are routinely shared 
across the fostering service to promote reflective practice discussions and improvements. A 
monthly fostering service audit report is also sent to the Head of Quality and Safeguarding for 
inclusion in the monthly quality assurance framework report that is shared with senior and 
political leaders and multi-agency partners who are members of the Continual Improvement 
Board.

Page 98



17
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Children in Care and Fostering

There has been an increase in the number of children admitted to care in Gloucestershire during 
2021/22. The bar chart below shows the increase in the number of children in care over the past 
five years, from 657 in March 2017 to 841 in March 2022. This represents an increase of 28% over 
a five-year period and a 6.5% increase in the reporting period.

children in care 
0

100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22

The Gloucestershire fostering service and the placement commissioning service work in 
collaboration to identify the right home for children and young people who need to be cared for 
by a foster family. During the last year, with many staff working remotely the services continued 
to convene joint family finding meetings twice a week chaired by the Head of Service for 
Permanence. These helped improve communication and partnership working to maximise all 
internal fostering family options before progressing external options with an independent 
fostering agency (IFA) or private and voluntary sector residential provider. In this way the local 
authority maximises opportunities to care for children locally in the right home first time. 

In future, a combined ‘one front door’ for to get the right home first time will be delivered as part 
of the Fostering Transformation Plan. This is of particular importance in respect of delivering 
timely foster family or children’s home places, exploring more extensive searches, improving the 
matching process and delivering improved value for money options. 

The table below shows the number of fostering requests received by the in-house fostering team 
during 2021/22, and how many foster home options were identified. Overall, a total of 735 
requests were received during 2021/22. This is marginally fewer requests when compared to the 
previous reporting year. The total number of requests is not in addition to the following columns 
but aims to identify the outcome of the total requests. The arrows demonstrated in the total 
column represent if there was a decrease or increase from last year’s requests in each area.  

 Total Identified Not 
Identified Used Not Used

Total Foster Homes 735 482 228 396 86
Fostering Over 11 315 191 115 173 18
Fostering Under 11 420 291 113 223 68
Respite Over 11 43 35 7 32 3
Respite Under 11 66 50 9 44 6

Page 99



18
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Parent & Child 41 12 27 10 2
Brothers and Sisters 306 211 77 159 52
Long Term 140 61 74 51 10
Short Term 445 324 111 259 65
Same Day 238 200 38 168 32
Emergency 225 140 73 108 32
Planned 273 143 117 121 22

The fostering service identified a home for 65.5% of those requesting a foster family of some kind. 
This was a reduction of 6.5% on the previous year. Of all foster homes offered, 82% were 
progressed with a child then moving in, which is a 7% increase on the previous year. This increase 
evidences the benefit of Gloucestershire’s fostering service being considered prior to any agency 
offers being explored. 

Of all the foster family requests received, 62% were for emergency or ‘same day’ homes with a 
fostering family which is a reduction on the previous year of 4%. This remains higher than it should 
be and adversely impacts on the service’s ability to respond quickly to search, identify and provide 
a well-matched carer to meet the child’s identified needs and circumstances. More planning time 
allows for more considered searching which improves matching options and in turn helps to build 
stability and reduce the risk of disruption – hence the ‘right home first time’ commitment as part 
of the Sufficiency Strategy to improve outcomes for children. 

The fostering service cared for 69% of all Gloucestershire’s children in foster care as of 31 March 
2022, which is a slight decrease in performance from the 71% achieved in the previous year. The 
performance target had been set at 80% by the end of the 2021/22 reporting year. It is anticipated 
that if the care population remained at 700 or less then the service would have been within 
tolerance of achieving this target, however this is dependent on the needs and ages of the 
children in care.  This target was based however on the child in care cohort being 700 and of 
course the numbers were greater. As a result, the fostering service must now strive to exceed the 
original target set for the recruitment of foster carers (approving 40 new households in the 
forthcoming year), retain the current foster carer cohort and place even more children in care 
with in-house foster carers.

The fostering utilisation key performance indicator for 2021/22 was 75% with the understanding 
that at any point in time up to 25% of approved foster care households may not be able to provide 
home for a child. Foster care ‘voids,’ as they are often referred to, arise for a variety of reasons, 
both personal and professional, but a performing service should consistently be able to achieve 
at least 75% capacity as a minimum performance expectation, and arguably a good or outstanding 
service could expect to increase this target to 80%+. Examples of some reasons why an approved 
fostering household is not in a position to provide care includes the death of a member of the 
foster family, illness, divorce, separation, an criminal allegation or care standards concern about 
a member of the fostering household which needs to be investigated and considered as part of 
the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) allegations management meeting process, or a 
request for some time out at the end of caring for a child over many years or preparing a baby or 
younger child for adoption.

Page 100



19
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

The table below shows that the service ended the 2021/22 reporting year with a fostering 
capacity of 85% which allows 15% for foster carers who are currently unavailable or vacant beds 
for children coming through as needing a home. You can also see that of those foster carers 
currently available the service is currently utilising 96% of available beds. This is above the target 
and whilst it is an improvement that the utilisation has increased it is too high currently which 
reduces the opportunity to match and identify new homes for children effectively. The service 
recognises that the increase of new foster carers should contribute to increased numbers of 
available homes for children and is an essential focus for the forthcoming year.  

76
%

78
% 83
%

80
% 88

%

82
%

83
%

85
%

83
%

82
%

84
%

86
%

85
%

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%
84%

88%
95%

91%
98% 98% 99% 99% 97% 99% 100% 100%

96%

General: full-time placement capacity (inc. on hold carers)

Target (available placements)

General: Full time capacity (available placements)

In-house General Fostering Capacity Utilised

The Friends and Family Assessment Team has previously seen year on year demand grow for 
connected carer (kinship / family members and friends) places. The 2021/22 year proved like 
other years which is positive that a large number of children are being offered an opportunity to 
remain with family or friends who they know. Research indicates that this has several benefits in 
relation to outcomes for children as arrangements are usually stable and supports children’s 
identity.   The table below illustrates the activity in assessment requests year on year from 
2017/18 to 2021/22:

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
0

50

100

150

200

Regulation 24 requests
Viability requests
SGO assessment requests

Page 101



20
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

In 2021/22, there were 32 kinship foster carer applications presented to the fostering panel. A 
number of these ended in year as the children they had been caring for either returned home or 
became subject to a Special Guardianship Order (SGO). The Team have supported all kinship 
foster carers and continue to do so following an SGO being granted. You can see from the table 
that a larger number of viability assessments are completed that do not go proceed to full 
assessment as Special Guardians. This has been reviewed in the last year and the service is at the 
final stages of implementing the new viability assessment and process designed to ensure all 
aspects of suitability are considered as early as possible, thereby reducing inefficient use of our 
resources and preventing delay for children. 

Recruitment and Assessment of Foster Carers

In the 2021/22 financial year, the fostering service recruited 18 new mainstream fostering 
households, offering 25 new places for children to live. This did not meet the target of 35 new 
households for the year and was lower than performance in most previous years. This is reflective 
of the drop in recruitment nationally and is probably influenced by the pandemic.

The three-year recruitment strategy 2019-2022, set a target of recruiting 100 new inhouse foster 
carers yet, despite a disappointing year, the service has only narrowly missed this over the three 
years having recruited a total of 93 new fostering households. 

During 2021/22, 19 households who attended Skills to Foster training and who were allocated a 
panel date, withdrew from the process during the assessment phase. Analysis of this indicates 
that this was largely attributable to the change in people’s personal and work circumstances in 
the post-Covid period. The national conversion rate from application to approval is 6% according 
to Ofsted statistics from March 2021, the conversation rate within the service this year from 
application to approval was much better at 13%.

Whilst the reporting period saw a significant reduction in the approval of new foster carers, the 
hypothesis that this was related to the step down from the national lockdown and the pandemic 
recovery plan is supported by the fact that the year finished with 15 applications returned in the 
third quarter and 19 in the final quarter. These applicants are likely to be approved in the new 
reporting year and this indicates the start of a recovery following the pandemic.

Page 102



21
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

4.40%

11.50%

8% 7.90%

2021-22 2020-21 2019-20 2018-19
0.00%

2.00%

4.00%

6.00%

8.00%

10.00%

12.00%

14.00%

Conversion rate

Conversion rate - enquiry to approval

Recruitment focus

The focus over the last year has been to:

1. Adjust to the challenges of the post pandemic period, including a slow return to face-to-face 
events.

2. Offer a fast-track assessment process for those who qualify, i.e. those who had the time to 
commit to the fast-track process and possessed relevant child-care experience. 

3. Recruit to respond to demand for foster homes. This led to a focus on more generalised 
messages in the second half of the year, as foster carers are now needed for all age groups.

4. Implement the recommendations from the review undertaken by an external consultant (see 
below section on Fostering Transformation plan), most notably introducing television 
advertising.

5. Continue to run sustained advertising so that we are visible more often, to compete with 
independent fostering agencies.

6. Continue to offer opportunities for people to find out more, whether they are still in the 
consideration phase or feel ready to enquire.

Breakdown of recruitment statistics for 2021/22

409

140

54 49 30 18

Enquiries Attended info 
session

Applications Allocated IV Attended 
Skills to 
Foster

Approvals
0

100
200
300
400
500

Progress through assessment

Page 103



22
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

 Enquiry numbers were on a par with the previous two years of the three-year recruitment 
strategy. Lead generation advertising on Facebook from August to October led to a higher-
than-normal number of enquiries, although these were not always good quality, as is usual 
with digital advertising.
Recommendation: Revisit good quality enquiries that were closed because of eligibility 
(e.g., wanting to foster babies or having a child under two) and writing to these households 
to see if they are still interested.

 34% of enquirers attended an information session, this includes those who came along to an 
open information session. 
Recommendation: Open the information sessions to more people and to revisit some of the 
recruitment criteria, based on need and demand.

 20 applications were received in the first half of the year, when applicants are more likely to 
get through the assessment phase in the same financial year. 34 applications were received 
in the second half of the year, when applicants are more likely to go to panel in the 
following reporting year.

 Five Skills to Foster courses were held during the year in late March, June, September, 
November, and January/February. Applicants who attended Skills in November and January 
are likely to be approved in the next reporting year unless they are fast track applicants.

Demographics of approved foster carers 

1
4

7

6
20s
30s
40s
50s

Age

 

4

7
3

1
3

Forest

Gloucester

Stroud

Cotswolds

Cheltenham

Location

The pie charts above show there has been an increase in approvals for those in the 20s and 30s 
age groups from 20% in 2020-21 to 28% in 2021-22. In contrast there has been a 100% reduction 
in approvals in those over the age of 60.

There continues to be a struggle to recruit in the Tewkesbury locality, despite targeted activity in 
that area. The support team that is now responsible for the Tewkesbury area is planning to work 
with foster carers in the area and the marketing officer to find creative ways to encourage more 
interest. 

Page 104



23
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

The three highest sources of information that resulted in their application, cited by applicants 
were:

1. Web search (41%)
2. Social media (21%)
3. Word of mouth (12%) and previous enquirer (12%)

Summary of marketing activity

Quarter one 

In April, responding to demand, the service focussed on a campaign to recruit more foster 
carers to keep brothers and sisters together.

In May, Foster Care Fortnight campaign was largely online, making extensive use of videos on 
social media promoted the need for a more diverse group of foster carers.

In June, a focused campaign to recruit more foster carers for teenagers based on demand.

Quarter two (see detailed report for more information)

In July, responding to demand, the service focussed on a campaign to recruit more parent and 
child foster carers.

In August, the fast-track assessment process was launched along with the reintroduced 
schedule of face to face, summer events. A new foster carer generated blog to our website was 
launched, to attract those still in the consideration phase.

September saw the continued promotion of the fast-track assessment process and schedule of 
face-to-face events.

Quarter three

In October, a focus on the contribution made by sons and daughters to the fostering household, 
as part of The Fostering Network’s Sons and Daughters Month. The service also launched the 
‘Out There’ film, jointly created with over 30 other local authorities and promoted extensively 
to encourage applicants to foster for their local authority:  https://fb.watch/f8nMKHqM3e/

As part of Black History Month, the contribution of black foster carers was a specific focus.

In November, the schedule of autumn, face to face events was the focus.

Seasonal messages were posted, and work was completed with Ambassadors to create an 
emotive twelve days of Christmas campaign for social media during the month of December.

Quarter four 

In January, television advertising was introduced for the first time with Sky and Virgin TV 
subscribers in the Gloucestershire area. During this quarter, the focus was on generic messages 
around fostering, because there was a need for foster carers of all kinds and for all age groups.

Page 105

https://fb.watch/f8nMKHqM3e/


24
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

In March, saw a focus on LGBTQ Fostering and Adoption Week and Mothering Sunday.

Looking ahead

 National predictions suggest that the numbers of children in care will reach 100,000 by 
2025, so we can expect that the numbers in Gloucestershire will continue to rise and 
pressure to recruit will increase even further.  In addition to this, the Independent Review of 
Children’s Social Care released its recommendations in May 2022, including the 
recommendation for a national fostering campaign and greater support for local authorities 
to recruit foster carers. 

 Until the Government confirms its commitment to a national campaign for more foster 
carers, our collaborative approaches to recruitment with other local authorities will 
continue to ensure we are highlighting the benefits to fostering for your local authority 
along with sustaining our current and planned marketing activity.

 We will deliver a new, three-year strategic recruitment strategy cycle, with the expectation 
that targets will be significantly increased to reflect the numbers of children coming into 
care. 

 In line with the Fostering Transformation Plan (see below), we will work in partnership with 
members of the service, GCC colleagues in the Communications Team and other internal 
and external stakeholders to plan the new ongoing campaign focus for the recruitment and 
retention of local foster carers to care for Gloucestershire children and young people.

 The marketing budget has been increased, offering the opportunity for more wide- reaching 
recruitment campaigns delivered in collaboration with our Corporate Communications 
Team across a number of social media platforms, radio and TV, with local large companies 
and sports venues and also as part of an increased number of face-to-face recruitment 
events in Gloucestershire.

 The appointment of a social worker to the Fostering enquiry front desk will offer applicants 
greater consistency through the initial stages of the recruitment process.

 The launch of Gloucestershire County Council’s Fostering Friendly policy in April 2022 offers 
the opportunity for greater recruitment within the county, city and borough councils and 
will be supported by a separate internal recruitment strategy.

 Life for many may begin to settle again after the pandemic, with older children going away 
to university in September or moving on, freeing up spare bedrooms. The Homes for 
Ukraine scheme may have an impact on this and is having an impact on demand for private 
fostering assessments.

Page 106



25
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

 Retention of foster carers remains a priority if we are to make any gains in overall capacity 
(see Summary of Developments and Changes on page 8). An independent exit interview is 
being embedded to assist the service to gather qualitative information to understand how 
we can reduce resignations, which are the result of service issues.

The Recruitment and Assessment Team 

All fostering assessments have been completed during the 2021/22 year within the 8-month 
timescale set out in the national guidance. The quality of the assessments continues to be of a 
high standard and the feedback from the applicants is that the process is thorough but interesting. 

The Friends and Family Assessment and Support Team (FFAST) undertake connected person 
assessments. The majority of these are under Regulation 24 of the Care Planning, Placement and 
Review Regulation (2010). They involve the temporary approval of carers where a child needed 
to move in an emergency prior to the connected carer being fully approved as a foster carer. 
These assessments have a 16-week completion deadline, although in circumstances where the 
safeguarding checks have not been completed an extension of eight weeks can be requested. In 
most cases this is required and means the assessments are subsequently completed within 24 
weeks. These are often challenging to secure, and the tight timescales add additional pressure for 
the carers and the team undertaking the assessment, particularly as the child is already living with 
the carer. The fostering service saw an increase in the need for extensions due to incomplete 
statutory checks and / or delayed medical reports during the year which has placed additional 
pressure on the fostering panel and staff within the service. 

As stated in the foster panel annual report found at Appendix 1, some qualitative concerns have 
been identified regarding connected person’s fostering assessments including the extensions 
required and the focus on the fostering assessment when it is anticipated that the same carers 
will go on to apply for a Special Guardianship Order (SGO). That said many families and friends’ 
carers make enormous sacrifices to offer care to a relative or friend and meeting the additional 
demands of the fostering requirements at that time can be a challenge. Assessing social workers, 
aim to provide more information and support to families during this time. 

The team has increased and is now much larger than when it was first developed in 2014. The 
increased demand on the service has been significant since 2014. Whilst pressures associated 
with managing demand and timescales continue, changes to the structure of the team have been 
agreed and are in the process of being implemented. This will see the assessment part of the 
service separated from the ongoing supervision and support, with expected improvements in 
standard of work and the quality assurance. 

Special Guardianship assessments are also undertaken by the FFAST team. There continues to be 
a steady number of requests for SGO assessments. Often, children already live with their 
prospective SGO carers who may experience complicated family dynamics exacerbated by the 
short twelve-week assessment timescale that will judge the suitability of the carers to become 
permanent SGO carers for the child without the local authority sharing Parental Responsibility. 

Working together with legal colleagues and locality social work teams this year has enabled the 
development of a new process, incorporating recent serious case review recommendations. The 
new processes included, the introduction of a referral receipt, midpoint review and the 

Page 107



26
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

opportunity to request additional time to complete the assessment if further assessment is 
needed and more robust scrutiny is needed.  when required. The new processes are designed to 
improve consistency and deliver high quality practice for all children and SGO carers. 

Information and skills training for new Special Guardians has been introduced and has been very 
well received by carers who are adapting to their now role of full-time carer, parenting a child or 
children they previously had different relationship with. Many Special Guardians struggle with 
their complex role, for example being both grandparent and full-time parent. 

A regular Special Guardianship newsletter is circulated to all on the mailing list and support groups 
are now available for all Special Guardians who wish to attend.  

In the forthcoming year, the FFAST team will split into separate assessment and support teams. 
A key focus for the support team will be to evaluate the service offer to Special Guardians with 
the aim of making the improvements Special Guardians wish to see. 

Fostering Panel

Gloucestershire County Council has a high functioning and stable fostering panel consisting of 16 
core members all with differing roles, experiences, and professional backgrounds. The panel has 
two panel advisors, a chair, two vice chairs and two panel administrators. 

In 2021, a new panel chair was appointed, Kelvin Troake, which has proved successful. Kelvin is a 
foster carer, was previously Gloucestershire Fostering Panel’s Vice Chair and brings his knowledge 
of sitting on other fostering panels to benefit us. The Fostering Panel Annual Report is attached 
at Appendix 1 and a summary of activity is set out below. 

The bar chart below shows panel activity in 2021/22 and compares this with previous years. It 
shows a mixed picture with an overall reduction in applications, other than Family Link. 

Long term matches have been a focus for the service as too many children who were living in 
their long-term (permanent) fostering arrangement had not had their match approved by Panel. 
The graph shows the increased number of these. 

general 
applications

Kinship 
applications

Family Link 
applications

general 
resignations

long term 
matches

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22

Page 108



27
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

There has been a total of 30 resignations from general foster carers during the 2021/22 year, 
which is a larger number than in previous years. In part, this is due to a focus on ensuring only 
those carers who are willing and able to offer a home to a child remain registered and is also due 
to the impact of COVID on fostering families, as set out earlier in this report. A number of foster 
carers have ended their time with us positively and indicated in their exit interview that if they 
were to foster again in future, they return to Gloucestershire County Council to do so. 

The pie chart below breaks down the reasons for resignation and de-registration. 
Overwhelmingly, the reason given is ‘personal reasons’ with 86% resigning on this basis. Whilst it 
is always a blow to lose a valued foster carer, it is positive that no resignations cited unhappiness 
or dissatisfaction with the service. 

In every circumstance when a foster carer resigns, they are invited to complete an exit 
questionnaire which the service uses pro-actively to review experiences and perspectives and, 
where necessary and appropriate, change arrangements or amend practice. From September 
2022 all foster carers will be offered a face-to-face exit discussion with an independent reviewing 
officer which should enable the service to gain much richer information to feed back into the 
service. 

Personal Circumstances
Moved Out Of Area
Inactivity 
Adoption 

Resignation reasons

  

Summary from Fostering Reviewing Officer

The Fostering Service has 2 Fostering Reviewing Officers (FROs) who chair foster carer reviews. 
Each works 3 days per week however, plans are in place to recruit an additional part time officer 
in order to ensure all annual reviews in 2022/23 are chaired by a Fostering Reviewing Officer. At 
present Fostering Managers add to the capacity of the Reviewing Officers to ensure Reviews are 
undertaken within allotted timescales. 

Foster Carer’s first annual reviews are presented to the Fostering Panel in line the Regulations 
and enabling scrutiny and quality assurance for new carers. 

Page 109



28
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

The table below demonstrates the compliance across the service of up to annual reviews over the 
last 12 months, with a target of 95% the service is within tolerance of the target.

90
%

91
%

89
%

85
%

86
%

91
%

89
%

84
% 90

%

91
%

92
%

89
%

92
%

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Up to Date Annual Reviews

Continued improvement in several key areas of the annual review process have included:

 From June 2021 all annual reviews were undertaken using the new annual review process 
on Liquid Logic. Data and performance management is now being captured and from June 
2022 there will be a full 12-month’s information available to inform service 
developments. 

 Consultation forms from professionals, children and foster carers are a regulatory 
requirement when undertaking the foster carer’s annual review of approval. Since June 
2021, the new functionality in Liquid Logic has ensured that consultations to children’s 
social workers and independent reviewing officers are allocated electronically to the 
professionals Liquid Logic work tray.  

 Induction training has continued to be provided across the Fostering Service and in 
particular to new supervising social workers. A training video covering annual reviews is 
in its final edit and will be available for use this year. This will enable Children’s Services 
and fostering colleagues to access the information they need on annual reviews, when 
they need it. Similarly, foster carers will also be able to use the video to help them prepare 
for their annual review.

 Video conferencing will continue for chaired annual review meetings as it enables 
efficient use of time and offers flexibility for both carers to attend, one or both of whom 
may have work or other caring commitments. 

 The merits of meeting foster carers in person are also acknowledged and therefore 
discussions are underway to consider provision of suitable meeting rooms in an office 
location when this is considered more suitable for chaired review meetings. 

It has been positive to note that this financial year there has been a slight improvement in 
the submission of paperwork by supervising social workers, however it is an area which needs 
to be significantly improved over the next 12 months, with a set target of 95% of reports being 
submitted on time:

Page 110



29
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

 57% of review paperwork was completed within agreed timescales compared with 47% 
in 2020/21. 

 32% of review paperwork was more than one day late compared with 42% in 2020/21.
 10% came in just one day late, compared with 9% in 2020/21

It was anticipated that the rollout of the new Liquid Logic review process would have a significant 
impact on the timeliness of Supervising Social Workers completing the review paperwork and 
obtaining a written Manager response. The opportunity to have annual data and management 
reports in June 2022 will be helpful in taking targeted action to continue to improve timeliness 
with a set target of 95% of all reports being submitted in the agreed timescales. 

The new Liquid Logic review process has enabled greater clarity and management oversight, with 
the Fostering Team Manager or Deputy Team Manager providing a written response and 
recommendations prior to submitting the annual review paperwork to the Fostering Reviewing 
Officer for consideration. The review report and Agency Decision are also now captured on the 
Liquid Logic annual review tab.

The rate of cancellation of annual reviews remains the same year on year at 25%. The pie chart 
below indicates the reasons for cancellation. A proportion of the 25% were unavoidable, for 
example, where carers have resigned, however many cancellations could/should have been 
avoided had information been made available in advance. 2022/23 will see a renewed focus on 
improving performance in this area.  

Consultations forms

Consultation forms from professionals, children and foster carers are a regulatory requirement 
when completing foster carer’s annual reviews. It has been an ongoing concern that performance 
in relation to obtaining consultation documents is low. 

Relevants Paperwork not 
available

Allegation Investigation 
ongoing

First review so not chaired

Carer(s) resigned

Carer attending panel

SSW or carer 
unwell/unavailable

Early review not required

Annual Review Cancellations

Page 111



30
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

In addition to the Liquid Logic developments set out above, the Fostering Service is proactive in 
exploring other means to gain feedback from professionals involved with the foster carers and/or 
children in care. For example, obtaining views verbally and in writing from Virtual School, Speech, 
and Language Therapists etc. 

The bar chart below provides details of the returns received over the past 24-months:

Foster carers IRO CSW CIC FC household
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2020/2021
2021/2022

The table evidences some improvement. The new Liquid Logic annual review format has recently 
been introduced and will present an opportunity to collate data to identify specific areas for 
improvement. 

What is working well?

 The current reporting year saw the introduction of Chaired Reviews for Family Link Plus 
carers. There has been a high level of take up and the annual reviews of Family Link Plus 
carers are now routinely booked with an FRO and planned for the following year. This 
ensures consistent practice across the Fostering Service and enables the skills of Family 
Link Plus carers to be shared across the Service. 

 The FROs coordinated a Fostering Reviewing Officer forum within the Southwest region. 

This is now held four times a year and provides an opportunity to share best practice 
across local authorities. It is hoped that other local authorities and independent fostering 
agencies may decide to join the Forum.

 As a result of the Fostering Reviewing Officer forum there has been further consideration 
of the role within this Local Authority, with plans for FROs to offer an exit interview when 
carers resign. This will provide more detailed information about carers reasons for 
resigning and inform the fostering recruitment and retention strategy. 

 Monthly tracking meetings are chaired by the Service Manager for Permanence and 
provide an opportunity to meet with Fostering Team Managers and plan chaired reviews 
for a 3-month period. The tracking meetings also provide an opportunity for reflection on 

Page 112



31
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

specific and general issues for foster carers. The monthly tracking meeting will also begin 
to challenge cancellations. 

The Chaired review meetings provide an opportunity to remind carers of the expectation 
to meet GCC foster carer minimum expectations and make transparent the link to the 
Carer Band/Skill Fee. Recommended timescales can be set by the FRO for the carer to 
meet minimum expectations and present for a Band/Skill Fee decisions by the Agency 
Decision Maker. 

 Some carers continue to report that they benefit from the flexible approach that online 
learning provides. Others have reported being pleased to see the return of in-person 
support groups, particularly where they have already forged local links with other foster 
carers. More experienced carers have taken the opportunity to identify more specialist 
training that has been provided by the current online learning facilitator. 

Training and development of foster carers

E-learning uptake (via AC Education) 2021/22

The pie chart below shows the number of carers utilising e-learning via our AC Education site. 
Regular users account for 76% of our carer population, up slightly on last year’s 71%.

76%

4.70%

18.90%

Using e-learning

Have an online account but not started

Have 'never' used online e-learning

Chart Title

Those carers who have ‘never’ used e-learning has dropped from 26% (2020/21) to 18.9% this 
year, which is encouraging and appears to indicate that, with support, more of our carers can 
access the learning it offers. Family and friends’ carers are the largest cohort (84) who have yet 
to access e-learning. 

We are delighted to continue the pre-recorded e-learning through AC Education, with the 
organisation successful in tendering for the forthcoming three years (2022 – 2025). Below is a 
summary of the last three years course completions. All online courses are ‘completed’ when 

Page 113



32
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

learners have worked through all sections/chapters and passed an end of course quiz (with 80% 
correct answers or above to verify completion).

The last three years’ completions have looked like this:

Financial Year Online courses completed
2019/2020
E-learning introduced 
Sept 2019

   296

2020/2021 1,795
2021/2022 1,300

AC Education – E-learning course completions (year on year)

Data taken 1st April 2022

A sample of carer’s feedback about using e-learning can be found in appendix 4.

Most popular course subjects:

Below are the top 12 most popular online course subjects of the past year, ranked in order from 
most to least often completed. 

Course Completions
Safeguarding and Child Protection Skills 372
Attachment and Loss 310
Managing Allegations 275
Record Keeping in Foster Care 257
Positive Parenting 205
Child Sexual Exploitation 174

Page 114



33
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Promoting Health and Development 156
Online Safety and Cyberbullying 84
Managing Challenging Behaviour 80
Trauma and the Impact on Brain Development 54
Understanding Child Development 51
ADHD 45

The foster carer Champions have contributed to the development of some new/amended 
courses, introduced in 2021/22:

 Therapeutic Re-Parenting 
 Caring for Babies and Young Children (i.e., Infant Care) – [created as a direct response to 

Gloucestershire foster carers’ feedback]
 De-escalation Techniques – [written by a Gloucestershire CC foster carer]

‘Live’ trainer-led courses

Between 1st April 2021 and 31st March 2022 there were 67 ‘live’ courses delivered (face-to-face 
and webinar). This was significantly more that in the previous year when COVID restricted our 
ability to provide such courses to 27. This year, courses were delivered as 85 separate events 
and often covering multiple parts or modules.   431 learners attended training (up on last 264 
last year) but remains approximately a third of pre-Covid levels. 60 seats were unused plus 10 
‘no-shows’ (total 501 seats available).

First Aid training

First Aid training has been delivered much more consistently over the last 12 months, re-
starting with groups of 8 (to ensure Government guidelines of social distancing), and returning 
to pre-pandemic levels of 12 per group since Nov 2021. This has been our highest area of face to 
face spend, as the backlog of demand is cleared. At the time of writing, the service has fully 
caught up with first aid delivery.

Page 115



34
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Personal Development Portfolio (PDP) Usage

60.6%
11.4%

28%

PDP on LL dated within last 12 months PDP on LL dated more than 12 months old
No PDP on LL recorded

PDP Usage and currency

Data taken 1st April 2022 (based on comparable data from Liquid Logic of GCC foster carers).

Using the reporting functions from Liquid Logic (LL), the chart shows an indicator of PDP usage 
(in fostering households) and how old the current plan is.

There may be some margin of error in the data, due to inputting errors however, the figure is 
useful and shows us where we must target carers to ensure they benefit from a current PDP. 
Approximately 60% of GCC foster carers have an up-to-date PDP, up from 45% from last year. 
28% of carers are recorded as having no PDP on liquid logic, down from 41% last year, so the 
trend is up, and importantly the majority of those with a PDP have been created within the last 
12 months. 

Again, of the 86 carers with no data/PDP recorded on LL, Family and Friends’ carers make up the 
majority at 54. Carers are followed up by their supporting social worker with a plan for all to 
have a current PDP by the end of 2022/23. 

Looking ahead

With a significant permanent uplift in training budget available, the service is hoping to be able 
to continue to offer a full range of e-learning online and add further advanced content 
throughout 2022/3 and beyond. This will ensure that we can continue to improve the skill levels 
of carers so they can meet the additional complexities of the children and young people in care 
as we exit the pandemic.  This will also improve placement stability by giving carers the skills 
and resilience they need to care for complex children and young people.  Subject to satisfactory 
contracting, the offer anticipated to be available is:

 Extended programmes (5–6-week themed topics for all foster carers)
 Diploma courses (over two years) at level 3 & 4 for those carers wishing to develop 

higher level skills.
 Higher numbers of face-to-face courses as these become available from external 

training providers.

Page 116



35
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) Fostering Pilot 

As part of the Fostering Service recruitment and retention strategy an improved offer was 
developed for newly approved foster carers in collaboration with CAMHS colleagues. The CAMHS 
Fostering Development Team was launched in 2019/20 and works closely with the Fostering 
Service to improve stability and choice of carer for children by improving understanding of child 
development and trauma. Two full-time CAMHS psychotherapists work with carers and the 
fostering service to deliver these outcomes.

In detail, the planned outcomes of the project were to:

 Ensure children and young people live in well matched, suitable homes with carers who 
have the appropriate skills and experience to meet their needs.

 Retain, grow, and sustain the current in-house fostering capability.
 Continue to be competitive in attracting and increasing the pool of newly approved foster 

carers and do this year on year.
 Provide an increased number of local fostering families, reducing the need for out of 

county homes.
 Reduce reliance and spend on external fostering agencies or children’s homes 

Progress made to date:
 During the pandemic, CAMHS colleagues were asked to support the NHS in other areas 

resulting in a gap in the provision in respect of training of carers and staff (see below). 
 Therapeutic support is now provided by a CAMHS psychotherapist to newly approved 

foster carers in the shape of four one-to-one consultations; this is to ensure that carers 
have the appropriate understanding of parenting a traumatised child and have easy 
access to professionals who can support them at the start of their fostering career. These 
sessions inform the foster carers and their Supervising Social Worker’s thinking when 
considering potential matches with children and young people.

 Regular clinical supervision groups take place with fostering teams, the under 11s 
Permanence teams and CAMHS psychotherapists. This ensures that all colleagues have a 
safe space to discuss issues arising for the foster carers and children they are supporting. 
It enables good practice to be shared as well as strategies that are working for carers, 
children, and allied colleagues.

 The four-day training programme (Emotional World of the Child) has re-started to new 
carers online and, since September 2021, has been offered to more experienced carers.  
The training is also made available to social work colleagues, and it is hoped that when 
CAMHS staffing numbers increase later this year, that face-to-face training will resume. 

We continue to collate foster carers’ feedback as part of ongoing evaluation of the CAMHS 
service and indications continue to be that carers find CAMHS support and training beneficial. 

Page 117



36
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Life Story Work for Children in Care 

Ofsted inspectors highlighted that life story work for some children and young people was of 
good quality, but this was not consistent for all children and young people in care in 
Gloucestershire.  With the introduction of a Life Story Coordinator there has been significant 
work completed towards the goal that all children have life story work completed with them 
over their time in our care.  This work is led by the child or young person and supported by 
those adults around them, with their social worker taking the lead coordinating role. 

The coordinator has been working to develop the standards we want for all our children and 
toolkits that support carers and practitioners to be confident in undertaking life story work. 

Progress to date

 More face-to-face meetings enables participants to see examples of the type of work 
they are being asked to undertake and provides a greater opportunity to ask questions. 
Discussions have taken place to support individuals across Children’s Services who have 
an interest in completing life story work with a child or young person they are working 
with. 

 ‘Guidance for Social Workers and Family Support Workers’ and the ‘Guidance for Foster 
Carers’ documents are shared regularly after attendance at team meetings and support 
groups. The ‘Guidance for Foster Carers’ is now on the Fostering secure website. 

 The Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) has been completed and signed by the 
Director of Children’s Services. This is a working document that identifies situations 
where the processing of personal data may be classed as high risk and helps us to 
comply with requirements of the General Data Protection Regulations. The portable 
printer for use in Life Story Work and the Privacy Notices for children and young people 
now need to be added to the DPIA (see below). 

 The portable printer used in the life story pilot is no longer suitable and a replacement 
has been found, a Cannon Zoemini, which is currently being evaluated and so far, its 
functionality meets expectations. The next step is for a social worker to test the Zoemini 
with a child/young person they are working with.  

 The Privacy Notice for children and young people is being produced, in accordance with 
the DPIA. It is currently in draft form but once approved by an Information Governance 
Advisor, our ambassadors will help with the design of the document for inclusion in 
Children’s Guides. 

 The requirement of foster carers is to create a life story book depicting the child’s stay 
with them as fully as possible. To support the foster carers in its creation, an example 
has been produced with the help of a foster carer champion.

 Resource Library activities have now been completed and sent to the Social Work 
Academy (SWA); these resources will be added to Tri-X3 and the SWA website so that 
they are easily accessible. It consists of sixty-two subject areas with activities attached 
to each area which can be adapted to suit the individual needs of the child or young 
person.

3 Tri-X hold Gloucestershire’s on-line children’s social care policy and procedure manual.

Page 118



37
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

 Amendments have been made to ‘Consultation’ and ‘Foster Carer Review’ forms on 
Liquid Logic, to include questions about life story work. Amendments to ‘Supervisory 
Visit Record,’ ‘Fostering Reviewing Officers’ report, ‘Placement Planning’ form and the 
‘Foster Carers Consultation’ form are in the process of being changed. 

 Reporting from Liquid logic on life story work has recently been completed and we are 
now able to report on life story questions relating to consultation forms and reviews. 

Challenges 

There has been some difficulty maintaining regular meetings with the original social workers 
from the pilot group due to other tasks that need to be prioritised or to the social worker 
changing role. A practical approach to overcome this has been to provide a drop-in where 
workers can share their current practice and ideas and help each other overcome barriers and 
find solutions.

There has also been a significant ICT delay relating to the purchase of portable printers for 
workers; this has been due to ICT needing to prioritise other key hardware and software 
developments during a time of increased reliance on home-working technology and capacity. 

Current focus

In addition to the points raised above, we will officially launch life story work across 
Gloucestershire Children’s Services in October 2022. It is planned to be big and impactful, 
provide information, encouragement and promote the importance of every child knowing their 
story. 

Looking ahead

 Once the official launch has taken place then completion of the life story policy and 
Guides for children will be finalised. 

 Once the procurement and distribution of the portable printers has taken place, social 
workers will be in better position to record the work they are completing with 
children/young people. 

 Develop a drop-in group for workers undertaking any aspect of life story work, as 
suggested above. 

 The life story coordinator will base herself in different localities and be available to 
answer questions and provide support to staff completing life story work.

 Where needed workshops or a buddying system for foster carers will be available if they 
are struggling to get started on the life story book.

 Look into the possibility of providing a digital story that can be sent to individuals 
throughout Children Services as a reminder of the process and the importance of life 
story work. 

Page 119



38
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Post approval support and supervision

The Fostering Support Teams (FST) supervise, support, and develop foster carers following their 
approval. The teams work closely with the recruitment team, placement team and the children 
in care teams. The general fostering support teams towards the latter part of this year were 
reviewed and are now working in locality areas. Due to the number of foster carers in the 
Gloucester area each team has 1/3 of the Gloucester foster carers plus a locality area:

 Team 1 is responsible for Cheltenham and Tewkesbury
 Team 2 for Forest of Dean 
 Team 3 for Stroud and Cotswold 
 Team 4 oversees specialist foster carers including band 3 and parent and child foster 

carers. 

The teams were split into localities to enable the service to be more efficient, to improve the 
relationships with the locality assessment and safeguarding teams, enable Team Managers to 
have better visibility and oversight of the locality area by attending support groups and offering 
local drop-in sessions and to further develop links with the localities ensuring foster carers and 
children are aware of and able to access universal community-based services. The additional 
benefit is that each team has a responsibility to work with foster carers and the marketing officer 
to increase the number of foster carers approved in their locality. Each Supervising Social Worker 
has a minimum caseload of 15 fostering households with those supporting Band 3 foster carers 
holding 10 households each. 

The role of the Supervising Social Worker is set out in Standards 21.8 and 21.9 of the Fostering 
National Minimum Standards. In summary the role is to:
 Supervise approved foster carers through meetings with the foster carer.
 Undertake at least one unannounced visit a year. 
 Ensure that foster carers are meeting the child’s needs, considering the child’s wishes and 

feelings, and offer support.
 Assess foster carers’ performance, competencies, and skills in accordance with Standard 20. 

The Supervising Social Worker’s role is to support the fostering household not just the approved 
foster carers, this includes birth children and any other people living within the home. K4K (Kids 
for Kids) is a programme that has been running in the fostering service for several years. It has 
evolved and grown over the years and is managed and facilitated jointly with members of the 
fostering service and the Ambassadors. The group offers support and group activities to foster 
carers’ children and, in the past year, has developed further to include children who have been 
adopted or have an SGO. 

The commitment of K4K was that every year there would be three-day trips and three training 
sessions so there would be some form of contact for birth children every school holiday. A regular 
newsletter and Christmas card with a small gift is also sent to all children, providing: 

 A reward for their contribution to fostering.
 The opportunity to make friends and receive peer support.
 An opportunity for a two-way dialogue. The service can listen to their views, experiences, 

and ideas about fostering and give them information from the service.
 The chance to develop their skills, understanding and resilience in fostering.

Page 120



39
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

What is working well?

 New Personal Development Plan format was initiated, focussing on the impact of training 
on the care provided to children and encouraging greater reflection of foster carers 
learning and application in practice.

 Experienced fostering support workers skilled in areas such as counselling and therapeutic 
life story work, work with foster carers and their family. 

 Providing practice educations places to social work students, giving future social workers 
knowledge and information about fostering and providing a good experience of working 
in Gloucestershire, in line with our wider recruitment and retention strategy. 

 A daily duty service ensures there is no gap in support when social workers are not 
available. 

 The Finance Support Administrator provides a responsive service and audits payments, 
thereby reducing the number of over- and under-payments and related complaints. 

 The secure website has grown in significance and usage, its key functions are to update 
and provide information to our carers and, to profile children for whom we are searching 
for the right foster home, including respite.  This encourages foster carer led matching. 

 Foster carers support recruitment events, training, and mentoring of new foster carers. 
 All foster carers are members of Fostering Network, funded by the council. 
 The allocations and investigations policy has been reviewed and updated, with mandatory 

workshops for all fostering colleagues. The designated manager who takes a lead on 
allegations has developed improved links with the LADO and Police which has improved 
our response times and partnership working when a concern arises. 

 All foster carers subject to investigations are offered a formal debrief session at its end. 
This enables the service to act on any feedback received.  

 All exemptions and variations are signed off by the Agency Decision Maker and presented 
to panel for consideration via Liquid Logic.

 All annual reviews are chaired and authorised by the Agency Decision Maker.
 Performance data is embedded as part of the management of the service to ensure 

compliancy and practice is within the expected timescales. 
 Auditing of foster carer files is embedded across the service and includes gathering the 

views of foster carers.
 Foster care champions are utilised to support foster carers who are struggling and need 

some advice covering anything from therapeutic parenting to IT issues. 
 All foster carers now receive a full medical as part of their ongoing approval as opposed to 

a self-declaration and GP report.

Quality of Service.
With the development of the fostering performance data ongoing improvements have been seen 
in quality and compliance with the Fostering Regulations which can now be reliably evidenced in 
the performance reports and data (in the tables below). This has had a significant impact on the 
management of the service being able to drive and improve the quality of service as well as 
identifying areas, individuals and teams where additional support or intervention is required. 
The service was set stretch targets at the beginning of 2021 having previously met all performance 
targets with the aim of bringing about further improvement in practice and compliance. 

The tables below demonstrate the progress made over the past 12 months, with all performance 
areas either within tolerance of or above target. 

Page 121



40
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Foster carer supervision is either within one month or two months depending on the 
circumstances of the household and the children they are caring for. Any agreements of two 
monthly supervision are agreed by the relevant Team Manager and the foster carers before this 
is put in place. At any time, supervision can revert to a monthly frequency if there are changes to 
the household or additional support is required. Recently the data relating to supervision has 
changed and for the forthcoming year it will be reported as foster carer supervision completed 
on time. 

 

90
%

94
%

94
%

95
%

92
%

91
%

89
%

86
%

89
%

90
%

92
%

91
%

91
%

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Up to Date Unannounced Visits

91
%

92
%

92
%

92
%

91
%

91
%

91
%

89
%

89
%

90
%

93
%

93
%

92
%

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Up to Date Health and Safety Checks

95
%

97
%

98
%

96
%

97
%

97
%

98
%

98
%

98
%

97
%

96
%

96
%

96
%

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Up to Date DBS Checks - Main Carer

Page 122



41
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

94
%

94
%

95
%

93
%

94
%

95
%

95
%

96
%

97
%

95
%

95
%

96
%

95
%

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Up to Date DBS Checks - Link Carer

98
%

97
%

97
%

96
%

95
%

96
%

95
%

94
%

95
%

95
%

95
%

93
%

94
%

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Up to Date Medicals - Main Carer

98
%

97
%

97
%

95
%

95
%

97
%

96
%

95
%

95
%

96
%

95
%

91
%

94
%

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Up to Date Medicals - Link Carer

Page 123



42
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

74
%

78
%

79
%

85
%

78
%

78
% 87

%

79
% 85
%

79
%

84
%

75
%

79
%

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-

21

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

De
c-

21

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

89
%

90
%

92
%

93
%

94
%

92
%

94
%

94
%

95
%

92
%

94
%

94
%

91
%

% of all Foster Carers who had supervision in the month

% of all Foser Carers who have had supervision within the last 2 
months

Target

Up to Date Foster Carer Supervision

The policy for Allegations and Serious Concerns about standards of care in respect of in-house 
foster carers was updated and relaunched in November 2019. It details the procedure that must 
be followed by all workers within the Fostering Service and across Children’s Services when an 
allegation is made about a foster carer, or a concern raised about the standard of care provided 
by a foster carer. The policy also details how children will be safeguarded in such events and the 
support that will be offered to all foster carers subject to the allegation or a standard of care 
process. These duties and procedures apply to all agencies providing fostering services under 
the Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011 and the Fostering Services: National 
Minimum Standards (2011).

Allegations and standards of care concerns are defined as follows:

 an Allegation is where a child or young person is considered to have been abused 
(emotionally, physically, or sexually) or has been neglected by the person the allegation 
is about.

 Standards of care concerns are not of a child protection nature but suggest that agreed 
standards of practice and care are not being adhered to at a minimum.

The number of allegations made against foster carers reduced to 15 this year, in comparison to 
last year’s figure of 29 whereas standard of care concerns has remained similar at 14, compared 
with 13 in 2020/21. The table below shows the data for both over the 12-month period of 
2021/22.

Outcomes following the standards of care concerns and allegations made include referral through 
the Allegations Management process and resulting actions, advice, support and training given to 
foster carers and professionals’ meetings convened to aid communication between services and 
improve support to children and young people. Eight independent fostering investigations took 
place and three carer households had approval terms changed following an early annual review / 
fostering investigation; four foster carer households either resigned or were deregistered as a 

Page 124



43
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

result of an allegation or standards of care concern (including ending of temporary kinship 
approval).

Apr-2
1

May
-21

Jun-21
Jul-2

1

Aug-2
1

Se
p-21

Oct-
21

Nov-2
1

Dec-2
1

Jan
-22

Fe
b-22

Mar-
22

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Allegation (total 15)
S O C (total 14)

Process improvements and learning:

 Flow charts and the updated policy have been shared with all teams and are available on 
Tri-X detailing the steps that must be followed when an allegation or standards of care 
concern is received. These resources are also available to carers on the Fostering secure 
website.

 Each allegation or standard of care concern continues to be considered by the Team 
Manager, the Fostering Service Manager and LADO (where necessary) and next steps 
agreed.

 Decisions are communicated to the carers without delay (verbally and in writing) and 
independent support is offered.

 Allegations Training workshops were rolled out to all staff in the Fostering Service in 2021.
 Investigation planning meetings are convened to ensure that managers and workers 

understand their responsibilities in the ongoing process, allocation of the investigating 
Social Worker and the independent support Social Worker is agreed and timescales for 
the investigation report to be completed and presented to Fostering Panel.

 From January 2021, a regular report detailing themes and learning from allegations has 
been produced and shared with the Head of Service and wider fostering service, so that 
practice can be amended, or training provided to workers and carers as a result.

 Reflective evaluation meetings with an independent team manager or the Service 
Manager are offered to all foster carers who have been subject to an investigation. 

Support for carers:

As a Fostering Service, it is appreciated that carers can experience feelings of distress and anxiety 
when allegations or standards of care concerns are raised about them. There can sometimes be 
a delay in the fostering investigation beginning if the police are investigating an allegation; as a 

Page 125



44
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

service we are not permitted to start the fostering investigation until the police investigation has 
concluded. This can cause several months of delay and understandably carers will be worried. 
During this time and for the duration of the investigation all foster carers are provided with an 
independent support worker as directed in the fostering regulations, this is in addition to the 
ongoing support from their supervising social worker. 

What is known from carer feedback is that communication with them throughout the 
investigation process could be better, so the changes which have been introduced such as more 
regular communication between team managers and carers, review Allegations Management 
meetings with multi-agency partners and evaluation meetings being offered to carers at the end 
of the investigation process, will mean that carers are updated consistently and can share their 
views with a manager from the Fostering Service.

Fostering Transformation Plan

Following a root and branch review of the fostering service in 2020/21 a strategic improvement 
plan, (the fostering transformation plan) was developed to include all the recommendations 
from the review. The strategic objectives for the Fostering Service include: -

 Securing stable and happy childhoods for children in our care to promote their 
wellbeing as they transition to adulthood

 Placement sufficiency to meet the diverse needs of children in our care
 Positioning Gloucestershire Fostering Service as the Fostering Agency of choice 

for local foster carers

The Fostering Transformation Action Plan is built around seven priorities identified to meet the 
strategic objectives for the Fostering Service.  These include: -

 Service Development
Development of the Action Plan and the underpinning Vision and Operating 
Model for the Fostering Service; structural arrangements to support locality 
working; a workforce development plan for the Fostering Service which includes 
its interface with the wider Directorate; an options appraisal and implementation 
of a therapeutic model to strengthen the consistency and quality of care. 
Support to Children
This incorporates an alignment of existing resources to support placements and 
the development of enhanced support services including contribution of partner 
agencies for children with complex needs; closer integration of the Fostering 
Service with placing social workers regarding use of care teams, placement 
stability meetings and permanence planning.  an options appraisal and 
development of bespoke fostering models for children with complex needs.
Support to Foster Carers
This includes development of 24/7 support arrangements to foster carers; 
delivery of bespoke training, incorporating the agreed therapeutic model, to 
support carers to respond to the complex needs of children; the development of 

Page 126



45
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

enhanced assessment, supervision and support arrangements and bespoke 
arrangements for connected carers

 Recruitment and Retention
Benchmark activity regarding support and renumeration; development of 
refreshed recruitment and retention and marketing strategies with potential 
additional investment.  Creative use of resources including Fostering Champions

 Placements
This includes the development of an options appraisal for a streamlined approach 
to manage resources and processes to identify short term and long-term 
placements

 Care Planning
This includes an options appraisal regarding social work capacity to support 
permanence planning and the development of an early permanence pathway for 
long-term fostering and connected carers

 Quality Assurance and Performance
As a regulated Service, this includes the development of measures to strengthen 
audit and performance management arrangements to drive improvements in the 
quality of care 

In view of the risks and scale of co-ordinating and delivering on the development and 
implementation of an Action Plan to transform the Fostering Service, it was considered that this 
is best achieved through an inclusive project management approach which brings together key 
cross Council and partner agency stakeholders in their role as Corporate Parents. 

The delivery of the Project is overseen by a Strategic Board of relevant senior leaders from across 
the Council and partner agencies who are able to bring the contribution of their service areas to 
the Project. Various work leads across the working groups report to the strategic Board and drives 
the production of the Action Plan in each area.  

The Project will be delivered through 7 core workstream groups which will be chaired by a 
member of the Operational Board and will report to the Operational Board.  An initial 
Project Plan was developed to scope the initial work for the Project and to inform the 
development of an Action Plan. It is anticipated that the Action Plan will be added to as 
the Project develops.

Through its improvement agenda the service is completing a range of development activity 
which will impact on the Project and which the Action Plan and Strategic Board will 
need to cross reference to make sure that its priorities and objectives are aligned.  This 
includes the work on the development of:

 An updated Placement Sufficiency Strategy
 A revised approach to Permanence
 The proposed re-modelling of the service
 The implementation of preferred practice models 

Page 127



46
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Key issues for the year ahead.

The key issues for the service in during 2022/23 include:

 Sufficiency of foster homes – to recruit a minimum of 40 foster households and ensure 
occupancy remains no less than 75%.  

 To improve the support to foster carers with the development of an out of hours provision 
to all approved foster carers. 

 Therapeutic learning - Further develop and fully train the fostering workforce in the 
therapeutic model. 

 To increase placement stability for children from 71% to 80%
 To ensure where children experience disruption to their long-term home that a disruption 

meeting is held to inform future stability on all occasions.   
 Ensure 85% of children who are fostered by in house foster carers have life story work 

completed with them.
 All reports for the annual reviews are completed within the set timescales.  
 Ensure all foster carers are supported to engage and complete training, attend support 

groups with all TSD’s and PDP’s to be completed and reviewed annually.
 95% of all foster carers will have timely supervision which is recorded within the 5-day 

standard. 
 To develop and implement the first constellation of the Mockingbird project. 
 Ensure foster carer engagement and involvement in all areas of improvement, capitalising 

on their knowledge and experience to inform development and practice.  

Page 128



47
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTERING 2021/22 Tammy Wheatley

Appendix 1: Report from the independent fostering panel chair. 

Annual Report 2022  
- Panel Chair.docx

Appendix 2: Fostering statement of Purpose. 

SOP fostering 
2021-22.odt

Appendix 3: Feedback from birth children from the session 7 skills day 

sesssion 7 
promotion.docx

Appendix 4: Gloucestershire Foster Carers Feedback (e-learning) 2021/22

Feedback from Foster 
Carers (e-learning) 2021 2022.docx

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN and FAMILIES 
OVERVIEW and SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Meeting Date: 14th July, 2022

Purpose of Report: To appraise Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 
the progress being made since the launch of the Children’s Services 
Continuous Improvement Board and submission of the Continuous 
Improvement Pan to Ofsted in July 2022. 

The Continuous Improvement Plan includes specific actions in response 
to the five formal recommendations made within the inspection report, 
alongside a wider programme of improvement in support of the 
development of consistently good services. 

To seek the support and challenge of scrutiny members in assessing the 
efficacy of the Continuous Improvement Plan as we progress.

Context: Background 

Gloucestershire’s Children’s Services were inspected by Ofsted in 
February 2022 and judged to be Requires Improvement to be Good.  This 
ended and extended period of government intervention and special 
measures following the 2017 inspection which had judged children’s 
services in the county to be Inadequate.  

The Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) cycle of 
regulatory inspection is such that a local authority should expect a full 
inspection at least every three years, with annual inspection in the 
intervening years on a focused area of practice (Focused Visit) or of the 
safeguarding partnership (Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI)). It is 
therefore anticipated that our next inspection will be within 12 months and 
will be in the form of a Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) or focused 
visit. A SEND inspection is also anticipated within this timeframe. 

Full Inspection findings

Gloucestershire’s Inspection Report is published on the Ofsted website 
and sets out the inspection findings and grade given to the local authority in 
three areas of assessed impact. These contribute to the overall effectiveness 
judgement as set out below:

Judgement Grade
The impact of leaders on social 
work practice with children and 
families

Requires improvement to be 
good

Page 131

Agenda Item 9



The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and 
protection

Requires improvement to be 
good

The experiences and progress of 
children in care and care leavers

Requires improvement to be 
good

Overall effectiveness Requires improvement to be 
good

7.0 The report made 5 recommendations for further improvement and 
requires the local authority to set out a plan to respond to those 
recommendations within 70 days. The recommendations for improvement 
are:

 The timeliness and application of consistent thresholds for child 
protection strategy meetings.

 The suitability of accommodation for care leavers to meet their 
needs, including to feel safe.

 The quality of case supervision and management.
 The timeliness with which personal advisers are allocated to 

children, to best support their transition and adulthood.
 How well IT systems support social workers to do their jobs.

8.0 Within their report, Ofsted also noted the significant progress made in 
‘many areas of Gloucestershire’s children’s services since the last 
inspection in 2017 and that ‘from a very low base, there has been a 
relentless drive for improvement by both senior leaders and staff’. The 
report also notes that ‘services for children are not consistently good’ and 
‘there remains more to do to ensure that all children benefit from 
improved services.’ 

9.0 Throughout the inspection, the Ofsted team noted that Children’s 
Services senior leadership understood their strengths and weaknesses, 
as set out within their self-evaluation, and articulated by the Director of 
Children’s Services at the commencement of inspection. This was 
significant given the serious questions raised in the 2017 inspection 
about the veracity, integrity and accuracy of data provided to Ofsted.  The 
quality assurance and performance management arrangements now in 
place provide senior leaders with a good understanding of the quality and 
impact of practice, with the appropriate use of meaningful external 
comparators to further support self-awareness.  

10.0 Continuous Improvement

Requires Improvement to be Good, cannot be a standstill position, we 
must be more ambitious for Gloucestershire’s children and strive to get to 
a position of sustainably good services for children and their families. 
Anything different may be considered coasting by the regulator. Our 
priorities must therefore be to consolidate our position so there is no 
return to inadequate standards and to progress from an overall position of 
‘requires improvement’ to that of ‘good’. As such, the Continuous 

Page 132



Improvement Plan, approved by Cabinet in June 2022, looks beyond the 
immediate recommendations set out within the Ofsted Inspection Report 
to articulate a broader set of actions and impact measures, reflecting the 
deeper appreciation of service effectiveness by Children’s Services 
senior leadership around what needs to improve to deliver sustainably 
good services. 

11.0 Children’s Serves do not fail in isolation, neither do they succeed. Ofsted 
previously noted that the ‘significant financial investment and the backing 
of political leaders, has led to improved services that are now more 
effective in meeting the needs of children and families. As a result of 
these improvements to services and support for children, they are now 
better protected.’  This investment has reduced caseloads, enabled the 
development of the Social Work Academy and ensured our recruitment 
and retention offer has remained competitive within a very challenging 
marketplace. 

13.0 The support and input of partners through the Continuous Improvement 
Board, Children’s Safeguarding Partnership and Children’s Wellbeing 
Coalition together with positive corporate engagement must be sustained 
if we are to respond to the significant and enduring impacts of Covid and 
the emerging cost of living pressures on families, while simultaneously 
improving practice. The contextual challenges cannot be overstated and, 
as is evident in some of the key metrics underpinning the Plan, we have 
yet to see the intended impact of all actions. This is to be expected to 
some extent in the post inspection period and as actions are timed in 
their implementation, however this is also influenced by a rise in the 
number of children requiring a social work response and increased 
turnover of staff reflective of the wider conditions in the market and 
across public services as a whole.  

14.0 Alongside the Improvement Board, which had its inaugural meeting on 
28th July, Children’s Services have adopted Systemic Social Work as its 
model of practice and commenced a transformation programme, to 
ensure its organisational form and working arrangements enable practice 
to flourish and meet the challenges of 21st Century social work. At a 
national level, there are several major policy initiatives to which children’s 
services and local partners will have to respond including the Early Years 
Healthy Development Review Report: Best Start in Lifei, the Independent 
Review of Children’s Social Careii, the National Panel Report 
recommendations into the deaths of Star Hobson and Arthur Labinjo-
Hughesiii, the Education White Paperiv and SEND Reformsv. 

15.0 The journey to good will be as challenging, if not more so, than that 
required to move services out of the inadequate category. We must 
ensure that all children who need our care and support receive a timely 
skilled intervention that improves outcomes, that managers eradicate drift 
and delay and that, when we exit the lives of children and families, we 
leave them equipped to sustain the changes they have made. This will 
require a similar degree of focus at service, corporate and partnership 

Page 133



levels if we are to embed what are already good aspects of Children’s 
Services provision, ensure all children receive a consistently good service 
and continue to improve. 

Update:
The following summarises the position at September 2022, with 
performance and quality data to July 2022 which result from lags whilst 
data is aggregated and analysed:

The majority of actions remain on track for delivery within the allotted 
timescales. Of the metrics where it is possible to determine the trajectory 
over the five-month period from March to July 2022, 18 show progress in 
the period, 16 show no significant change and 22 have regressed. 

We see quality and performance improvements for children across teams 
with a skilled and effective team manager and particularly those teams 
that have now trained or are training in systemic practice.  The continued 
delivery of the Systemic Social Work Practice model across the workforce 
is critical to continued improvements in practice and outcomes for 
children.

Recruitment and retention remain a significant challenge with market 
factors (rates of pay increasing elsewhere alongside increases in the 
number and type of social work posts offered by other employers) 
resulting in the overall rate of turnover and vacancies increasing over the 
period. Positively, there has been slight reduction in the rate of agency 
social workers to 33.3% recently, but this compares unfavourably with the 
circa 20% achieved by the end of summer 2021. The revised social care 
workforce strategy will be launched later this month.

Stabilising the workforce and creating the conditions within which 
purposeful work can flourish are critical to accelerating the pace of 
progress. Improving office environments, IT and equipment, remodelling 
the service and shaping up to deliver on the recommendations of the 
Social Care Review and National Panel recommendations, including 
embedding systemic practice, will all contribute to the changes we must 
achieve. 

Allocated workload and the increasing rate of demand for social work 
services are having an amplified impact on an already fatigued workforce. 
In certain areas, this has destabilised teams, with the added pressure 
resulting in elevated sickness and turnover. 

For those children who need our care, the summer has been a period of 
exceptional pressure, with numbers in care rising to the mid-870s, 
making it extremely difficult to find the right home for children. Rates of 
entry have not significantly increased but rates of exit have slowed. A 
programme has been initiated to ensure that, for those children whose 
plan is reunification with birth parents or a move to other forms of 
permanency, this is achieved without delay.   

Page 134



The sufficiency challenge is particularly acute for those teenagers who 
are subject to criminal and sexual exploitation, those with emotional and 
mental health difficulties and particularly where self-injurious behaviour is 
a feature, disabled young people often autistic and with learning 
disabilities and unaccompanied children (a group where meeting 
government mandates on numbers is increasingly difficult). 

The Fostering Recruitment and Retention Strategy has been refreshed to 
reflect a more targeted approach to recruitment of carers and heralds the 
development of supported lodgings, whilst strategic commissioning 
developments are set out in the forthcoming Sufficiency Strategy due for 
Cabinet in November includes a number of measures aimed at increasing 
the number of high quality, value for money homes available locally. 

External barriers to driving performance at an individual and team level 
continue with IT infrastructure and particularly connectivity in district 
offices, as well as real-time access to performance reporting. This is 
regularly highlighted in exit interviews and was one of the most significant 
challenges highlighted in responses to the recent Social Care Workforce 
Health Check. The Executive Director of People and Digital and the 
Director for Safeguarding and Care are currently visiting district offices to 
discuss IT improvements as part of an update and engagement piece on 
Continual Improvement. 

Key developments over the past month that will deliver impacts 
include:
- Recruitment, retention and career progression:

o 35 newly qualified social workers start their Assisted Year in 
Practice July-September 2022 and will be supernumerary for at 
least the first six months of their employment.

o Permanent Heads of Service are now in place in all but two 
posts in Children’s Safeguarding and Care. This will reduce to 
one in the forthcoming month.

o Development of new workforce strategy.
o Improved induction and check-in programme launched for new 

starters and new managers, building on feedback from 
employees.

- Workforce development:
o Career progression pathway and linked Social Work Academy 

offer under construction.
o Delivery of revised frontline manager development programme 

– workshops in management oversight and improvement 
delivered and evidencing impact

o Lunch-time learn sessions launched, bringing practitioners and 
managers together around specific practice improvement 
topics and areas of interest. Over 80 colleagues attended the 
first session on neglect which was positively received. 

o Leaving Care Personal Adviser training programme in 
development and an assessment of the additional numbers 

Page 135



required to allocate a Personal adviser from age 16 has been 
incorporated into the transformation model, with a number of 
options being reviewed with the aim of delivering compliance 
and containing cost pressures within the 2023/24 MTFS 
process.

o Monthly Head of Service development sessions continue, with 
Systemic Leadership training for all Heads of Service and 
Service Managers starting in October

- Driving performance and quality
o Revised Quality Assurance and Learning Framework produced 

for consultation. 
o MASH dashboard provides weekly information on workflow and 

decision making at the Front Door.
o GSCP strategy discussion workshop, agreed actions across 

the partnership to improve timeliness and quality of strategy 
discussions and revision of the GSCP Threshold document

o Senior level meeting arranged with police to share and agree 
actions to address the themes and recommendations relating 
to the protection of children and young people identified in both 
ILACS and HMICFRS Inspections 

o Instatement of child protection 9-month check and a panel 
review of long and repeat Child Protection Plans 

o Return to in-person child protection conferences, better able to 
support family engagement and hear from participants

o Case progression of children in Public Law Outline and the 
establishment of a legal oversight and performance group

o Progression for children whose adoption was delayed by recent 
caselaw regarding regulatory compliance (Somerset judgment) 

o Direct work kits issued to social workers as part of the ‘Big 
Participation Conversation’ facilitated by Ambassadors and 
signalling the importance we place on direct work with children 
and young people. 

o Southfield House (care leaver accommodation) Project initiated
- Voice of children, young people and families

o Bright spots survey for children in care completed by 119 
children in care and 127 care leavers – results will be available 
in the Autumn

o Positive feedback lodged with our corporate team by children, 
young people, family members and partners has increased

Forthcoming quarter’s activity
This section is not designed to repeat the detailed information set out in 
the plan, it is intended to indicate next steps in terms of significant activity 
and outcomes delivery. 

The focus in the forthcoming quarter will continue to be on timeliness and 
quality of practice and on developing the role of managers to positively 
impact outcomes. This will be enabled through the implementation of the 
systemic practice programme and also through the expansion of family 

Page 136



network training and the implementation of family network meetings and 
family finding at the start and end of our work with children and families.

It is hoped that Power BI reporting will be accessible within the period, 
enabling managers through improved access to data and improved 
functionality in performance reporting. 

Service remodelling will be initiated, once approved by Corporate 
Leadership. This will be a significant step forward that, once 
implemented, will improve lines of accountability, reset spans of control, 
enable social workers by integrating early help and providing the 
administrative support needed. In a challenging financial climate, it will 
require continued corporate support through MTFS in 2023/24. 

The start of remodelling will coincide with the launch of GCC’s social care 
workforce strategy and a tender for overseas social work recruitment and 
the reset of the career progression and development pathway.

The Early Help Strategy and the vision for the local authority and partners 
to deliver a Family Hub model will grow from a series of partnership 
meetings starting this month.  It is critical that these developments are 
owned by all partners if we are to deliver on a vision of meeting need at 
the earliest point and reducing the need for specialist services over the 
longer term.  

For children in care and care leavers, the fostering transformation plan 
has been refreshed and includes plans to develop a ‘Support and 
Stability Hub’ for carers and a supported lodgings scheme for those older 
young people aged 16 and 17, often asylum seeking young people, for 
whom this is the right option. This will be augmented by a new Care 
Leaver offer, co-constructed and linked to the regional SLI offer that’s 
under development.

Conclusion
As identified by inspectors and our self-evaluation, children in 
Gloucestershire are better protected and no longer left in situations where 
they are known to be at immediate risk with the quality of services 
improving significantly over the past two to three years in particular. 
However, the service requires further development if we are to realise our 
ambitions to provide a sustainably good service to children and their 
families. The improvements set out above must be embedded if we are to 
avoid a repetition of the past 20 years in which Children’s Services have 
cycled through periods in and just out of Government intervention.   

It is intended that as we develop further, we build resilience and skill 

Page 137



Appendices

Appendix 1 Improvement Plan v2.0 2022

i The best start for life: a vision for the 1,001 critical days - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
ii Independent review of children’s social care - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
iii Child Protection in England - May 2022 (publishing.service.gov.uk)
iv Opportunity for all: strong schools with great teachers for your child - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)
v SEND review: right support, right place, right time - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

across the workforce that will begin to reduce the number of children and 
families requiring lengthy or repeat social work interventions and that we 
grow our family support offer in a way that enables families to achieve 
and maintain the changes they wish to see.  We are some distance from 
fully achieving our intentions and will require the continued support of 
partners and corporate colleagues to achieve our aims.

25.

Recommendation:

That Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee:
 Consider the content of the Improvement Plan (Appendix 1) and satisfy itself that the 

actions articulated therein can reasonably be anticipated, when delivered, to address the 
recommendations of the Ofsted inspection report and contribute to our overarching aim of 
a consistently good level of service for all children and young people. 

 Agree to receive periodic/regular updates on the progress and impact of delivery of the 
Improvement Plan

Page 138

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1078488/ALH_SH_National_Review_26-5-22.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/opportunity-for-all-strong-schools-with-great-teachers-for-your-child
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/opportunity-for-all-strong-schools-with-great-teachers-for-your-child
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/send-review-right-support-right-place-right-time


1

Work together to support families and schools to give every child the best possible chance of a remarkable life, especially those children who are disadvantaged 
and vulnerable

Right Child, Right Support, Right Time, Every Time

Social Care & Early Help Improvement – Focus on Practice

1. Introduction
Significant progress has been made in many areas of Gloucestershire’s Children’s Services since the last inspection in 2017, when the local authority was judged to be inadequate overall. However, services 
for children are not consistently good. 

Services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after, and care leavers in Gloucestershire were inspected by Ofsted in February 2022. The overall judgement was that services for these 
children ‘require improvement’. 

Our approach will consolidate the improvement to date and reset our ambition for continued improvement. We will ensure that we deliver a consistently high quality service by spreading what we do well to all 
elements of our service and the children and families we are in touch with. We must go further if we are to deliver a step-change that will build sustainably good outcomes, we will do this through leadership & 
practice development, innovation and partnership that will ensure we have met the Ofsted recommendations and responded to Ofsted’s findings .

Consolidate
What’s good already

Broaden
Spread what’s good to all 

areas

Deepen and enhance
Innovate and create to 

deliver better

This Improvement plan will be submitted to Ofsted by 15 July 2022, after it has been signed off by Cabinet on  22nd June. Thereafter, this plan will be monitored and reviewed through  the following 
governance levels:

This Continuous Improvement plan is overseen by Children’s Services SLT, updating and reporting in turn to the:
 Children’s Services Oversight Board, chaired by the Leader of the Council 
 Corporate Leadership Team  (CLT), chaired by the Chief Executive 
 Continuous Improvement Board, chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive
 Children & Families Overview Scrutiny committee

This continuous Improvement plan is our response to the five Ofsted recommendations (in bold in the plan):
 The timeliness and application of consistent thresholds for child protection strategy meetings

P
age 139



2

 The suitability of accommodation for care leavers to meet their needs, including to feel safe 
 The quality of case supervision and management
 The timeliness with which personal advisers are allocated to children, to best support their transition into adulthood 
 How well IT systems support social workers to do their jobs

This plan which focuses on practice for children Social Care and Early help, also covers areas for improvement highlighted by Ofsted and in our Self-evaluation; we have built this plan around three 
obsessions:

 Timely and skilled interventions
 Eradicate drift and delay
 Build sustainable outcomes 

• Timely and skilled interventions
• Eradicate drift and delay
• Build sustainable outcomes

3 obsessions

2. Vision, Values, Behaviours, Guiding Principles 

The vision for Gloucestershire Children Services is

Work together to support families and schools to give every child the best possible chance of a remarkable life, especially those children who are disadvantaged and vulnerable.

Right Child, right support, right time, every time

We will be accountable for our actions and decisions; be honest, learn and act with integrity; practice in a way that is respectful and empowering for children and families, enabling individuals to be the 
architects of their own solutions and will be relentless in our pursuit of excellence

For Social Care and Early Help, this means in particular  that we will:
 do everything we can to enable children and young people to thrive within their family and community, supporting independence and enabling children to grow up to live remarkable lives
 collaborate with families and partners to prevent harm and protect children and young people
 be involved when needed for as long as is needed
 promote inclusion and belonging; helping to make Gloucestershire a place where all our children and young people see their future
 act on what children and young people tell us is needed, developing services with children, young people and families 
 use language that cares
 challenge discrimination and inequality whenever we see it

Practice Principles

P
age 140



3

 We prioritise, and are responsive to, the safety and wellbeing of children and young people.
 Our interventions will be strengths based, evidence informed and proportionate, in the interests of children, young people and families, and will not over-intervene in the life of the family.  
 We will enable children to grow up within their families, unless evidenced to be harmful, and will not over-intervene in family life.
 We will empower families to identify their own solutions and support them to achieve the change they want for themselves and their children.  
 We will actively pursue engagement and involve children, parents, families and partners in our assessments, plans, decisions and interventions. Their voice will be prominent throughout.  We work ‘with’ 

children, young people, families and communities through constructive, respectful and restorative relationships.  
 Children, young people and families know more about their lives than we do, and services alone are rarely the solution.  So, by working together we aim to understand, equip, empower and enable people 

by helping them to access and use the resources inside, around and between them.   
 Children and young people will enjoy an enduring sense of legal, physical and psychological safety and stability which we call ‘permanence’.   
 Each of us is accountable for delivering an effective, and ever-improving, service in the best interests of children, young people and families.
 We value diversity and respect difference because it enriches our understanding of each other.  Our practice is therefore inclusive, ethical and anti-oppressive. 

3. Improvement Plan
Aim: Focus on Practice 
Priorities:

 Timely and skilled interventions
 Eradicate drift and delay
 Build sustainable outcome

Aim of the plan Deliver the best outcomes for children and families through building a sustainably good children’s service

Priorities                                     1. Timely and skilled interventions:
1.1 Workforce Recruitment and Retention 
1.2 Practice standards and Essentials
1.3 Virtual School and quality of ePEPs
1.4 Care Leaver accommodation & transition to adulthood
1.5 Domestic Abuse

2. Eradicate drift and delay
2.1 Quality and Pace of decision making / Supervision & Management oversight
2.2 Strategy meetings
2.3 ICT
2.4 Neglect
2.5 Extra familial harm

3. Build sustainable outcomes
3.1 Life Story work
3.2 NEET
3.3 Early Help Services
3.4 Sufficiency of placement and fostering
3.5 Family resilience 
3.6 DCYP

D A S H B O A R D
Reporting period: I m p r o v e m e n t  B o a r d  –  2 8  J u l y  2 0 2 2

Actions Status Impact Status
1. Timely and skilled interventions In progress In progress

P
age 141



4

 On target X  On target
 At risk  At risk X
 Compromised  Compromised
 Completed  Completed
In progress In progress
 On target X  On target
 At risk  At risk X
 Compromised  Compromised

2. Eradicate drift and delay

 Completed  Completed
In progress In progress X
 On target X  On target
 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

3.Build sustainable outcome

 Completed  Completed

1.1 Workforce Recruitment and Retention Lead: Ann James 

Rationale Ofsted inspection February 2022
 Some children experience too many changes of social worker. This does not help them to build a trusting relationship with their social worker 

Actions status Impact Status
In progress In progress
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status

Turnover and Agency rate remain high but Social Worker stability has improved marginally 
over the last two months (87% of children had fewer than 3 Social Workers in the last 6 
months). This is despite, 4,650 children being open to social care (at end of June) -  the 
highest number to date and is 12% higher than the monthly average prior to the pandemic 
(4,114).  At risk  At risk X

 Compromised  Compromised
Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022

 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 Reduce the numbers of changes of SW children experience so that children are able to 
build and keep sustainable relationships with social workers

 Recruit and retain experienced social work qualified staff (SWs, SSWs, APs and TMs)
 Recruit and retain ASYEs (Assessed and Supported Year in Employment)
 Ensure Gloucestershire becomes a place where social workers want to train, work and 

grow

Deliverables

 Workforce Strategy 2022/2024
 Revised career progression policy
 Improved job microsite 
 Improved HR recruitment process and on-boarding  
 Improved induction
 Promotion campaign / activities
 Frontline Management Development Programme 

Progress made this 
period:

 Following a review of best practice Workforce Strategies from other Authorities and the 
draft council Workforce Strategy for 2022-26, a comprehensive action plan has been 
created as the foundation for an overarching Workforce Strategy covering key themes and 
actions.  

 Progression pathway drafted  
 Frontline management programme are being revised to include Emerging Children’s 

Services improvement priorities, Alignment with the GCC corporate management & 
leadership offer, the Systemic Practice Supervisors programme and the DfE’s national 
Practice Supervisor Development Programme

 Director of Safeguarding is meeting with front line SW / ASYEs every Friday 

Actions next 
period:

 Finalise progression pathway and devise talent pipeline 
for accelerated succession planning. 

 Report on review of MLDP to LTM
 Finalise preferred re-modelling option
 Sign off and implement reviewed induction

P
age 142



5

 Webinar on Improvement and Transformation programme held 10 June 
 Further detailed work undertaken on remodelling (including costing)
 Induction offer reviewed (proposal to move to live event at the SW Academy and to be run 

regularly)
 The job microsite has  been relaunched and will be continually reviewed and updated. 
 A detailed 2022 plan is in place to improve recruitment process and on-boarding , this 

includes 3 & 4 weeks check-in with new starters, focus groups, etc

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Review and launch new workforce strategy, building on successes of past and amplifying those routes that evidence greatest 
impact for Gloucestershire Ann James / SWFPG / Nina Willenberg September 2022

Revise career progression policy to develop a talent pipeline into senior and advanced practitioner roles, leadership and 
management positions as part of the workforce strategy Ann James / Rob England September 2022

Improve Job microsite Catriona Dry June 2022

Improve HR recruitment process and on-boarding Catriona Dry July 2022

Tender and award new agency contract Bhavnita Patel  / Tom Underwood December 2022

Design / scope  frontline management programme (APs / TMs) Fiona Walker September 2022

Review current MLDP Fiona Walker / Rob England September 2022

Review induction offer and deliver consistent induction for all staff (permanent and agency) Rob Tyrrell / Tom Underwood September 2022

Identify what people value about working for GCC and what help them to stay Rob Tyrrell November 2022

Arrange weekly meet with the Director meeting for staff Ann James May 2022

Communication and engagement activity about Improvement and Transformation programme Children’s Service SLT / Clarisse Forgues / Sam James July 2022
Implement remodelling of  assessment and safeguarding teams as part of wider transformation to reduce handoffs and have more 
manageable workloads Ann James / Areas Directors September 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Job microsite relaunch
Induction offer signed of by SWFPG
Workforce strategy signed off
Revised career progression launched
Implement remodelling of assessment and safeguarding teams

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Turnover (overall) 13% 25% 13% 24.9
% 13% 24% 13% 25.6

%
Turnover Frontline workers (SW/SSW/AP) 13% 25.1

0% 13% 25.4
3% 13% 24.2

9% 13% 23.9
3%

% of children with fewer than 3 Social 
Workers in 6 months 80% 84% 90% 85.7

% 90% 85.9
% 90% 87%

Agency rate (overall) 15% 35% 15% 34.7
% 15% 34% 15% 34.5

%
Agency rate (SW/SSW/AP) 15% 33.6

% 15% 35.1
6% 15% 33.9

% 15% 34.5
3%

P
age 143



6

Number of new starters (external) in 
month, SW only 0 1 1 0

Number of new starters (internal 
promotions or movers) in month, SW only 4 2 5 7

Number of ASYE recruited (12 month) 33 32 31 31
Number of ASYE retained 1 year + (12 
month) 56 54

1.2 Practice Standards and Essentials Lead: Ann James

Rationale

Ofsted inspection February 2022:
 For a minority of children, assessments are not always completed in a timely way. Therefore, some children’s experiences within their family are not understood early enough 

and their needs and risks not fully identified or responded to as quickly as they could be. 
 For some children a lack of timescales in plans limits how well progression can be monitored. 
 A minority of children’s plans lack focus on their specific needs and are built on generic actions rather than outcomes and aspirations for children. 
 There are a small number of pathway plans that are not always updated when young people’s circumstances change. 
 Some pathway plans do not routinely include the input of other involved agencies and parties, and this is a missed opportunity to gather partnership views and to share 

information. 
 When learning is identified from audits that the local authority rates as stronger, there is currently no system for using this to further improve services for those children whose 

cases have been audited. This is a lost opportunity.
Actions status Impact Status

In progress In progress
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status

Improvement has not been sustained in the current quarter (to date), with practice rated as 
inadequate increasing from 8% to 15% (target is 9%). Practice rated good or better has remained 
static at 37% against the same rate in Q4 21/22.  In the last year, the rate of practice rated as 
good or outstanding has fluctuated from 31% to 44% and has yet to achieve the target of 50%.  

 At risk  At risk X
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 Improve the quality and impact of social work practice:
o Timely, purposeful visiting and direct work which champions the voice of the child
o Assessment of needs, risks and circumstances reflect the Essentials ‘Anchor’ and 

‘Risk’ principles
o C-SMART, adaptive and effective planning and reviewing 
o Records are written with a view that the young person or their family may request and 

need to understand this information in the future.
o Up to date, clear and comprehensive recording

Deliverables

 Practice standards aligned with QA framework and 
systemic principles and provides clear expectations to 
SWs / TMs

 Best practice library / webinars / workshops aligned to 
practice standards

 ICS system enabling consistent recording and data 
collection

 “Conditions for Success“ based on Learnings from 
Good  / Outstanding audits 

Progress made this 
period:

 Direct Work Kits for Social Workers and Family Support Workers who work in Teams that 
do direct work with children & young people have been created. these kits are designed to 
spark creativity when working with a child or young person, our goal is to get the most out 
of direct work and always ensure the child's voice is the focus’. In addition, each team will 
have £50 to spend on resources as part of your team/locality resource library which will be 
made up of more expensive items which can be shared and built up.  

 The Direct Work Kits are delivered to teams as part of The Big Participation 
Conversation, a facilitated meeting by Ambassadors with locality/service. The Big 
Participation Conversation started in the Forest and Tewkesbury Localities and were well 
received.  

 Attendance data submitted each month and reported to Academy Board
 Practice Standards have been revised to include Systemic Practice and the Vision, Values 

and Principles.  

Actions next 
period:

 Further Big Participation Conversation in localities
 Revised Practice Standards to be combined with Early 

Help standards and have EDI integrated.
 Develop implementation plan for SSR

P
age 144



7

 The QA process focuses on the respective sections (Risk, Assessment, Planning, 
Purposeful Visiting, and Management Oversight) of the Essentials 2.0 principles.  These 
areas are highlighted in the Quality of Practice section of the QA report. 

 Model for SSR has been developed

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Workshop on SMART planning (Essentials) Simon Rushall November 2022

Incorporate SMART planning into revised SW induction, Y2 ASYE offer and management development programme Rob England / Simon Rushall September 2022
Produce monthly Essential attendance and completion report for HofS Increase completion rate / percentage of SWs having completed 
Essentials Sarah Cairns May 2022

Develop practice standards for Social Care and Early Help, including quality and compliance with regard to equality and diversity Rob England / SW Academy September 2022

Heads of Service to sign off staff non-attendance to training Increase rate of training attendance through Academy HofS April 2022

Review QA process to focus on Essentials evidence and impact / monitor through QAF Rob England / SW Academy June 2022

Review Practice fundamentals and Essentials delivery model and develop consistent expectations Leadership team / Rob England September 2022

Identify best practice by using performance data, audit  and other quality feedback tools Rob Tyrrell / SW Academy September 2022 

Develop focused workshops etc (SSR model) to highlight learning points /conditions for success in line with the revised QAF Rob Tyrrell / SW Academy September 2022 
Establish a quality group to close the loop of learning from practice, performance and audit (including learning panel and lunchtime learn 
opportunities to disseminate and celebrate best practice) Rob England / Simon Rushall October 2022

Direct Work Kits for all social workers and Family Support workers as well as funding to purchase resources for a locality/service resource 
library Ann James / Ambassadors June 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Practice standards signed off 
Practice standards disseminated
QA process / framework reviewed and signed off 
Programme / schedule of learning panels and lunch time learning 
opportunities in place

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Rate of inadequate audits 9% 7% 9% 17% 9% 13% 9% 16%
Rate of good / outstanding audits 50% 41% 50% 33% 50% 43% 50% 39%
SMART planning (Percentage of plans 
evaluated as ‘Good’ or better) 50% 27% 50% 29% 50% 51% 50% 50%

Quality of assessment (QA report) – 
rated as a percentage of assessments 
evaluated as ‘Good’ or better.

50% 32% 50% 31% 50% 50% 50% 50%

% of Single Assessments completed 
within 45 w.days 90% 81.6

% 90% 78.8
% 90% 81.4

% 90% 80.8
%

% of Children in Need with a plan in 
place within 10 w.days of assessment 
completion or step down

95% 52.5
% 95% 66% 95% 54% 95% 61.5

%

% of eligible staff  who have completed  
Essentials 2 (3 modules) 48% 48%

P
age 145



8

Attendance overall to learning 
opportunities 50% 71%

1.3 Virtual School and quality of ePEP Lead: Clare Dudman

Rationale Ofsted inspection February 2022
 The quality of PEPs remains mixed and many are weak

Actions status Impact Status
In progress In progress X
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status

The new EPEP system has been in place since April 25th . Regular dip sampling are taking 
place to assess quality / standards of the PEPs.

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022
 Completed  Completed

Objectives
 Increase quality of PEPS: SMART target, SMART outcomes
 PEPs are more effectively co-constructed between VS/SW and Schools
 PEPs are fully compliant with statutory responsibilities 

Deliverables

 Enhanced audit and QA process
 Training sessions
 Guidance for high quality SMART targets and outcomes
 Good practice library  

Progress made this 
period:

 EPEP system in place since April 25th

 Review e-pep platform pilot and full roll out has been completed
Actions next 
period:  End of term QA 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Review e-pep platform pilot and full roll out Jane Featherstone April 2022
Develop the EPEP so that data related to ensuring children and young people in care make progress is a mandatory section of the EPEP Jane Featherstone September 2022
Develop training for all professionals to ensure EPEPS meet the standard and EPEPS include SMART targets Jane Featherstone September 2022

PEP standards and quality assurance process to be reviewed Clare Dudman September 2022

Review structure of the virtual school to ensure there is sufficient administrative support to free consultants to offer direct support for PEPs Clare Dudman October 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Roll-out of E-pep platform completed
Training delivery
Monthly dip sampling
Reshaped Virtual school structure signed off

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

P
age 146



9

Percentage of completed EPEP meeting 
the required standards (data provided at 
end of term)

90% 90% 90% 87.6
5% 90%

Completion for 1st PEP within 20 days 95% 95% 100
% 95% 50% 95% 70%

1.4 Care Leavers’ accommodation & transition to adulthood Lead: Mark Bone

Rationale

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 Personal advisers (PAs) are not allocated to care experienced young people until after their 18th birthday. 
 Care experienced young people spoken to by inspectors were not aware of the offer, nor was there evidence of their awareness in their electronic case files. 
 A few care experienced young people over 18 do not live in suitable accommodation. On a very few occasions this has included bed and breakfast accommodation. A few 

young people live in such unsuitable accommodation for too long. 
 Not all care experienced young people feel safe where they are living when in unsuitable accommodation. 
 When young people live in homes of multiple occupancy, the potential risks that may be posed to them and others from shared living are not fully considered or recorded. 

Actions status Impact Status
In progress In progress X
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status

Most care experienced young people live in homes categorised as ‘suitable’ (91.6%). 
Work has re-started on the Social Care remodelling following the Ofsted inspection. Options 
are being reviewed and will be finalised over the summer. We are aiming for a model which 
allow us to allocate  a PA to all eligible children / young people  At risk  At risk

 Compromised  Compromised
Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022

 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 Accommodation for care leavers is suitable to meet their needs, including to feel 
safe (Ofsted recommendation)

 Personal advisers are  allocated to children from age 16, to best support their 
transition into adulthood (Ofsted recommendation).

 Care leavers are well aware of the Offer and it meets their needs

Deliverables

 Revised and published Care Leaver Offer 2022/23
 Guidance for young people to understand their rights is 

provided and recorded
 Revised protocol / agreement with Housing / Districts to 

meet the accommodation needs of care leavers
 Revised Sufficiency strategy outlining development of 

supported accommodation for care leavers
 Training programme for Leaving Care PAs (Personal 

Advisers)

Progress made this 
period:

 Care Leaver offer is being refreshed with input from young people
 Protocol with districts for 16-17 presenting homeless has been  drafted 
 Further work undertaken for the Protocol for Care Leavers to ensure it is ambitious enough
 Request to join regional network has been submitted
 BrightSpot survey in train (closing date end of July)
 Refresher training delivered to staff in relation to importance of up to date recording,  risk 

assessment  for CYP in emergency / Multiple occupancy 
 Ambassadors Instagram account was launched in May. Promotion has been through 

Participation Offer Packs given to foster carers to share with their young people, a letter to 
care leavers and through forums and activities for children in care and care leavers. 

 The Ambassadors arranged 3 events between March and June , these events were an 
opportunity for Ambassadors to promote the 16+/care leavers forum as well gaining 
information about the peer mentoring project and Ambassador recruitment and to complete 
the Bright Spot survey as well as opportunity for Young people to bond and increase their 
self esteem in particular. 

Actions next 
period:

 Publish care leaver offer
 Sign off protocol for 16-17 presenting homeless (SLT 

and Strategic district networks)
 Finalise protocol for Care Leavers
 The next YP event booked for 19th July will initiate 

discussions about planning for the Care Leavers 
Celebration Event and housing issues lead by 
Ambassadors.

 Report on Housing Needs of Care Experienced Young 
people to CPG at end of July

 Draft  Sufficiency strategy to be shared  over the 
summer,  and go to Cabinet  in September 2022

 Ambassadors to be trained during the summer to do 
joint QA assessment of properties from the autumn

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 

P
age 147



10

 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Launch of Instagram to communicate with children in care and care leavers including local offer information Ambassadors May 2022

Refresh care leaver offer Mark Bone September 2022
Establish new forum for 16+/Care Leavers  (opportunity to gather feedback and get the views of care leavers as well as providing them with 
information e.g the local offer) Ambassadors November2022

Develop protocol with Districts and other accommodation providers in relation to care leavers accommodation (e.g. allocating a percentage 
of new housing to care leavers) ensuring sufficient safe and suitable homes are available to them Chris Spencer / Mark Bone September 2022

Engage with and deliver regional offer to care leavers (regional SLI approach) Ann James / Mark Bone September 2022

Amend LCS Pathway Plan to prompt record that the offer has been shared Mark Bone / Julie Miles September 2022

Add to audit process and / or dip sample Care Leavers Offer and CL experience Rob England December 2022 
Develop practice standard for accommodation and Pathway Planning with young people and partner input to include increasing staying put 
and further developing staying close options Rob England / SW Academy September 2022

Implement the Social care remodelling project as part of the Transformation programme to ensure there will be sufficient PAs to allocate to 
all eligible children / young people Ann James September 2022

Remodel 11+ Service, to deliver distinct leaving care teams Ann James September 2022
Devise and deliver tailored Leaving Care Personal Adviser training via GCC’s Social Work Academy (to include SMART planning, and risk 
management approaches) SW Academy / Rob England January 2023

Capture care leaver experience (BrightSpot Your Life Beyond Care) and use feedback to shape further improvements Mark Bone November 2022
Revise and launch a new Placement Sufficiency Strategy that will include:

• Delivery of Southfield House – a new 30 supported accommodation provision located in Stroud and modelled on the award 
winning Trevone House 

• Development of a supported lodgings scheme 
• Develop a wider range of housing options to meet the needs of YP

Wendy Williams September 2022 

Work with care experienced young people and our Ambassadors to design an accommodation improvement project that builds from their 
experiences (including developing of a “virtual estate agent” to support tenancies and ensure safe and suitable accommodation can be 
maintained)

Wendy Williams / Della Keith October 2022

Ambassadors to carry out Quality Assurance Joint visits to housing providers to get direct feedback from young people Ambassadors November 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Launch of 2022/2023 care leaver offer
Develop and deliver comms strategy for care leavers
Website for care leavers updated 
Sign off protocol with Districts
Sign off Revised Sufficiency strategy outlining supported 
accommodation for care leavers
Dip sample that local offer is recorded on young people file

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Percentage of files where Local offer 
discussion have been recorded on LL  
(in development)
% Care leaver in suitable 
accommodation 95% 93.1

% 95% 89.8
% 95% 89.3

% 95% 91.6
%

Number of PA posts (people) 22 24
Percentage of Care leavers with PA 
allocated at 16  (in development)

P
age 148



11

Percentage of Care leavers with PA 
allocated at 17 (in development)

100
%

100
%

% of children in care aged 16 years and 
3 months or over with an up-to-date 
Pathway plan

90% 73.1
% 90% 71.8

% 90% 67%

1.5 Domestic Abuse Lead: Ann James

Rationale

 Findings of Domestic Homicide Reviews.
 Recent death by suicide attributed to Domestic Abuse.  
 Impact of Domestic Abuse on children, their parents and carers.
 Children and Adult Scrutiny committees have met in April 2022 to reinforce commitment to work on Domestic Abuse and respond to Central Government priorities and 

changes in legislation and guidance.
Actions status Impact Status

In progress In progress X
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status

On-going work in place to raise awareness of the impacts of DA on children and young people. 
Too early for impacts to show.

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 To improve Social Work Practice with families where domestic abuse is prevalent. 
 To increase take up of Domestic Abuse Training by Social Workers and Family Support 

Workers
 To develop direct work tools to work with children and parents experiencing domestic 

abuse.
 To strengthen multi-agency and leadership support for all activities and interventions which 

respond to domestic abuse in its many forms
 To improve response to perpetrators
 To explore services for under 13 years old – an identified gap

Deliverables

 Workshops on outcome of LCSPRs and Domestic 
Homicide Reviews to inform and develop front line  
practice and become part of lunch-time training 
programme

 Essentials Training on Domestic Abuse 
 Workshops on Domestic Abuse as part of lunchtime 

learning sessions. 
 Family hub developed to support children & families 

who are victim  of DV

Progress made this 
period:

 GSCP talk on Domestic Abuse and Homicide led by Jane Mockton Smith, attended by 
about 130 people from across the partnership

 Work undertaken with MASH to ensure impact on children of DA is used at the morning 
MASH meeting

Actions next 
period:

 Film being produced about how to support women in the 
community 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Contribute to wider strategic work on domestic abuse including working with GSCP for partnership training Kanchan Jadeja / GSCP April 2022

Development of direct work tools to work with children and parents experiencing domestic abuse. Kanchan Jadeja / Rob Tyrrell December 2022

MASH review on work with domestic abuse. Claire Connolly September 2022

Identify leadership champion for Domestic Abuse work. Ann James September 2022

LCSPR session delivered to children’s leadership team Kanchan Jadeja / Dave Jones September 2022

Presentation of Domestic Abuse work to Children’s Scrutiny committee Kanchan Jadeja March 2023

Develop children’s centre and family hub Wendy Williams July 2023

P
age 149



12

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

MASH review on work with domestic abuse.
Direct tools developed and disseminated
Quarterly audit / dip sample

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% age of practitioners who have 
completed the domestic abuse module 
(data available when cohort completed)

9% 9%

% age of files demonstrating use of 
direct work tools  and / or application of 
Essential Domestic abuse training 
(quarterly dip sampling)

2.1 Quality and Pace of Decision making / Supervision & Management oversight Lead: Ann James

Rationale

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 Plans are not always informed by sufficient or clear management direction. 
 Managers who have the initial oversight of referrals about children do not record a clear rationale for decisions about next steps for social workers. 
 Some children experience repeated contacts and referrals before they get the help they need. 
 Lack of management oversight have led to delays in progressing child protection and child in need plans for some children. 
 The frequency and quality of the case supervision received by social workers are variable. In too many children’s cases, it lacks reflective analysis and sufficient management 

direction. Records are lacking in challenge where there is delay and rarely reflect children’s experiences as well as they should. 
 For some children who are privately fostered there is a lack of clarity about children’s living arrangements and what needs to happen. Most children experience a delay in 

initial visiting with no rationale as to why. There is a lack of manager oversight to address these issues to make improvements for children. 
 For a minority of children, there is a lack of timely management oversight to approve supervision order, return home to parents. 
 The quality of social work supervision across teams is inconsistent and needs to improve. Although supervision is generally timely, it does not consistently provide social 

workers with time to reflect on the progress they are making for individual children or always give them the added direction they need from their managers. 
 Actions identified by audits are not always followed through and managers do not monitor implementation to ensure that learning from audits is used to drive progress. 

Actions status Impact Status

In progress In progress

 On target X  On target
Comment about 
overall status

The number of contacts being received remains high (2,788 in June compared with a monthly 
average of 2,177 in 2019/20). 
Timeliness of initial and end-to-end decision making continues to underperform (63% and 69% 
respectively against a target of 90%). Decisions were timely for 83% of children whose contact 
was Red rated.
Timely supervision of children’s case progress, evidencing practice oversight, improved for the 
third month (83% up from 76%). This is the highest performance since June 2021 but remains 
below target (95%). 

 At risk  At risk X

 Compromised  Compromised
Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022

 Completed  Completed

Objectives
 Management oversight is robust, timely and evident to ensure:

- Team managers set C-SMART actions with a clear rationale and review at an early 
stage.

Deliverables  Review current Management Oversight Tool 
 Reviewed supervision policy

P
age 150



13

- Team managers ensure that plans are progressed in a timely way and where not, they 
will take remedial action. 

- Team managers ensure that actions they set and action agreed through audit are 
completed in a timely way.

 Team managers and social workers prioritise protected time within which they are tasked, 
guided, advised, challenged and supported through supervision which enables them to 
deliver effective practice through progressing work effectively and in a timely way.

 Where there are repeated delays for children, leaders will analyse this to understand the 
reasons and take  appropriate action

 Private Fostering to be recognised and responded to at an early stage so that children and 
carers needs are assessed and met. Ensure there is a consistent understanding of the 
legal framework for private fostering

 Revised frontline manager training programme to 
include focus on quality, timely management oversight 
and supervision

 Private Fostering plan -  awareness raising and training 
in GCC policy and statutory framework

Progress made this 
period:

  Revision of MASH structure to establish DTMs and process to ensure management 
oversight is recorded from the outset has been completed. Interviews are taking place 

 Proportionate assessment timescales at point of allocation are in place
 Workshops with TM on management oversight and supervision have been completed; 

attended by all operational management teams – localities and permanence.
 Audit of Private fostering and reg 24 have been completed
 The supervision policy has been reviewed and it is recommended this be notably refreshed 

with a clear emphasis on practice reflections and management oversight and how these are 
incorporated into the supervisory function.  After considerable difficulties in obtaining the 
relevant clinical support, we have recently agreed sessional 5hrs per week of clinical 
support to staff.  We will scope out the best use of this resource through July and 
implement a clear routine from August.

 Supervision records are being reviewed in view of changing the format, making it easier to 
record management oversight

 Monthly report to LTM on proceeding. Quarterly meetings set up, these will be chaired by 
Ann, to ensure Director oversight .

 Private Fostering team manager appointed
 Private Fostering video produced and launched
 Support worker recruited to track Reg 24 checks / reference to increase timeliness 

Actions next 
period:

 Scope out the best use of this clinical support resource 
through July and implement a clear routine from August

 1st quarterly proceeding meeting to be held (chaired by 
Ann)

 Private fostering TM to start in August 
 Complete the revision of QA framework

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Revise structure to establish DTMs within C-SPA and process to ensure management oversight is recorded from the outset Claire Connelly April 2022

Amend recording system to enable management direction to be recorded clearly Julie Miles September 2022

Introduce proportionate assessment timescales and management direction to set these at point of allocation Ann James / Heads of Service September 2022

Private Fostering awareness raising and process re-launch Tammy Wheatley July 2022
Review supervision policy and revise GCC’s practice standard for supervision and management oversight

• Introduce clinical and group supervision to support us to embed our systemic social work practice model (systemic social work) Rob England / SW Academy September 2022

Workshops with TM on management oversight and supervision  (use and recording of reflective analysis in supervision, the use and 
recording of the child’s voice and experience, constructive feedback and challenge, and the provision of clear direction) Simon Rushall March 2022

Develop oversight of care proceedings, embed PLO and court case progression and panel arrangements and continue to monitor impact Julie Miles May 2022 

Embed QA audit process in relation to audit actions (Peer review)  and develop Annual schedule for quality assurance and audit activities Simon Rushall / Rob England August 2022

To undertake audit of Private fostering and reg 24 Rob England / Tammy Wheatley / Simon Rushall June 2022

Implement observation of supervision to facilitate learning for both the supervisor and supervisee Heads of Service November 2022
Remodel services to ensure the span of control for every leader supports the ability to deliver high quality supervision and management 
oversight (max of 6 FTE practitioners and target workload of 90 - 116 children/young people) Ann James September 2022 

Monitor compliance on a monthly basis and quality on a quarterly basis in line with revised Quality Assurance Framework, using 
appreciative enquiry to share the good examples identified Rob England July 2022 

P
age 151



14

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Revise structure to establish DTMs and process to ensure 
management oversight is recorded from the outset (MASH – 
CSPA)
Quarterly Care Proceeding meeting chaired by Director
2nd cohort Team Manager Management and Leadership 
Programme
Service manager leadership programme
Refreshed QA framework signed off
Reviewed supervision policy signed off

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% of Initial contact decisions made 
within 24 hours 90% 65.4

% 90% 70.5
% 90% 69.3

% 90% 62.8
%

Percentage of children open to Social 
Care who have an up-to-date case 
supervision

95% 76% 95% 77.5
% 95% 83.2

% 95% 83.1
%

Percentage of social work 
professionals reported as having a 
professional supervision in the month 
(Tom U report)

95% 91% 95% 91% 95% 92% 95% 91%

Management oversight: percentage of 
‘Good’ or better oversight & 
supervision (QA report)

50% 36% 50% 35% 50% 45% 50% 43%

% of audit actions from previous 
month within timescale 80% 31% 80% 36% 80% 25% 80% 15%

PDR completion rate (SW/AP/ 
ASYE/TM)

23.9
%

18.6
%

19.2
%

21.4
%

% of children for whom pre-
proceedings were completed within 26 
weeks (Rolling Year)

80% 57.3
% 80% 58.5

% 80% 62.3
% 80% 62.3

%

% of children for whom court 
proceedings were completed within 26 
weeks (Rolling Year)

60% 28.2
% 60% 30.8

% 60% 27.7
% 60% 28.6

%

Numbers of Team managers having 
completed the Team Manager 
Management and Service Managers 
having completed the Leadership 
Programme (data provided once 
cohorts have finished the training)

17 17 17 17

2.2 Strategy Meetings Lead: Karen Goulding 

Rationale
Ofsted inspection February 2022

 When safeguarding concerns are identified, managers do not ensure that consistent thresholds are applied to convene child protection strategy meetings and investigations. 
 When children already have a social worker and new concerns emerge, there are sometimes delays in arranging child protection strategy meetings.

Actions status Impact Status
Comment about 
overall status

The growth in the number of children subject to a protection plan has been significant, rising 
25.5% since March 2020 (almost 200 children). In May, there were 897 children subject to a 
protection plan. In progress In progress

P
age 152



15

 On target X  On targetThe pace of Strategy Discussions has been following a declining trend since October (68% 
against a target of 85% and down from 92%). The change in performance appears to coincide 
with the change to move co-ordination of Strategy Discussions out of the C-SPA and into 
locality/service area teams. The impact on performance needs to be understood.  

 At risk  At risk X

 Compromised  Compromised
Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022

 Completed  Completed

Objectives
 Child protection strategy meetings are timely (Ofsted recommendation)
 Consistent thresholds are applied for child protection strategy meetings (Ofsted 

recommendation)
Deliverables

 Multi agency project group
 Diagnostic / Review of Strategy meeting process
 Workshops with staff and partners
 Revised Gloucestershire threshold document
 Refreshed Strategy meeting process and protocol
 LL forms for Strategy requests and minutes launched

Progress made this 
period:

 Performance deep dive undertaken to understand the problem
 Workshops with TM on management on oversight and supervision  took place, it covered in 

particular feedback and challenge, and the provision of clear direction – this was attended 
by all operational teams (Safeguarding & Permanence).

 Multi Agency group set up and due to meet 13 July 2022

Actions next 
period:

 Meeting of the MA group
 Review threshold documents strategies flowchart and 

principles

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Establish multi-agency task and finish group Karen Goulding /Ann James / Julie Miles / Claire Connolly June 2022

Partners workshops to review threshold documents strategies flowchart and principles Ann James / Julie Miles / Claire Connolly / Karen Goulding September 2022
Revise threshold document, protocols and processes to ensure strategies discussions are held at appropriate time Ann James / Julie Miles / Claire Connolly / Karen Goulding October 2022
Deliver a series of multiagency workshops to ensure revisions are disseminated and expectations are clear GSCP / Dave Jones September 2022 
Review of approach to minuting and circulation of notes of strategy meetings Tom Underwood September 2022
Develop / amend and launch LL forms Julie Miles October 2022
Workshop with TMs to help sum up comprehensively information (need to be clear and defendable) Simon Rushall April 2022 
Use PSW and Heads of Service to observe strategy meetings to ensure compliance and identify concerns Karen Goulding / Rob Tyrrell November 2022

Undertake a quarterly, multiagency audit to test and learn from progress Rob England / GSCP December 2022 

Report to GSCP and Continuous Improvement Board Ann James November 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Multi agency project group established
Workshops with partners
Sign off refreshed strategy meeting process
All staff and partners comms
MA Audit
Report to GSCP

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% of Strategy discussions that took 
place within 5 w.days 90% 76% 90% 75.2

% 90% 71.5
% 90% 67.6

%

P
age 153



16

Timeliness of strategy meetings for new 
children  / open referral 

90% 77% 90% 76% 90% 71% 90% 66%

Timeliness of strategy meetings for 
children already allocated to a SW  /  
CIN-CP-CIC

90%
83%

90%
74%

90%
66%

90%
71%

2.3 ICT Lead: Andy Dempsey/Karl Grocock

Rationale

The Ofsted inspection (February 2022) highlighted some concerns about ICT as it supports effective practice:
 There remains a gap in what can be delivered to ensure that frontline managers have consistent access to up-to-date information that enables them to do their jobs 

effectively. This, alongside system stability and accessibility, continues to have an impact on progress. 
 These challenges also have a negative impact on the generally positive morale of staff. They are a very real frustration for staff as they can sometimes hamper their ability to 

do their jobs as efficiently and effectively as they otherwise might.
Actions status Impact Status

In progress In progress X
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status

There is a corporate ICT development plan which aims to address the future ICT of GCC. This 
will provide the context for the specific Children’s Services programme to address the concerns 
of Ofsted and enable practitioners to undertake work with children and families in an agile 
manner.

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 To address the Ofsted recommendation ‘IT systems support well social workers to do 
their jobs.’

 To ensure practitioners have reliable and predicable access to the ICT tools they need for 
their work and improve their confidence in these tools

 To support and facilitate practitioners’ face to face and direct working with children and 
family in the context of ‘agile working’ 

 To ensure managers and practitioners have consistent access to up-to-date data.
 To ensure practitioners are ICT aware and able to confidently exploit ICT capabilities to the 

full. 

Deliverables

 Reliable and Predicable access to ICT tools
 Specific plan to increase ICT reliability and access in 

the Social Work Academy
 Regular (daily) performance data available / web 

reporting
 Programme for LL enhancements/amendments agreed 

by CS SLT and supported by revised governance 
arrangements. 

 Options appraisal completed of software/hardware 
necessary to support agile direct work with children and 
families such as PDAs, portable printers, electronic 
memory box etc.

 Tailored ICT training programme for Practitioners.

Progress made this 
period:

 An initial scoping meeting with CS SLT and ICT leads to scope out the improvement 
programme has been held in early June. 

 The web / data reporting has moved back to being available daily since beginning of June 
but this is not yet consistent

 Further work completed on List 8 (this is now run from LL and is 87% populated with URNs)
 Started drafted protocol on where documents should be saved on LL
 Upgrade to children’s Liquid Logic to version 15

Actions next 
period:

 Develop and agree business as usual process for List 8
 Data cleansing of List 8
 Draw list of Children’s service requirements in terms of 

software and hardware for Agile and Direct work
 Finalise protocol about where documents should be 

saved on LL
 M365 personal productivity and collaboration  

communication to be available in July
 Whole council M365 training (mid July to mid 

September)
 Review of processes relating to course bookings and 

tracking attainments for SW Academy

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale

P
age 154



17

Deliver corporate ICT plan to increase ICT system stability and access:
 Roll-out Microsoft office 365
 Network improvement to GCC buildings (Shire Hall and locality office)
 Move e-mails and calendar to cloud
 New BT connection for Home Working
Whole council training to use One Drive and Share Point

Karl Grocock March 2023

Develop plan to increase ICT reliability and access in the Social Work Academy Karl Grocock September 2022

Identify and implement actions to meet List 1-11 reporting and restore regular (daily) performance data. Clarisse Forgues / Andy Dowden / Nick Taylor July 2022

Explore options for LL hosting Chris Spencer & Mandy Quayle September 2022

Develop and sign off programme enhancements/amendments to LL Children’s Service SLT November  2022

Review LL governance arrangements Andy Dempsey & Mandy Quayle September 2022

Implement LL enhancements/amendments programme LL / Andy Dowden December 2022 

Develop guidance where documents should be stored in LL Julie Miles November 2022
Support completion of options appraisal for the software/hardware necessary to support agile, direct work with children and families – 
PDAs, portable printers electronic memory box etc. Karl Grocock October 2022 

Develop and deliver tailored ICT training programme for CS Practitioners. Karl Grocock December 2022 

Explore options to make best use of Controcc and Capita Karl Grocock December 2022 

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Initial scoping meeting with CS SLT and ICT leads to scope out 
the improvement programme
Web reporting moved back to daily
Network improvement in remaining GCC building (completed 
by December 2022)
Sign off ICT improvement plan for SW Academy
Move to exchange online and migrating mailboxes (to improve 
the stability of the Network and performance)  
Implementation of BT connection for Home working 
LL upgrade
LL hosting options signed off
Refreshed LL governance signed off
Whole council training (One Drive and SharePoint)
Pulse survey of practitioners 
Delivery of tailored ICT training for CS practitioners

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Number of P1 incidents 1 3 1 0 1 2 1 1
Number of P2 incidents 7 6 5 4
Response time to Priority 1 issues raised 
via ServiceNow (4 hours)

100
%

100
%

100
%

100
%

100
%

100
%

100
%

100
%

Response time to Priority 2 issues raised 
via ServiceNow (10 hours) 95% 83% 95% 100

% 95% 93% 95% 66%

Response time to Priority 3 issues raised 
via ServiceNow (20 hours) 95% 57% 95% 52% 95% 49% 95% 53%

P
age 155



18

Response time to Priority 4 issues raised 
via ServiceNow (50 hours) 90% 84% 90% 82% 90% 75% 90% 74%

2.4 Neglect Lead: Kanchan Jadeja

Rationale
Neglect is a key driver for our safeguarding work and we are working to embed our use of the “Neglect Toolkit”. Commencing at the point of contact, the “Neglect Toolkit” is opened 
with the Assessment Teams as necessary. This has been supported by a series of roadshows and workshop activities to explore how the Toolkit can inform our assessment, 
planning, intervention and review processes. The recent audit of contacts into MASH highlighted the low levels of use of the Neglect Toolkit by partners across the system. Work is 
now underway via the Safeguarding Partnership to explore how this can be improved, including embedding thematic issues such as neglect within exiting partner processes. 

Actions status Impact Status
In progress In progress
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status

The Neglect toolkit continues to be under-utilised at contact. Of the 137 contacts relating to 
Neglect from professional referral sources in June, neglect toolkits were completed for 12 
children (9%). 

 At risk  At risk X
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022
 Completed  Completed

Objectives  Better identification and response when there are concerns about neglect
 Increase and embed use of Neglect toolkit across the partnership Deliverables

 Network of Champion across partner organisations
 Roadshow to promote use
 Workshops to develop practice
 Essential training module

Progress made this 
period:

 “Neglect” toolkit has been rebranded “Quality of Care Profile”
 Lunch time learning sessions planned and dates agreed
 Academy currently working with (GSCP) and Kanchan Jadeja develop the Essentials 

Neglect module. 

Actions next 
period:

 The neglect lunchtime learns will be Hybrid sessions 
open to all staff and will start in Early August 

 Re-launch of the toolkit
 Paper to GSCP QUIP in July (12 July) for discussion on 

re brand and launch

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Work with GCSP partners to review our understanding of and approach to neglect, re-launching and re-naming the ‘neglect toolkit’ Kanchan Jadeja and GSCP / Dave Jones August 2022

Essentials module developed and delivered SW Academy October 2022

Re-launch toolkit working with families, partners and ambassadors as a web-based tool Kanchan Jadeja / Emma Trigwell and GSCP / Dave Jones October 2022

Deliver multiagency practice workshops (lunch-time learn, linked to the neglect bitesize briefing) Kanchan Jadeja and GSCP / Dave Jones October 2022 

Develop QA framework to evaluate implementation and use (compliance and impact) Rob England July 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Delivery Essential Training Neglect module
Multi agency workshops
Lunchtime learning

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

P
age 156



19

%age of Neglect toolkit used at contact 6% 2% 5% 9%
Attendance to lunchtime learning

Attendance to MA workshops

2.5 Extra familial harm Lead: Claire Connolly

Rationale Positive feedback received from Ofsted on our response to CCE, CSE, missing however, we know we need to continue to improve in these areas.

Actions status Impact Status
In progress In progress X
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status Good progress made – All deliverable should be achieved by the end of the year

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022
 Completed  Completed

Objectives
 Improve early identification and prevention 
 Better identification and multi agency response when there are concerns about exploitation
 Deliver the working together tackle exploitation strategy (GSCP)

Deliverables

 Information sharing agreement and data analysis
 MACE Hub terms of reference and implementation plan
 Clear pathway for children, families , partners, C-SPA 

and localities 
 Interoperable multi agency hub 

Progress made this 
period:

 Pilot locality hub meeting underway in Cheltenham
 The multi-agency partnership has established an agreed set of principles for supporting 

young people at risk of Extra-Familial Harm (EFH).  Pathways for individual young people 
have been drafted and are pending return to the multi-agency partners for consideration. 

 Work is in train with a stakeholder group to co-produce practice expectations to inhabit 
these pathways.  All 3 components (Principles, Pathways & Practice) will be combined into 
a single paper for submission to the GSCP.  Once confirmed we will be able to progress to 
implementation.

 Pilot work with Police in  Gloucester (operation Dove – focus on exploitation and knife 
crime)

 Reviewed and redeveloped screening tool  to allow data informed approach  

Actions next 
period:

 Rolling out hub meeting to Tewkesbury . 
 Sign off pathways for individual young people
 Develop practice expectations 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Review resources and service configuration to deliver the newly launched CCE Strategy and ensure we are able to respond to changes in 
risk and demand amongst this cohort Claire Connolly October 2022

Develop a data informed approach to enable early identification and prevention at every level Claire Connolly October 2022

Develop and implement MACE Hub and locality meetings Claire Connolly September 2022

Establish clear pathways Rob England December 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Launch of Exploitation Strategy
Sign off detailed implementation plan for the strategy

P
age 157



20

Implement MACE Hub, Locality meetings, pathways

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Number of professionals accessing 
awareness raising events/training for 
professionals  (in development)
MA attendance at locality meeting 
(quarterly)
% of missing episodes where there has 
been a return interview 85% 49.3

% 85% 69.1
% 85% 55% 85% 47.1

%
% of return interviews which took place 
with 72 hours of the missing episode 80% 64.9

% 80% 52.3
% 80% 56.5

% 80% 73.6
%

3.1 Life Story work Lead: Tammy Wheatley

Rationale

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 For most children who have been looked after for many years, there is very little evidence of life-story work to help them to understand their journeys into care or to assist 

them to make sense of any trauma they may have experienced before coming into care. 
 Children’s later-life letters are generally not sufficiently sensitively written. A child or adult reading their letter later in life may well struggle to clearly understand their journey 

into and through care. Although letters do provide a basic chronological account of key life events, they do little to make sense of them, to place them in a wider context or to 
draw out the positive experiences, achievements and relationships in children’s lives 

Actions status Impact Status
In progress In progress X
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status

Efforts to improve the quality of life story work for children in care have borne fruit but not yet 
for all children and young people.

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022
 Completed  Completed

Objectives
 Children in our care understand their early childhood experiences leading them to have a 

secure sense of self, progress well and influence decisions about their future Deliverables

 Procedures / guidance when and how life story work is 
to be undertaken 

 Improved later life letters
 Life story training and targeted roll-out
 Life story toolkit for practitioners 
 Repository of best practice examples for workers to 

draw on
 All children and young people have a life-story book

Progress made this 
period:

 Dip sample completed and themes / recommendations to be confirmed by PSW and Under 
11’s Service Manager  on 28/6/23

 Plan for launch of life story work with older children 
 In discussion with BAAF with regard to Later Life training
 Training and expectations rolled out to foster carers

Actions next 
period:

 Develop plan to roll out Life Story work in under 11 
teams

 Launch life story work with over 11 teams in September
 Roll Out Later Life training 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 

P
age 158



21

 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Scope a one-off piece of work to complete life story work for all those older children who have not received life story work to date Tammy Wheatley September 2022

Roll out Life Story work in over 11 teams including for care leavers PSW / Rob England / Tammy Wheatley September 2022

Develop a life story performance web report Lisa Long / Scott Richards August 2022

Dip sample quality of  life story work Social Work Academy / Morven Nelson July 2022

Review Later life letters with support from Ambassadors and develop best practice examples Tammy Wheatley / Rob Tyrrell March 2023

Commission Later Life training from BAAF Tammy Wheatley September 2022

Develop repository of best practice Rob Tyrrell October 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Roadshows / Training event promoting Life Story Work 
Draft performance web report tested
Web report in place and included in strategic performance meeting 
and team performance surgeries 
Joint later life training delivery
Gather feedback from adopters re later life letters
Life story work backlog started and completed

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% Children’s file audits evidencing a good 
standard of ongoing life story work (tbc)
Number of SW taking part in life story 
training / roadshows (tbc)
Number of SARs received from care 
leavers (tbc)
Percentage of children who have life 
story work recorded on LL file (in 
development)
Percentage of children aged 11 + who 
have life story work recorded on LL file 
(in development)
Percentage of children who have life 
story books (in development)

3.2 NEET Lead: Sarah Poultney

Rationale
Ofsted inspection February 2022

 Senior leaders are committed to doing even better for young people, improving the experiences of care experienced young people even further. In particular, they have 
identified that there is more to do to engage the care experienced young people with the most complex needs. 

Actions status Impact Status
In progress In progressComment about 

overall status
More than half of our Care Leavers are in some form of education, employment or training 
(57.5% against a target of 75%). 24 Care Leavers were in Higher Education (4.9%) in May, this 
is similar to the peer group average (5%).  On target X  On target

P
age 159



22

 At risk  At risk X
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 Children in care and care leavers achieve educationally, are supported to develop the skills 
for independence and successfully find training or employment

 To reduce the proportion of young people who are not in education, employment or training 
(NEET)

 Increase the take up of our apprenticeships offer

Deliverables

 Improved guidance and support for young people to 
help them make choices and sustain their education or 
employment journey

 Engagement plan to engage care leaver in programmes 
(e.g. works for me) 

 Year 9 Annual reviews include Preparing for Adulthood 
(PFA)

Progress made this 
period:

 Six internships secured at GCHQ for care leavers
 5 Children in care engaged in the Works For Me programme
 Cohort of another 15 young people in care identified for the Works for Me programme
 Employer / School Open day event held early July , attended by 15 employers and well 

attended by young people

Actions next 
period:

 Engage more Young people to take part in Works For 
Me programme

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Improve awareness of Post 16 and 19 Support and guidance   (all cohorts ) Sarah Poultney / Sarah Winwood / Ellen Sanders  November 2022

Re-tender Youth support contract (including NEET contract) Wendy Williams March 2023

Develop overarching action plan Sarah Poultney / Viki Walters October 2022

Develop strategy to engage with Care Leavers     Sarah Poultney / Mark Bone / Vikki Walters November 2022
Scope the development of a holistic approach building on best practice from innovation such as that developed elsewhere and identify 
funding sources (SIB and ACT)  including the transition panel/chat work on prevention of NEET –      Sarah Poultney / Viki Walters October 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Overarching NEET Action plan signed off by SLT
Retender Youth support contract 

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Care Leavers are in employment, 
education or training 75% 58.4

% 75% 55.8
% 75% 56.6

% 75% 57.5
%

Overall NEET figure (and unknown) 381 
(167)

375 
(203)

372 
(241)

342 
(189)

% of Children in Care transitioning into 
education, employment or training at 16 
(annual data – to be available Dec 
2022)
% of total Year 11 cohort at risk of being  
NEET (Transition panels held 3 times 
during school year)
Number of young people at risk of 
becoming NEET assigned to the Chat 
programme

191

P
age 160



23

3.3 Early Help Services Lead: Emma Trigwell

Rationale

Ofsted inspection February 2022:
Children and their families benefit from a comprehensive offer of early help services provided by the local authority. Children’s early help assessments identify needs well, but 
subsequent plans are not always informed by sufficient or clear management direction. Early help plans identify the right outcomes and levels of support needed for children, 
although the quality of plans is not consistently strong. There are effective systems in place to ensure that children are stepped up or down between the thresholds in line with 
their needs

Actions status Impact Status
In progress In progress
 On target X  On target X

Comment about 
overall status On Target 

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 To ensure all children have access to high quality early interventions across the spectrum of 
services.

 To continue to improve the understanding of the early help offer across the partnership and 
strategic alliance with the principals within

 Clear Early intervention services in place and publicised. 
 FGC offer that is understood, published and accessed across the levels of intervention.
 Better data sharing agreements in place across core services in order to facilitate a 

systemic approach to family and community need in turn resulting in support being offered 
at the lowest levels and earliest points for children and families.

 To ensure that Family Support Standards are understood and embedded across the service
 Improved data dashboards which are reflective of the activity across the services.

Deliverables

 Early Help Strategy - written and signed up to across 
the partnership

 Reviewed QA framework for both Targeted and Advice 
and Guidance elements of the service to test and 
evidence impact.

 Reviewed current Graduated Pathway with partners to 
ensure it meets the need and explore digitisation of the 
paperwork

 Training with partners and bespoke sessions to improve 
awareness of early help agenda and develop quality 
assessments and plans that are impactful for families

 Communications plan internally and externally with 
partners

 All GCC service areas to record interventions and 
outcomes using the EHM system

 A clear and accurate data dashboard available across 
the GCC EH services

Progress made this 
period:

 The development of a subgroup to the child friendly coalition of partners to develop an 
Early Help Strategy, Early Help System guide and act as the governance for the supporting 
families programme has been agreed by Children’s Services SLT in May 

 The roll out of the EH overview document to key partners and the updating of website 
pages has been completed

 EH system guide completed and submitted
 FSW standards have been shared with TM managers who were part of the collaboration of 

this document. Standards have now been shared through professional development 
sessions within team meetings and are being used during audit process.

 DPIA’s and SISA’s being drawn up to review information sharing agreements that have 
been in place for some time.

 Initial meeting has been held to explore the review of the QA framework for Childrens and 
how this framework could be used to QA community held assessments and plans.

Actions next 
period:

 Complete work on mapping forums where children are 
being discussed (to identify duplication, opportunity for 
synergies)

 EH Subgroup will be meeting again in September to 
build on the assessment completed through the EHSG. 
Work will be carried out over the Summer period to learn 
from other LA Early Help Strategies, Data analysis will 
be gathered to help steer the basis for the strategy.

 Graduated pathway governance to be signed off
 Update Graduated pathway document
 Options for Digitisation of the graduated pathway to be 

presented to July Board and SLT in September
 Review of the Family information directory and the local 

offer- joint project board with education has been 
established (Phase one will focus on updating the 

P
age 161



24

 Graduated Pathway Project board is well established now with three workstreams. One 
looking at governance, one looking at engagement and one looking at digitisation of the 
pathway or reporting.

directory and local offer as it currently stands. Phase two 
will focus on the delivery platform)

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Roll out of FSW standards and expectations across the Families First teams and management Emma Trigwell June 2022

Merge of FSW standards with Children services document Emma Trigwell/ Andy Dempsey/Rob England September 2022

Discussion with commissioning to introduce FSW standards and universal KIP’s for performance measures Andy Dempsey October 2022
Development of a subgroup to the child friendly coalition of partners to develop an Early Help Strategy, Early Help System guide and act as 
the governance for the supporting families programme. Andy Dempsey/ Emma Trigwell July 2022

Develop EH Strategy 2022-25 Emma Trigwell  / sub group / GSCP January 2023

Roll out of the EH overview document to key partners and update of website pages. Emma Trigwell May 2022 

Development of a Data governance group to work together to improve the data sharing protocols across the county Andy Dempsey/Emma Trigwell/ October 2022
Development of a QA framework for activity carried out in the community to ensure children are receiving high quality interventions and 
services Emma Trigwell October 2022

Review, alongside Childrens services, the QA framework and the introduction of QA for the advice guidance elements of the service Emma Trigwell/ Rob England. September 2022

Review of the graduated pathway and digitisation Emma Trigwell/ Phil Haslett December 2022

Report to be presented to SLT regarding the FGC service (update on delivery) Emma Trigwell September 2022

Data dashboard to be reviewed to ensure it is reporting accurately across all service areas Emma Trigwell/ Leanne Fisher September 2022

Review EH and CIN  planning under the Transformation programme (in particular escalation, response to the care review, approach to risk) Ann James / Emma Trigwell / GSCP December 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Roll out of FSW standards and expectations
Develop EH strategy
Data governance group set up
FGC report to SLT
Data dashboard signed off

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% of EH episodes closed within the last 
3 months who have been referred to 
Social Care in the last 6 weeks

20% 5.9% 20% 7% 20% 6.8% 20% 6.8%

% of audits rating inadequate from audit 
within the GCC family support services 10% 0% 10% 0% 10% 14% 10%

% of audits rating good/outstanding 
from audit within the GCC family 
support services

50% 75% 50% 100
% 50% 43% 50%

% of children referred for an FGC which 
resulted in a FGC meeting 40% 37% 40% 47% 40% 44% 40%

P
age 162



25

3.4 Sufficiency of placement and fostering Lead: Ann James

Rationale

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 There is not a sufficiently wide range and choice of placements available to meet the needs of all children in care, and, as a result, a small minority of children in larger family 

groups continue to live in unsuitable arrangements while the right home is found 
 Some children have experienced more moves than they should have as a result of being placed in an emergency placement at the point of coming into care due to the lack of 

a suitable placement being available at that point, and then waiting to move when one becomes available. 
 Some children who are in stable long-term placements also wait too long to be formally matched for permanence with their carers. 
 Placement sufficiency remains a challenge. A few children are waiting too long for placements that are well matched to their needs. At the time of the inspection, there was 

one child in an unregistered children’s home. 
Actions status Impact Status

In progress In progress X
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status

There were 862 children in care at the end of June (848 in May). Demand remains high and 
equates to a 17% rise compared with the 2019/20 monthly average and of 9% compared with 
2020/21.

The proportion of children in care experiencing 3 or more placements remained similar to  last 
month (12.3%); performance is within tolerance of the stretch target implemented in April.  At risk  At risk

 Compromised  Compromised
Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022

 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 To have a wide range and choice of placements available to meet the needs of all children 
in care

 Increase placement stability
 Increased in-house foster care capacity
 Strengthen and increase capacity for “harder to identify” children groups
 GCC is seen as the fostering service of choice for Gloucestershire children

Deliverables

 Sufficiency Strategy 2022 - 26
 Children’s home capital investment programme 
 Refreshed Recruitment and Marketing strategy for 

Foster Carers
 Strategic Plan for the Fostering Service
 Development of 24/7 support arrangements to foster 

carers
 Permanency Tracker
 Property portfolio

Progress made this 
period:

 Fostering and Recruitment strategy developed
 Fostering retention strategy developed
 Fostering teams reshaped to focus / lead on locality
 HofS receive list of children progressing to Court, ensuring all options such as Reg 24etc 

have been considered
 Additional property to be developed (4 beds)

Actions next 
period:

 A dedicated Strategic Performance session into 
placement stability and the tools used to sustain stability 
is planned in July to support continued improvement.

 Launch Fostering and recruitment strategy
 Refreshed Fostering transformation plan
 Launch fostering retention strategy
 Draft  Sufficiency strategy to be shared  over the 

summer,  and go to Cabinet  in September 2022
 Bid for DfE capital funding to be submitted by end of 

August

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Refresh Fostering transformation plan:

- Increase in carers to enable choice and matching
- Skills to support placement matching and placement stability 
- Innovation is supported (mocking bird, practice model)
- Development of specialist scheme and development of short term, emergency scheme

Tammy Wheatley August 2022

Develop Fostering recruitment & marketing strategy Tammy Wheatley September 2022

Develop fostering retention strategy Tammy Wheatley September 2022

P
age 163



26

Review of placement request process, including profile Tammy Wheatley / Chris Bush October 2022

Development , training , planning in locality teams Tammy Wheatley September 2022

Develop and embed robust planning especially exit strategy plans for children in residential settings Heads of Service September 2022

Revise, launch and deliver Sufficiency strategy Wendy Williams September 2022
Implement of SS Home@TheHeart to include:

- Further semi independent accommodation following Trevone House model
- Assessment and emergency accommodation for under 16 years old
- Double number at 28 days and PACE fostering placement
- Residential CH framework
- Dedicated UASC accommodation

Wendy Williams September 2022 

Develop a workforce Academy for GCC sufficiency strategy Wendy Williams 2024/2025

Trauma informed commissioning to remove transition points / reducing placement moves Wendy Williams December 2022

Instate permanency tracker and a fortnightly panel to drive and quality assure timely achievement of permanence for all children Tammy Wheatley July 2022

Develop and implement celebration event for children and carers Lisa Long October 2022

Implement practice standard/monitoring for length of time from placement request to placement matched/achieved Tammy Wheatley / Chris Bush July 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Sufficiency strategy signed off
Implementation of Fostering recruitment strategy
Placement request process signed off and launched 
Permanency tracker and panel process signed off

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% of children in care experiencing 3 or 
more placement in 12 months 13% 12.5

% 12% 12.6
% 12% 12.6

% 12% 12.3
%

% of children aged under 16 in care for 
at least 2.5 yrs who have been in the 
same placement for at least 2 yrs

68% 65.9
% 68% 65.5

% 68% 64.8
% 68% 64%

Number of approved in-house 
placements (incl on-hold) 325 328 325 321

utilisation of available in-house Foster 
placement capacity 90% 96.2

% 90% 96.8
% 90% 96% 90% 95%

% of children with a plan of long term 
fostering who are long term matched 40% 40% 39% 38%

Percentage of children living with in-
house foster carers  (in development)
% of children in care Out-of-County 
more than 20 miles from home 20% 20.3

% 20% 20.9
% 20% 21.3

% 20% 21.8
%

3.5 Family resilience Lead:

P
age 164



27

Rationale

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 Mothers who have experienced removals of children from their care do not receive a structured programme of support to help prevent the likelihood of repeated removals. 
 Some children experience repeated contacts and referrals before they get the help they need. 
 For some disabled children, there are delays in progress with their child in need and child protection plans due to waiting lists for some health services

Actions status Impact Status
In progress In progress X
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status

Initial work started on exploring a Family Care / Pause type project . Working closely with 
Judge Wildblood

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 Prevent successive removal of children and provide good family support to care 
experienced parents

 Improve the health and wellbeing offer for disabled children 
 Care Leaver young parents are well supported
 Services are co-constructed with families who are “experts by experience” 
 Timely and integrated health offer for most vulnerable children

Deliverables

 Scope of the extend of need 
 Business case to deliver a programme such as PAUSE 

that prevent repeat separation of parent and child
 Reviewed and enhanced health provision for children 

with disabilities 

Progress made this 
period:

 Capacity to Change programme has been developed and piloted with CP chairs (well-
received).  This is on track to be made available to CSC 

 1st meeting took place with Judge Wildblood and Bristol for Families in Care pilot

Actions next 
period:

 Roll-out for Capacity to Change programme to be 
agreed.

 Review information received from Bristol
 Second meeting with Judge Wildblood

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Families in Care pilot  - Research phase:  baseline data, LA lessons learnt . Investigate opportunities to develop Family care  / Pause type 
support in Gloucestershire Julie Miles / Ann James September 2022

Identify Project Management resource Clarisse Forgues / Julie Miles September 2022

Develop cost benefits analysis (including how this fits with local intervention  e.g complex women project) / business case Julie Miles and Project Manager October 2022

Develop offer for care leaver young parents (involving Children’s centres / Family hubs) Mark Bone / Julie Miles September 2022
Include in Practice standards: 

- The use of FGC and family network meetings at start and close of social work involvement
- Owned and rehearsed safety and contingency plan at close of social work involvement

Rob England September 2022

Review pilot project in Stroud & Cotswold in relation to feedback from families on the impact of social care involvement Sue Staley / Rob Tyrrell August 2022
Develop ‘Experts by Experience’ group to ensure we hear from and develop effective responses with those who have been involved in our 
service Rob England December 2022

Work with JCPE and ICS Exec to analyse need and ensure a timely and integrated offer for our most vulnerable children Wendy Williams September 2022
Work with partners and the developing ICS to ensure that children’s emotional and mental health needs are resourced and wait times 
reduced Wendy Williams September 2022

Develop an integrated pathway for children and young people with emotional and mental health needs Helen Ford / Health group chaired by Kirsten Harrison March 2023

Roll-out Capacity to Change training to staff Social Work Academy September 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Present cost benefit analysis to SLT for decision to go ahead or not
Launch offer for care leaver young parents
Report to LT about Stroud pilot project 

P
age 165



28

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Repeat referrals in-month (previous 
referral start within 12-mths of current 
referral start)

22.5
%

23.2
%

21.5
%

23.8
%

21.5
%

23.7
%

21.5
%

25.9
%

% of CP plans starting in month that are 
second/subsequent plans 25% 27.1

%
23.5
%

31.8
%

23.5
% 14% 23.5

%
26.5
%

QAF: Family and family owned safety 
plan (tbc)

3.6 DCYP Lead: Sue Hall

Rationale

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 Work with disabled children demonstrates an understanding of risk and need that is evidenced in assessments that are detailed and generally timely. There is a focus on the 

children’s needs, leading to focused multi-agency plans that improve outcomes for children. 

Whilst positive feedback has been received from Ofsted on our work with disabled children, we know we need to do more for children / young people with disabilities and their 
families.

Actions status Impact Status
In progress In progress X
 On target X  On target

Comment about 
overall status

A business case is going to be submitted to increase the service .

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: 1st April 2022 To 30 June 2022
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 To provide an enhanced quality of service for children and families  (including streamlined 
pathway and specialist assessment at an earlier stage where necessary)

 To better evidence early help and short breaks impact for disabled children and their 
families

 To ensure disabled children and their families have access to the information they need 
and know how to access support 

 To ensure eligibility criteria to access DCYP statutory service are clear to families, 
consistently applied by professionals  and available as part of our Local Offer

Deliverables

 Review of DCYP service structure and a business case 
for reviewed structure

 Simplified pathway for access to children social care 
services, whether through localities or DCYPS

 Improved local offer 
 Local offer communication plan
 Revised eligibility criteria 

Progress made this 
period:

 Structure of the DCYP service has been reviewed, a business case is going to be 
submitted to increase the service 

 Resources added to MASH to embed front end of pathway for access to DCYP service
 Eligibility criteria reviewed
 Direct Payment worker recruited and in post
 Disability register amended to allow running separate register for deaf-blind
 Commissioning framework in place but demand outstripping offer
 Data set allowing to drill down to child and worker level

Actions next 
period:

 Business case for DCYP service to be submitted
 Pathway to access DCYP service to be publicised and 

more work to be done with Social Care and Early Help 
teams 

 Eligibility criteria to be publicised
 Further work to be done on where deaf-blind duty sit 

within existing pathway (including needs analysis)
 Develop indicator for timely transition to Adults service

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Review structure of  DCYP service and develop business case Simon Rushall & Sue Hall September 2022

P
age 166



29

Review and simplify current pathway for access to DCYP service Simon Rushall & Sue Hall August 2022

Review direct payments process Sue Hall / Adrian Wells December 2022

Develop and embed robust process in response to new standards Liberty Protection Safeguarding Sue Hall/Mark Bone/Rob Tyrell April 2023

Develop robust process to ensure compliance with deaf-blind duties Sue Hall / Jenny Mansell( teaching advisory service) December 2022

Review local offer Sarah Poultney March 2023

Develop and deliver communication plan for local offer Sarah Poultney April 2023
Develop protocols with partners in relation to:

- housing for children/YP with disabilities,
- transitions to adulthood and
- support for disabled young people becoming parents

Vicky Townsend/Sue Hall/housing. December 2022

Review commissioning of short breaks and development of new resources to respond to families needs Commissioning / Adrian Wells September 2022

Continue to develop our performance data for early help and short breaks Sue Hall & Performance team September 2022

Review eligibility criteria  and co-produce new set of criteria with parents and partners Simon Rushall / Sue Hall July 2022

Develop process  to measure how the local offer, eligibility criteria and pathways are easily accessible, clear and understandable Sue Hall March 2023

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Reviewed structure signed off
Implementation of reviewed structure
Direct payment review signed off
Short break statement signed off
Launch of refreshed local offer
Launch of reviewed eligibility criteria
Deliver training / workshops / guidance to staff in relation to LPS 
Data set signed off

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

DCYPS open Single Assessment 
Timeliness

100
% 77% 91% 100

%
DCYPS completed Single Assessment 
Timeliness 40% 25% 29% 67%

Timely transition to adult service (in 
development)
Audit and sampling show that children 
receive help at the right level and from 
the right service.

P
age 167



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Children’s Continuous Improvement Board Meeting 
Performance and Risk Report Quarter 1 2022/23 
Children’s Social Care

1. Workforce stability and capacity remain significant challenges impacting our improvement 
journey. The key metrics of proportion of the workforce which is staffed by agency workers, turnover 
and vacancies all worsened over Quarter 1. This reflects a challenging position nationally and 
regionally. Turnover within Children’s Services has followed an increasing trend, from a low of 10.0% 
in March 2021 to 14.9% this quarter. This is slightly higher than the level of turnover being seen 
across the County Council (13.9%). Turnover of Children’s Social Workers is particularly high, 
increasing for seven successive quarters from 11.2% to 26.2% (includes newly qualified Social 
Workers, Social Workers and Senior Social Workers but excludes Agency workers). 

Nevertheless, the proportion of Social Workers with a caseload level in line with our target of 18 
children or fewer per FTE improved for the second quarter from 60.4% to 68.0%, although this 
remains significantly worse than target. The greater majority of workers hold 23 children or fewer 
(90.4%). Stability of Social worker also improved slightly, with 85.9% of children having fewer than 3 
Social Workers in 6 months. This is within tolerance of the stretch target implemented in Quarter 1 
(90%). We continue to refine our offer and make maximum use of the various supply lines we have 
established to address the situation. The risk relating to insufficient workforce capacity and/or 
instability adversely impacting on pace and sustainability of improvement and contributing to 
discontinuity in social engagement with children and families therefore remains rated as Moderate 
(12). 

2. Case supervision should take place routinely and is a critical area of work to support progress and 
risk management for children, as well as to provide practice guidance to Social Workers. 83.1% of 
children had a timely case supervision at the end of June, up from 75.7% at the end of last quarter. 
This is likely to reflect some new Managers starting in post during Quarter 1 where the post had 
previously been vacant. This represents a 12-month high although performance remains worse than 
target (95%). 

3. The annual appraisal cycle begins in Quarter 1. Children’s Services have undertaken 4.7% of 
appraisal discussions with their staff (against a target of 65%), as reported on GCC’s personnel 
system. Children’s Services is one of two directorates with performance below 5%.

Page 169

Agenda Item 10



2

4. Post-inspection, Children’s Services have moved from an Accelerated Improvement Plan to a 
Continuous Improvement Plan (CIP) aimed at securing the improvement to date and providing the 
foundation for sustainably good services going forward. A refreshed Improvement Board has been 
established and will meet for the first time in July. The CIP will be submitted to Ofsted in July. The 
contextual challenges of high demand and workforce stability continue to impact on our improvement 
journey - with improvement activity informed by our Quality Assurance and Performance 
Arrangements. As a consequence, our risk profile is unchanged over this quarter and the risk relating 
to Ineffective social care practice, management oversight and review processes resulting in drift and 
delay for children and young people in situations of harm has remained Low (6). 

5. While there is a robust framework in place to ensure oversight and challenge of quality and 
performance, direction of travel raises questions about the risk rating of Low (6) this quarter. Just 
under one-third of Children’s Services corporate performance measures were better than or within 
tolerance of target (29.4%). This is a reduction compared with the previous quarter (47%). 
Performance across a number of services continued to see decline or was significantly worse than 
target and static over time. At the end of June, there had been an improvement in the proportion of 
workers holding children for whom there was significant drift and delay (12% down from 16%). 
However, this remains too high.  

The number of case file audits completed recovered to the level seen in Quarter 3 2021/22 (132, up 
from 74 last quarter). The reduced level of completed audits was due to the focus on inspection in 
Quarter 4. Two-fifths of case file audits judged Social Care practice as Good or better. This is an 
improvement for the second quarter (40%), up from 31% at the end of December, although this 
remains lower than at the same time last year (44%). However, the proportion of case file audits 
judged as Inadequate also increased, from 8% to 15%. 

6. Overall contact demand reduced for the first time in 5 quarters, down from an average of 8,650 per 
quarter in the preceding 12 months, to just over 7,700 in Quarter 1 (-11%). However, contacts 
requiring a response from Social Care were at the highest level recorded in the financial year to date 
(2,953), this compares with 2,666 during Quarter 1 of 2019/20, prior to the pandemic. This reflects an 
increase of 10.8%. 

7. Timeliness of initial contact decisions reduced throughout 2021/22 from 88.2% at the same time last 
year to 67.1% in Quarter 1, with performance worse than target (90%). In-month, performance 
declined to a low of 62.8% in June 2022. 

8. Decision making for contacts rated as Red improved for the fourth quarter from 76% in Quarter 2 
2021/22 to 87% in Quarter 1 2022/23 and was within tolerance of target. However, in-month 
performance followed a declining trend from 90% in April to 83% in June indicating that performance 
is not as yet secure. 

9. Referrals to Social Care remained high for the fourth quarter at around 2,500 compared with an 
average of 2,100 per quarter in 2019/20 (up 19%). 

10. A quarter of children referred to Social Care continue to be referred within 12 months of a previous 
referral (24.5% both in Quarter 1 and across the Rolling Year, against a target of 21.5% and peer 
group average of 21.3%, Mar-21). However, this is a reduction from the previous 12-month rolling 
year when 27.8% of referrals were re-referrals. 

11. Timeliness of initial visits followed a declining trend for two years, reducing from 87.7% in Quarter 4 
2019/20 to 65.3% in Quarter 4 2021/22. In Quarter 1, there has been improvement with 68.9% of 
children referred receiving a timely initial visit. However, performance remains significantly worse than 
target (85%) and in-month, improvement was not sustained throughout the quarter, with timeliness in 
June reducing to 63.2%. There were 148 children who were referred between April-June without a 
record of an initial visit on their case file (down from 185 last quarter). 

Page 170



3

12. The number of children open to Social Care continued to grow throughout Quarter 1 and at the end of 
June, was at the highest level recorded to date with 4,650 children undergoing assessment or 
receiving support, protection of care. This is 13% higher than the 2019/20 average. 

13. Assessment timeliness improved in Quarter 1 (80.4% up from 77.4%). This is worse than target and 
the peer group average (87%). There continues to be a stark contrast in performance for children at 
locality level with 91% of assessments completed within timescale in the Forest of Dean in Quarter 1 
compared with 54% in Tewkesbury. There has been a reduction in ongoing assessments open for 
more than 60 working days this quarter, down from 79 at the end of March to 41 at the end of June. 

The proportion of initial child protection conferences completed that were timely increased in Quarter 
1 (81% up from 72%). This is within tolerance of the stretch target implemented in April 2022 (85%). 
Timeliness remains worse than the peer group average (86.7% Mar-21). 

14. We continue to visit the greater majority of children and young people open to Social Care in a timely 
way with performance within tolerance of or better than target. The exception to this is our younger 
care leavers for whom performance has been broadly static and off target for more than a year (72% 
at the end of Quarter 1). We also need to see more of our children subject to a child protection plan 
alone within timescale (78% against a target of 95% and down from 83% at the end of March 2022). 

15. The number of children subject to a child protection plan saw growth for the 7th quarter, exceeding the 
level seen in the year following the 2017 inspection (895 children at the end of June, up from 855 
children at the end of March). This is significantly above statistical neighbours (69.1 per 10,000 0-17 
year olds compared with 37.9).

16. Repeat protection planning was better than target for the first time since June 2019 (23.2% against a 
stretch target of 23.5% implemented in April 2022). However, this does not reflect the fluctuation seen 
in-month during the quarter with children returning to a protection plan ranging from 14.0% to 31.8%; 
performance therefore remains a concern. Practice needs to improve to make a sustained difference 
for children. 

17. The number of children in care increased throughout Quarter 1, up from 841 children in care at the 
end of March to 862 children at the end of June. This compares to an average of 778 children in 
2020/21 and 727 in 2019/20. This continues to place strain on the availability of suitable placements 
for children and our ability to place children within County which is following a reducing trend (73.3%).  
However, children placed out of county and within 20 miles of home, compares favourably with 
comparators although the gap is narrowing (21.8% against a peer group average of 22.9%). 

18. The proportion of repeat admissions to care increased for the third quarter (13.6% up from 3.4% in 
Quarter 2 2021/22). During 2021/22, readmissions to care account for 7% of admissions to care 
overall and a stretch target was implemented in April to reflect this. Performance in Quarter 1 is 
above national levels (11.4%), although over the rolling 12 months readmissions were lower at 9.1%. 

19. One in five children (20.6%) are accommodated in care under a Section 20 agreement. We continue 
to have higher than national levels of children accommodated under a Section 20 agreement which 
have followed a reducing trend for more than 5 years (15%, March 2021). 

20. Two-thirds of children in foster placements are looked after by in-house Foster Carers (66%). The 
vast majority of our available in-house foster care capacity is utilised (95.3%). 

21. For the third quarter, there was an improvement in the number of children in care having 3 or more 
placements within a 12-month period, down from 16.2% in Quarter 2 2021/22 to 12.3%. This is within 
tolerance of the stretch target introduced in April but remains worse than our peer group average 
(9.5%). 

Page 171



4

Long-term placement stability reduced slightly compared with last quarter, from 65.9% to 64.0% and 
moved to a worse than target position from within tolerance. Performance continues to be worse than 
the peer group average (70%, Mar-21). The strategic performance meeting in June focussed on 
placement stability and methods available to assist in the prevention of placement breakdown. A 
number of actions have been identified to support practice in this area. 

Good utilisation of in-house foster care has off set the pressure somewhat but is now more or less at 
capacity. 

Alongside the sustained increase in our children in care population, the provider market continues to 
be very challenging, with a lack of capacity particularly for the most vulnerable and complex of 
children. We have recently revised the Sufficiency Strategy, setting out a longer-term vision for care 
provision alongside the work to transform our Edge of Care offer.  These will take some time to 
impact and therefore our risk profile for Quarter 1 is unchanged with the risk relating to failure to 
develop sufficient placement capacity to meet the needs of looked after children rated as Moderate 
(12).

22. While reviews were timely for the majority of children in care; performance has followed a declining 
trend over the last 12 months, reducing from 99.7% at the same time last year to 94.7% in Quarter 1 
and is now below target.

23. Performance for our younger care leavers remains a concern, with long-term under performance 
in terms of visiting, pathway planning, suitable living arrangements and opportunities for 
education, employment and training (EET). This is a very different picture from our 19–21 year 
old and over 21 year old care leavers for whom all areas of performance are within tolerance or 
better than target, with the exception of EET opportunities. Improvement is needed to assure that 
there is equity in the levels of support received by Care Leavers across age groups. 

24. In Quarter 1, a quarter of our school aged children in care, for whom we are the corporate parent, 
were classified as persistently absent (an attendance rate of less than 90% of school days) 
(24.5%). Illness is accounting for a reducing proportion of persistent absence (4.2% down from 
6.7% last quarter). 

Page 172



Quarter 1 2022/23

Purpose of the report
To provide a strategic overview of the Council's performance for Quarter 1 2022/23.

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Page number

Key to Symbols 2
Children & Young People 3
Education & Skills 5
Good Management 6
Strategic Risk Register Summary 7

CYP FPR Monitoring Report

1

P
age 173



Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4) 4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3) 3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2) 2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1) 1 2 3 4 5

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with the Likelihood of each risk)

Risk Symbols
Risk Value Increasing
 Risk Value Decreasing
 No Change

Measure Symbols
 Performance Better than Target
 Performance Worse than Target
 Performance significantly worse than Target
 No information
 Missing Target
 No Value

Bigger is Better  A bigger value for this measure is good 
Smaller is Better  A smaller value for this measure is good
Plan is best  Where it is better for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Key to Symbols

2

P
age 174



Transforming Children's Services
Children's Social Care

Quality Assurance

% of audits judged as good or better Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 44.0% 38.0% 31.0% 37.0% 40.0% 50.0% n/a
% of Children open to Social Care with fewer than 3 Social
Workers in 6 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 83.8% 84.4% 84.4% 84.2% 85.9% 90.0% n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Contact Activity

% of referrals to Social Care that are rereferrals within 12
months

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 23.9% 24.4% 23.5% 25.5% 24.5% 21.5% 21.3%

% of Initial Decisions made within 24 hours for all contacts Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 88.2% 81.2% 71.9% 70.6% 67.1% 90.0% n/a

% Initial visits in time Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 79.2% 78.2% 69.9% 62.4% 68.9% 85.0%

Inmonth, performance improved in April and May to
75% timeliness which is the highest performance
since September 2021. However, improvement was
not sustained with performance declining in June to
63%, resulting in quarterly performance of 69%
overall.  

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Need of Help & Protection

% of Children in Need who have been on a plan for 12 months
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 4.8% 4.0% 3.8% 4.2% 4.2% 5.0% n/a

% of Single Assessments completed within 45 working days Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 80.9% 83.2% 79.6% 77.4% 80.4% 90.0% 86.9%
% of Children becoming the subject of a Child Protection Plan
for a second or subsequent time

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 28.4% 27.4% 27.3% 29.5% 23.2% 23.5% 23.8%

% of Children subject to Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 3.2% 3.1% 2.4% 3.3% 3.4% 2.0% 1.7%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Care

% of Children who are fostered who are placed with the in
house fostering service

Bigger is Better Snapshot 68.0% 64.0% 64.0% 68.0% 66.0% 70.0% n/a

% of Children in Care for more than 2.5 years in the same
placement for at least 2 years

Bigger is Better Snapshot 67.0% 66.0% 65.6% 65.9% 64.0% 68.0% 70.0%

% Children in Care (CIC) reviewed in timescales Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 99.7% 98.9% 97.4% 97.4% 94.7% 100.0% n/a
% of Children in Care with at least 3 placements in the last 12
months

Smaller is Better Snapshot 15.9% 16.2% 13.2% 12.5% 12.3% 12.0% 9.5%

% Children in Care persistently absent Smaller is Better Snapshot 22.0% 18.4% 22.5% 23.9% 24.5% 5.0% ?
% of children who have been admitted to care within 12
months of previously being in care

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 6.6% 3.4% 7.8% 10.3% 13.6% 7.0% ?

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Care Experienced Young People

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were in suitable accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 92.4% 94.4% 90.4% 93.8% 94.0% 95.0% 87.9%

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were not in employment, education or training

Smaller is Better Snapshot 51.9% 45.1% 44.9% 45.1% 43.3% 25.0% 48.8%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

3

P
age 175

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Transforming Children's Services
Children's Social Care

Quality Assurance

% of audits judged as good or better Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 44.0% 38.0% 31.0% 37.0% 40.0% 50.0% n/a
% of Children open to Social Care with fewer than 3 Social
Workers in 6 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 83.8% 84.4% 84.4% 84.2% 85.9% 90.0% n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Contact Activity

% of referrals to Social Care that are rereferrals within 12
months

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 23.9% 24.4% 23.5% 25.5% 24.5% 21.5% 21.3%

% of Initial Decisions made within 24 hours for all contacts Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 88.2% 81.2% 71.9% 70.6% 67.1% 90.0% n/a

% Initial visits in time Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 79.2% 78.2% 69.9% 62.4% 68.9% 85.0%

Inmonth, performance improved in April and May to
75% timeliness which is the highest performance
since September 2021. However, improvement was
not sustained with performance declining in June to
63%, resulting in quarterly performance of 69%
overall.  

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Need of Help & Protection

% of Children in Need who have been on a plan for 12 months
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 4.8% 4.0% 3.8% 4.2% 4.2% 5.0% n/a

% of Single Assessments completed within 45 working days Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 80.9% 83.2% 79.6% 77.4% 80.4% 90.0% 86.9%
% of Children becoming the subject of a Child Protection Plan
for a second or subsequent time

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 28.4% 27.4% 27.3% 29.5% 23.2% 23.5% 23.8%

% of Children subject to Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 3.2% 3.1% 2.4% 3.3% 3.4% 2.0% 1.7%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Care

% of Children who are fostered who are placed with the in
house fostering service

Bigger is Better Snapshot 68.0% 64.0% 64.0% 68.0% 66.0% 70.0% n/a

% of Children in Care for more than 2.5 years in the same
placement for at least 2 years

Bigger is Better Snapshot 67.0% 66.0% 65.6% 65.9% 64.0% 68.0% 70.0%

% Children in Care (CIC) reviewed in timescales Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 99.7% 98.9% 97.4% 97.4% 94.7% 100.0% n/a
% of Children in Care with at least 3 placements in the last 12
months

Smaller is Better Snapshot 15.9% 16.2% 13.2% 12.5% 12.3% 12.0% 9.5%

% Children in Care persistently absent Smaller is Better Snapshot 22.0% 18.4% 22.5% 23.9% 24.5% 5.0% ?
% of children who have been admitted to care within 12
months of previously being in care

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 6.6% 3.4% 7.8% 10.3% 13.6% 7.0% ?

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Care Experienced Young People

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were in suitable accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 92.4% 94.4% 90.4% 93.8% 94.0% 95.0% 87.9%

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were not in employment, education or training

Smaller is Better Snapshot 51.9% 45.1% 44.9% 45.1% 43.3% 25.0% 48.8%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

4

P
age 176

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Transforming Children's Services
Children's Social Care

Quality Assurance

% of audits judged as good or better Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 44.0% 38.0% 31.0% 37.0% 40.0% 50.0% n/a
% of Children open to Social Care with fewer than 3 Social
Workers in 6 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 83.8% 84.4% 84.4% 84.2% 85.9% 90.0% n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Contact Activity

% of referrals to Social Care that are rereferrals within 12
months

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 23.9% 24.4% 23.5% 25.5% 24.5% 21.5% 21.3%

% of Initial Decisions made within 24 hours for all contacts Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 88.2% 81.2% 71.9% 70.6% 67.1% 90.0% n/a

% Initial visits in time Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 79.2% 78.2% 69.9% 62.4% 68.9% 85.0%

Inmonth, performance improved in April and May to
75% timeliness which is the highest performance
since September 2021. However, improvement was
not sustained with performance declining in June to
63%, resulting in quarterly performance of 69%
overall.  

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Need of Help & Protection

% of Children in Need who have been on a plan for 12 months
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 4.8% 4.0% 3.8% 4.2% 4.2% 5.0% n/a

% of Single Assessments completed within 45 working days Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 80.9% 83.2% 79.6% 77.4% 80.4% 90.0% 86.9%
% of Children becoming the subject of a Child Protection Plan
for a second or subsequent time

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 28.4% 27.4% 27.3% 29.5% 23.2% 23.5% 23.8%

% of Children subject to Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years
or more

Smaller is Better Snapshot 3.2% 3.1% 2.4% 3.3% 3.4% 2.0% 1.7%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Children in Care

% of Children who are fostered who are placed with the in
house fostering service

Bigger is Better Snapshot 68.0% 64.0% 64.0% 68.0% 66.0% 70.0% n/a

% of Children in Care for more than 2.5 years in the same
placement for at least 2 years

Bigger is Better Snapshot 67.0% 66.0% 65.6% 65.9% 64.0% 68.0% 70.0%

% Children in Care (CIC) reviewed in timescales Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 99.7% 98.9% 97.4% 97.4% 94.7% 100.0% n/a
% of Children in Care with at least 3 placements in the last 12
months

Smaller is Better Snapshot 15.9% 16.2% 13.2% 12.5% 12.3% 12.0% 9.5%

% Children in Care persistently absent Smaller is Better Snapshot 22.0% 18.4% 22.5% 23.9% 24.5% 5.0% ?
% of children who have been admitted to care within 12
months of previously being in care

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 6.6% 3.4% 7.8% 10.3% 13.6% 7.0% ?

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Care Experienced Young People

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were in suitable accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 92.4% 94.4% 90.4% 93.8% 94.0% 95.0% 87.9%

% of Young People aged 1921 who were looked after aged 16
who were not in employment, education or training

Smaller is Better Snapshot 51.9% 45.1% 44.9% 45.1% 43.3% 25.0% 48.8%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

5

P
age 177



Children & Young People  Good Management

SPD 8 Corporate Good Management Days lost to sickness/absence per FTE  Childrens Smaller is Better Latest
Quarter 1.46 1.95 2.41 2.19 1.61 2.10

Days Lost to Sickness/Absence per FTE  CYP

Good Performance High/Low
Reporting
Basis

Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual Jun
22

Target Jun
22

Comments

SPD 8 Corporate Good Management Days lost to long term sickness/ absence per FTE  Childrens Smaller is Better Latest
Quarter 0.89 1.23 1.65 1.28 1.03 1.06

Days Lost to Long Term Sickness/Absence per FTE  CYP

Good Performance High/Low
Reporting
Basis

Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual Jun
22

Target Jun
22

Comments

SPD 8 Corporate Good Management Days lost to stress per FTE  Childrens Smaller is Better Latest
Quarter 0.51 1.11 1.14 1.15 0.74 0.77

Days Lost to Stress per FTE  CYP

Good Performance High/Low
Reporting
Basis

Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual Jun
22

Target Jun
22

Comments

GCC05b % Staff Appraisals complete (and entered on
SAP)  Childrens

% Staff Appraisals complete (and entered on SAP) 
Childrens Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 2.7% 19.3% 23.6% 25.4% 4.7%

% Staff Appraisals Complete & Entered on SAP  CYP
Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Actual Jun22 Comments

SPD 8 Corporate Good Management Staff Turnover (staff leaving as a % of all staff)  Childrens Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 10.2% 12.2% 12.2% 13.6% 14.9%

Staff Turnover (Staff Leaving as a % of All Staff) CYP
Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Actual Jun22 Comments

SPD 8 Corporate Good Management Number of Health and Safety Executive Reports completed 
Childrens Smaller is Better Latest

Quarter 0 0 0 0 0 1

Number of Health and Safety Executive Reports completed  CYP

Good Performance High/Low
Reporting
Basis

Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual Jun
22

Target Jun
22

Comments

SPD 8 Corporate Good Management Number of Health and Safety Executive Reports completed 
Childrens Smaller is Better Latest

Quarter 0 0 0 0 0 1

Audit recommendations outstanding beyond target date  CYP

Good Performance High/Low
Reporting
Basis

Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual Jun
22

Target Jun
22

Comments

6

P
age 178

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col10')


Strategic Risk

Strategic Risk Register

SR7.2
Ineffective social care practice, management oversight and
review processes resulting in drift and delay for children and
young people in situations of harm.

Spencer,
Chris

High 25 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Low 6 Low 6

Post inspection we are now progressing from our AIP to a CIP  Continuous
Improvement Plan which provide the foundations to secure the improvement to
date and enable us to deliver sustainably good services going forward.  A
refreshed Improvement Board has been established and will meet for the first
time in July.  The CIP will be submitted to Ofsted in July.  The contextual
challenges of high demand and workforce stability continue to impact on our
improvement journey  with improvement activity informed by our QA and
Performance Arrangements.  As a consequence our risk profile is unchanged
over this quarter. 

SR7.4

The ability to meet statutory timelines for EHCP assessments,
plan issue and annual amendments and the associated
budgetary commitments, affecting the educational outcomes
of vulnerable children, is at risk: financially, legally and
reputationally through everincreasing EHCP requests,
workforce capacity to process these requests and the
implications for the outcomes of future local area SEND
inspections.

Harrison,
Kirsten

High 20 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 High 16 Moderate 9 Moderate
9

A wide range of service development projects and systemwide actions are in
train to mitigate the risks.

At system level, the GCC SEND and Education Inclusion strategies have been
ratified by cabinet. These outline the strategic actions being undertaken to
influence the local education system around developing inclusive schools and
early nonstatutory intervention to reduce the numbers of requests to assess for
an EHCP. Other mitigating projects include:
Participation in the DfE 'Delivering Better Value in SEND' project
Establishment of a partnership SEND Improvement Board
Introduction of a nonstatutory funding model
Development and implementation of the operational plans for the SEND
strategy roll out
Roll out of the Banded Funding project
The Graduated Pathway project

At service level, there is significant work in train around service remodelling led
by the newly appointed Principal Education Psychologist and Senior Lead
Advisory Teacher. These activities include:
Full recruitment to a reshaped EHCP Casework team  with officers with
higher skill levels
Roll out of the EHCP Digitisation project
Increases to SENDIASS capacity  focused on improving the customer journey
and reducing redress to mediation or Tribunal
EPS service reshape, including ceasing trading for Term 6, focusing all EP
work or clearing the statutory advice backlog
Piloting of a Digital EHCP QA tool to provide assurance regarding quality,
consistency and engagement of partners in the EHCP process

SR7.5

Insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely
impacting on pace and sustainability of improvement and
contributing to discontinuity in social engagement with children
and families

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 8 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

Workforce stability and capacity remain as key challenges impacting on our 
improvement journey.  The key metrics of Agency %, turnover and vacancies all
declined over Q1.  This reflects a challenging position nationally and regionally. 
We continue to refine our offer and make maximum use of the various supply
lines we have established to address the situation. 

SR7.7 Failure to develop sufficient placement capacity to meet the
needs of children looked after

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

The provider market continues to be very challenging, with a lack of capacity
particularly for the most vulnerable and complex of children.  We have also
experienced a sustained increase in our Children in Care population. Increased
utilisation of inhouse foster care has off set the pressure somewhat but is now
more or less at capacity.  We have recently revised the Sufficiency Strategy,
setting out a longer vision for care provision alongside the work to transform our
Edge of Care offer.  These will take some time to impact and therefore our risk
profile for Q1 is unchanged.

SR7.9

Insufficient planning and oversight of international
resettlement and asylum immigration including current
Ukraine, Afghan, Syrian and Hong Kong programmes,
alongside other asylum seeker routes including hotel
accommodation, could lead to unpredictable and
unsupportable demand on county council services.

Farmer,
Siobhan ?

Moderate
8

Staff in place, district and county working relationships and partnership are good,
success so far in schemes has been good, work is underway to better plan for
overall international migration issues and partnership working across the system
with proposal for new model of managing this across county due in Autumn for
consideration by leaders, sufficient awareness by government departments of the
issues we have slowing each of the programmes down, considerable work to
obtain reserve accommodation for current Ukraine scheme underway, significant
department funding for Ukraine scheme and reserves for other schemes
available, plan to supplement community support through additional local
resource.  Forward planning underway re move on accommodation, although
likely the biggest residual risk.

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children, Young People & Adults

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

DoT Jun
22

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children, Young People & Adults (New Quarter 1 22/23)

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Actual
Jun22

DoT Jun
22

Mitigating Actions

7

P
age 179



Strategic Risk

Strategic Risk Register

SR7.2
Ineffective social care practice, management oversight and
review processes resulting in drift and delay for children and
young people in situations of harm.

Spencer,
Chris

High 25 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Low 6 Low 6

Post inspection we are now progressing from our AIP to a CIP  Continuous
Improvement Plan which provide the foundations to secure the improvement to
date and enable us to deliver sustainably good services going forward.  A
refreshed Improvement Board has been established and will meet for the first
time in July.  The CIP will be submitted to Ofsted in July.  The contextual
challenges of high demand and workforce stability continue to impact on our
improvement journey  with improvement activity informed by our QA and
Performance Arrangements.  As a consequence our risk profile is unchanged
over this quarter. 

SR7.4

The ability to meet statutory timelines for EHCP assessments,
plan issue and annual amendments and the associated
budgetary commitments, affecting the educational outcomes
of vulnerable children, is at risk: financially, legally and
reputationally through everincreasing EHCP requests,
workforce capacity to process these requests and the
implications for the outcomes of future local area SEND
inspections.

Harrison,
Kirsten

High 20 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 High 16 Moderate 9 Moderate
9

A wide range of service development projects and systemwide actions are in
train to mitigate the risks.

At system level, the GCC SEND and Education Inclusion strategies have been
ratified by cabinet. These outline the strategic actions being undertaken to
influence the local education system around developing inclusive schools and
early nonstatutory intervention to reduce the numbers of requests to assess for
an EHCP. Other mitigating projects include:
Participation in the DfE 'Delivering Better Value in SEND' project
Establishment of a partnership SEND Improvement Board
Introduction of a nonstatutory funding model
Development and implementation of the operational plans for the SEND
strategy roll out
Roll out of the Banded Funding project
The Graduated Pathway project

At service level, there is significant work in train around service remodelling led
by the newly appointed Principal Education Psychologist and Senior Lead
Advisory Teacher. These activities include:
Full recruitment to a reshaped EHCP Casework team  with officers with
higher skill levels
Roll out of the EHCP Digitisation project
Increases to SENDIASS capacity  focused on improving the customer journey
and reducing redress to mediation or Tribunal
EPS service reshape, including ceasing trading for Term 6, focusing all EP
work or clearing the statutory advice backlog
Piloting of a Digital EHCP QA tool to provide assurance regarding quality,
consistency and engagement of partners in the EHCP process

SR7.5

Insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely
impacting on pace and sustainability of improvement and
contributing to discontinuity in social engagement with children
and families

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 8 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

Workforce stability and capacity remain as key challenges impacting on our 
improvement journey.  The key metrics of Agency %, turnover and vacancies all
declined over Q1.  This reflects a challenging position nationally and regionally. 
We continue to refine our offer and make maximum use of the various supply
lines we have established to address the situation. 

SR7.7 Failure to develop sufficient placement capacity to meet the
needs of children looked after

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

The provider market continues to be very challenging, with a lack of capacity
particularly for the most vulnerable and complex of children.  We have also
experienced a sustained increase in our Children in Care population. Increased
utilisation of inhouse foster care has off set the pressure somewhat but is now
more or less at capacity.  We have recently revised the Sufficiency Strategy,
setting out a longer vision for care provision alongside the work to transform our
Edge of Care offer.  These will take some time to impact and therefore our risk
profile for Q1 is unchanged.

SR7.9

Insufficient planning and oversight of international
resettlement and asylum immigration including current
Ukraine, Afghan, Syrian and Hong Kong programmes,
alongside other asylum seeker routes including hotel
accommodation, could lead to unpredictable and
unsupportable demand on county council services.

Farmer,
Siobhan ?

Moderate
8

Staff in place, district and county working relationships and partnership are good,
success so far in schemes has been good, work is underway to better plan for
overall international migration issues and partnership working across the system
with proposal for new model of managing this across county due in Autumn for
consideration by leaders, sufficient awareness by government departments of the
issues we have slowing each of the programmes down, considerable work to
obtain reserve accommodation for current Ukraine scheme underway, significant
department funding for Ukraine scheme and reserves for other schemes
available, plan to supplement community support through additional local
resource.  Forward planning underway re move on accommodation, although
likely the biggest residual risk.

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children, Young People & Adults

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

DoT Jun
22

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children, Young People & Adults (New Quarter 1 22/23)

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Actual
Jun22

DoT Jun
22

Mitigating Actions

8

P
age 180

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col12')


Strategic Risk

Strategic Risk Register

SR7.2
Ineffective social care practice, management oversight and
review processes resulting in drift and delay for children and
young people in situations of harm.

Spencer,
Chris

High 25 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Low 6 Low 6

Post inspection we are now progressing from our AIP to a CIP  Continuous
Improvement Plan which provide the foundations to secure the improvement to
date and enable us to deliver sustainably good services going forward.  A
refreshed Improvement Board has been established and will meet for the first
time in July.  The CIP will be submitted to Ofsted in July.  The contextual
challenges of high demand and workforce stability continue to impact on our
improvement journey  with improvement activity informed by our QA and
Performance Arrangements.  As a consequence our risk profile is unchanged
over this quarter. 

SR7.4

The ability to meet statutory timelines for EHCP assessments,
plan issue and annual amendments and the associated
budgetary commitments, affecting the educational outcomes
of vulnerable children, is at risk: financially, legally and
reputationally through everincreasing EHCP requests,
workforce capacity to process these requests and the
implications for the outcomes of future local area SEND
inspections.

Harrison,
Kirsten

High 20 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 High 16 Moderate 9 Moderate
9

A wide range of service development projects and systemwide actions are in
train to mitigate the risks.

At system level, the GCC SEND and Education Inclusion strategies have been
ratified by cabinet. These outline the strategic actions being undertaken to
influence the local education system around developing inclusive schools and
early nonstatutory intervention to reduce the numbers of requests to assess for
an EHCP. Other mitigating projects include:
Participation in the DfE 'Delivering Better Value in SEND' project
Establishment of a partnership SEND Improvement Board
Introduction of a nonstatutory funding model
Development and implementation of the operational plans for the SEND
strategy roll out
Roll out of the Banded Funding project
The Graduated Pathway project

At service level, there is significant work in train around service remodelling led
by the newly appointed Principal Education Psychologist and Senior Lead
Advisory Teacher. These activities include:
Full recruitment to a reshaped EHCP Casework team  with officers with
higher skill levels
Roll out of the EHCP Digitisation project
Increases to SENDIASS capacity  focused on improving the customer journey
and reducing redress to mediation or Tribunal
EPS service reshape, including ceasing trading for Term 6, focusing all EP
work or clearing the statutory advice backlog
Piloting of a Digital EHCP QA tool to provide assurance regarding quality,
consistency and engagement of partners in the EHCP process

SR7.5

Insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely
impacting on pace and sustainability of improvement and
contributing to discontinuity in social engagement with children
and families

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 8 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

Workforce stability and capacity remain as key challenges impacting on our 
improvement journey.  The key metrics of Agency %, turnover and vacancies all
declined over Q1.  This reflects a challenging position nationally and regionally. 
We continue to refine our offer and make maximum use of the various supply
lines we have established to address the situation. 

SR7.7 Failure to develop sufficient placement capacity to meet the
needs of children looked after

Spencer,
Chris

High 16 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

The provider market continues to be very challenging, with a lack of capacity
particularly for the most vulnerable and complex of children.  We have also
experienced a sustained increase in our Children in Care population. Increased
utilisation of inhouse foster care has off set the pressure somewhat but is now
more or less at capacity.  We have recently revised the Sufficiency Strategy,
setting out a longer vision for care provision alongside the work to transform our
Edge of Care offer.  These will take some time to impact and therefore our risk
profile for Q1 is unchanged.

SR7.9

Insufficient planning and oversight of international
resettlement and asylum immigration including current
Ukraine, Afghan, Syrian and Hong Kong programmes,
alongside other asylum seeker routes including hotel
accommodation, could lead to unpredictable and
unsupportable demand on county council services.

Farmer,
Siobhan ?

Moderate
8

Staff in place, district and county working relationships and partnership are good,
success so far in schemes has been good, work is underway to better plan for
overall international migration issues and partnership working across the system
with proposal for new model of managing this across county due in Autumn for
consideration by leaders, sufficient awareness by government departments of the
issues we have slowing each of the programmes down, considerable work to
obtain reserve accommodation for current Ukraine scheme underway, significant
department funding for Ukraine scheme and reserves for other schemes
available, plan to supplement community support through additional local
resource.  Forward planning underway re move on accommodation, although
likely the biggest residual risk.

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children, Young People & Adults

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

DoT Jun
22

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children, Young People & Adults (New Quarter 1 22/23)

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Actual
Jun22

DoT Jun
22

Mitigating Actions

9

P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

REPORT: Children’s Services Quality Assurance
- Distribution copy

MONTH: July 
2022

AUTHORS: Sam Haines (Service Manager)
Jo Hope (Quality Assurance Manager)

SPONSOR: Andy Dempsey (Director of Partnerships & Strategy) 
 

Quality Assurance: Performance Snapshot

RAG Measure Perf Direction of Travel

Number of audits completed to accepted 
standard and uploaded 35 Decreased from 44 in June ’22 and 40 in 

May ’22 – below baseline (45)

Audit completion rate 
(Target 90%)  67% Decreased from 72% in June, above 63% 

in May; below target since July ’21.

Percentage rated Good and Outstanding in 
current quarter (short-term target 50%) 20% Reduced from 40% in Q1 and 37% in Q4 

21/22; well below target of 50%.  

Percentage rated RI (in current quarter) 71% Below target relative to proportions of Good 
& Inadequate.

Percentage rated Inadequate in current quarter 
(short-term target 9%) 9%

Levels of Inadequate remain variable with 
alternate quarters broadly meeting our 
target, but not being sustained in interim 
quarters.

Percentage of audit actions from previous 
month within timescale (target of 80%)

23% Increased from 15% in Q1 22/23 (15%); but 
has been well below target over last 15 
months.

Quality of assessment in current quarter 
(percentage of assessments evaluated as ‘Good’ 
or better) (short-term target 50%)

43% Improvement seen in Q1 22/23 (from 34% 
to 44%) has been sustained; further 
improvement needed to meet target (50%).

SMART planning current quarter 
(Percentage of plans evaluated as ‘Good’ or 
better)

29%

Improvement seen in Q1 22/23 (from 31% 
to 39%) has not been sustained; target 
(50%) has not been met over last 15 
months.

Management oversight in current quarter 
(percentage of ‘Good’ or better oversight & 
supervision)

31%
Improvement seen in Q1 22/23 (from 31% 
to 39%) has not been sustained; target 
(50%) has not been met over last 15 
months.

Child/young person involvement (aged 4 yrs. 
+) in current quarter (target of 80%) 21% Reduced from 35% in Q1 22/23 and 45% in 

Q4 21/22; well below target (80%).

Family involvement in current quarter
(Target of 80%) 61%

Reduced from 66% gathered in Q1 22/23 
and Q4 21/22; remaining below target 
(80%)

Social Worker involvement in current quarter 
(target of 95%)

100% Target has been consistently met over last 
15 months, ranging between 95-100%.

Team Manager involvement in current quarter 
(target of 95%) 97% Target has been consistently met over last 

15 months, ranging between 95-100%.

IRO/CP Chair involvement in current quarter 
(target of 95%) 92%

Reduced from 100% seen in Q1 22/23 and 
Q4 21/22; below target for the first time in 
the last 15 months

Page 183

Agenda Item 11



2

Note: This report favours quarterly reporting profiles which offer more proportionate and 
representative findings.  As July is the first month in the quarter, representation in Quarter 2 (22-23) 
will build as the quarter progresses.

1.0     Overview

Under the ILACS framework, the Local Authority’s self-assessment is required to answer the 
following 3 questions:

1) What do you know about the quality and impact of social work practice in your local 
authority? 

2) How do you know it?
3) What are your plans for the next 12 months to maintain or improve practice? 

The QA report is formatted against these questions under the paraphrased headings of: 1) 
‘How are we doing?’; 2) ‘How do we know this?’.  The third question around improvement 
work is addressed within the department’s improvement planning which is reported on 
elsewhere.  Nevertheless, some mention of improvement activity is made in this report as it 
relates to the areas identified.

In 2017 GCC Children’s Social Care were judged to be Inadequate by Ofsted with significant 
concerns raised about the reliability of data and impact of quality assurance processes.  
Successive Ofsted monitoring visits marked an improving trajectory in the rigour, depth, 
breadth, and reliability of GCC’s QA framework.   The recent Ofsted ILACS remarked of our 
QA that: 

“The local authority has strengthened its quality and performance management 
arrangements, providing senior leaders with a good understanding of the quality and impact 
of practice.”

And:

“The auditing of practice takes place on a regular basis and is supported by an effective 
moderation process. Senior leaders have provided staff with a clear picture of what good 
practice looks like and of what is expected of them.”

The above offers cause for ongoing optimism in our approach to QA, though there remain 
several areas for continued improvement.  Following the recent inspection, the primary areas 
for continued improvement in our QA approach are closing the loop on actions identified 
through audits; using the learning from QA to drive improvements; and being ever more 
ambitious for improvement with work rated as good.  Closing the loop on actions from audit 
is on a negative trajectory over the last 4 months.  Added to this we have a rising number of 
cases of concern (children in receipt of an inadequate service who therefore need urgent 
improvement).  Together these indicate insufficient responsiveness to identified 
improvements for children.   

A fundamental refresh of the QA framework is underway to capture these areas for 
improvement alongside supporting a revised improvement plan to deliver consistently good 
practice.

2.0 Executive summary 

In Gloucestershire, the leadership team are aiming for a service that embodies the Council’s 
core values of Accountability, Integrity, Empowerment, Respect, and Excellence.  To date, 
the priority has been to minimise instances of Inadequate practice, and secondly, to increase 
the rate of practice rated as Good or better. Over the last 15 months, levels of practice rated 
as Inadequate have followed a variable pattern. Within alternate quarters our short-term 

Page 184



3

target (9%) has been broadly met, but these have been interspersed with quarters where 
higher levels of inadequate practice (15-20%) has been seen. Levels of practice rated Good 
or Outstanding had been increasing (from 31% in Q3 21/22 to 40% in Q1 22/23). There has 
been a marked reduction in practice identified as Good or better at the start of Q2 22/23, 
reducing to 20%. This change in trajectory would benefit from further consideration, to 
support previous improvements being sustained and our target of 50% being met.

In addition to the practice ratings described above, we continue to closely track the proportion 
of audited work at the lower end of RI. This has provided helpful insights in relation to trend 
analysis and targeted improvement activity in areas of identified vulnerability, as increases in 
inadequate practice have been prefaced by increases in low RI work in previous months. It 
is therefore encouraging that levels of low RI work have remained stable, within the current 
quarter’s reduction in levels of inadequate practice.

Overall, the profile from Quarter 3 2021-22 to the present broadly aligns with Ofsted’s 
evaluation that:

“Significant progress has been made in many areas of Gloucestershire’s children’s services…. 
However, services for children are not consistently good.” 

(Ofsted Gloucestershire ILACS report, 2022).

Ongoing variability is to be expected in these figures; however, significant effort is now 
needed to realise the ambition of offering a consistently good service, and to protect against 
a return to a high rate of weak practice. This needs particular attention in a context of rising 
demand impacting on workloads, and simultaneous increased staff turnover, both of which 
are known to correlate with weaker performance and quality.

2.1 Quality of Practice

In the last 6 months, 11 (25%) teams have met both QA targets for practice rated as good 
(50%) and inadequate (9%). 13 teams (30%) present with varying degrees of quality, and the 
remaining 20 (45%) teams with rates of inadequate and low RI that require incisive leadership 
review.   

Findings from recent months indicate the following notable practice themes:

a) One of the key themes in weaker practice relates to delay or gaps in recorded practice 
which impacts on many of the following points. This also correlates with the findings of 
reducing timeliness in key performance indicators within our performance reporting. 
 

b) The department is evidently working hard to maximise relational practice and the benefits 
that follow. Changes in workers continue to impact on the development of trusted and 
effective working relationships, and the continuity of help, protection and care. 

There is a correlation between effective interventions with families and the feedback of 
children and families of having a positive, helpful relationship with their worker.  Feedback 
conversely indicates how hard it is for those children and families who have experienced 
multiple changes in worker. 

c) Improvements are evident in management oversight, ‘footprint – within case recording’ 
and challenge, but more remains needed for this to meet the performance and quality 
expectations established by the department.  More incisive, contemporaneous and 
reflective supervisory discussions are needed and this needs to link to planning reviews 
to better understand and respond to children’s risks, needs and circumstances.  Reviews 
of practice by the QA team reinforce the point made by Ofsted that:

Page 185



4

“Although supervision is generally timely, it does not consistently provide social workers with time 
to reflect on the progress they are making for individual children or always give them the added 
direction they need from their managers.  Records are lacking in challenge where there is delay 
and rarely reflect children’s experiences as well as they should.”

(Ofsted Gloucestershire ILACS report, 2022).

More specifically, the QA team have noted that supervision and oversight is mostly 
effective when plans are progressing as they should, or where there is an evident 
significant event that presents risk of harm.  What is working less well is in situations of 
drift where there is no clear crisis or event as a ‘trigger’ for necessary action.  

Also, where ‘change’ is being reported, there is a lack analysis of what has led to this or 
might lead to sustainable change.  Improvement is further needed when delay is arising 
from our own practice or the availability of external services/processes; and we are not 
consistently using supervision to consider barriers to engagement/change.

Whilst Ofsted commented positively on the role of IROs and CP chairs, more is needed 
from these officers to consistently drive practice improvements through their oversight 
and grip.  

d) Assessment quality remains variable, although the level of assessments rated as good 
or better has been steadily increasing over the last 4 quarters (from 34% to 43% rated as 
good or better).  The regular use of the Essentials 2.0 prompts and Practice 
Fundamentals contribute to practice improvements. Timely completion of assessments, 
and incisive analysis through good conceptualisation and triangulation of information are 
noted as areas for improvement.  

e) When risk of significant harm to children and young people is identified, threshold 
decision-making is inconsistent.  Application of the Essentials 2.0 risk prompts, and timely 
progression of concerns is needed.  Emphasis on quality outcomes from strategy 
discussions remains an area in focus.  Ofsted helpfully differentiated children not open to 
the service as likely to receiving a better-quality response through strategy discussions 
than those already open to a social worker. 

f) There is a necessary strategic emphasis on exploitation and children missing from home 
and care.  Direct practice with vulnerable and at-risk young people needs improvement, 
particularly in relation to engagement and risk (including multi-agency risk arrangements). 
The emphasis of this practice needs to attend to the important areas of missing and 
exploitation, but not to the exclusion of other contextual features.  Adolescent mental ill 
health, antisocial and offending behaviours, substance misuse, self-harm, harmful sexual 
behaviours, peer-on-peer abuse, and other relevant risks to young people need 
progression.  

The GSCP task and finish group working on Extra-Familial Harm (EFH) is a positive step 
along with the prioritisation of this within the Improvement Plan.  These measures are 
cause for optimism; however, it remains the case that we have yet to see any evident 
practice change with young people at risk of EFH.  Themes persist around: ‘non-
engagement’ not being understood; risk assessment being dominated by self-reporting; 
and unhelpful language (e.g., young people ‘placing themselves at risk’).  Compliance 
measures such as return home interviews and strategy discussions, following 3 missing 
episodes, are also inconsistently implemented.

g) The links between assessment and planning need to be improved so that identified issues 
track through into effective interventions; alongside plans being reliably C-SMART, with 
the use of appropriate, succinct language. Focus is needed to ensure that timescales for 
action completion/review are included in plans. Tasks which have been completed are 
not routinely removed, meaning they can accumulate, causing confusion in our planning 

Page 186



5

and leave parents feeling overwhelmed. Some assessments and plans remain too 
process (rather than outcomes) focused.

Feedback from families has highlighted a perennial frustration for some who do not feel 
informed of, or involved with, their plans. 

The Essentials 2.0 Risk review principles are being used more regularly to analyse 
progression of planning.  Where these are used, analysis is impact focussed and 
supporting timely, effective decision making. Overall, more regular, and analytical, review 
of plans is needed to prevent drift and to update/adapt interventions as needed.  This 
further needs to be used well to establish the capacity to change of those being worked 
with, to inform timely and proportionate intervention.

h) Practitioners are often able to talk to the purpose of their visits, but this is not always 
evident in recordings. Additionally, most children/young people had a safety plan but this 
either needed greater realism in reducing risk of harm or amending when not reducing 
the risk of harm. Consistent use of safety planning during s47 enquiries also requires 
improvement.  

Some audits have identified that children were not seen in a timely way when concerns 
were raised and that ‘direct work’ with children did not always focus on the reasons for 
involvement but looked more to general wellbeing.

i) Drift and delay for children and young people remains observable, particularly because 
of changes of social worker. This is likely to be compounded by the reduction in children 
experiencing regular updates of their plan and analytical review of progress.  For some 
children this is mitigated through considered management oversight, that ‘holds’ both the 
situation and the stories of these families as they transition between social workers.

j) Work is needed to better apply diversity, equality, inclusion, and anti-oppressive 
perspectives to practice. Improvement in this area would undoubtedly support improved 
assessments of identity for children and young people. Under the Continuous 
Improvement Plan, the refresh of the Practice Standards to reflect EDI more prominently 
is a good step.  The introduction of the Social GRACES is promising and there is evidence 
in some Gloucester teams (that have undertaken the Systemic training) of greater 
consideration of Social GRACES and other systemic ideas.

k) The offer of Permanence (not only for Children in Care) can improve. It was encouraging 
to see an increase in audits rating Permanence as good or better in Q1 22/23 and so the 
reduction in the current quarter to date (from 53% to 34%) would benefit from further 
exploration.  For children remaining in the care of their family, permanence planning 
would benefit from improved analysis of the capacity to make sustained change, 
particularly prior to reducing our level of intervention. A lack of evidence-based analysis 
in this area is a common feature in children requiring repeat social work interventions and 
unplanned entries into care. These children need better exploration of their family/friends 
at earlier stages to remain in their current care arrangement safely and sustainably. A 
number of children, moving into kinship care arrangements, are doing so with temporary 
agreement whilst further assessment is completed. Timelier Family Group Conferencing 
would support earlier identification of kinship arrangements and provide an additional 
layer of safety and security for children, as well as its supportive elements to parents.  

Permanence planning is not regularly embedded by the second statutory review.  
Furthermore, a sufficiency of suitable homes to live in for both children in our care and 
those leaving our care remains a key challenge for the service. Some children in stable 
long-term placements wait too long to be matched. For children with disabilities, the 
availability of additional care services means that some are experiencing delay in 
receiving the support they, and their family need. This can also impact on the permanence 
arrangements for these children, within their family. 

Page 187



6

Efforts to improve the quality of life-story work for children in care have borne fruit, but 
not yet for all children and young people.  Ofsted again helpfully differentiated between 
better quality life-story work with younger children than for those in care for many years. 
Furthermore, the quality of later-life letters does not provide a sensitive, accessible and 
meaningful account for these children. These areas for development are being attended 
to through the Revised Improvement plan.

The quality of work to support the reunification of children and young people with their 
families is improving, but more is needed to fully assess the situation (including the use 
of the NSPCC risk tool). When children are being considered by the court, the quality of 
reunification work is generally better. Plans to support children at home need to use 
language and outcomes specific to the child/young person. Recording of relevant 
documentation (e.g., parenting assessments or legal meetings) is too often missing, 
making it difficult to understand the rationale for decision making. For children where 
reunification is progressed, the quality of practice seems better. For children where 
reunification is being considered (or has not yet been discounted), the timeliness and 
quality of assessment/planning to inform these permanence decisions is much more 
variable.

The experiences and progress of children in need of help and protection 

For children subject to assessment, improvements in the levels of practice rated good or 
better has not been sustained. The increase from 35% in Q3 21/22 to 47% in Q1 22/23, has 
reduced to 25% in the current quarter to date; falling well below our target (50%). Practice 
rated as inadequate, however, has been reducing over the last three quarters (from 24%), 
with no inadequate practice being identified in this quarter to date.  Practice at the lower end 
of the RI judgment, has also reduced for the 2nd subsequent quarter.

For children in need of help, the indicators of improving practice from Q3 21/22 to Q1 22/23, 
have not been sustained in the current quarter, to date. The increase seen in practice rated 
good or better (from 23% in Q3 21/22 to 44% in Q1 22/23), has reduced to 15% in the current 
quarter to date. This falls well below our target (50%). Practice rated as inadequate has 
reduced (from 20% to 8%), which is within our target (9%). Practice at the lower end of RI, 
however, has increased such that that overall levels of weaker practice have remained the 
same.

Children in need of protection are not experiencing improvement in the quality of their service. 
The previous increase in practice rated as good or better (from 17% to 23%) has not been 
sustained in the current quarter to date (returning to 17%). This sits well below our target of 
50%. Whilst practice rated as inadequate has remained relatively stable over the last three 
quarters (between 18% and 20%) this is well above our 9% target. The level of practice at 
the lower end of the RI judgment has also seen a marked increase. The inherent vulnerability 
of this group of children, alongside the rise in numbers of children on CP plans, means that 
this weaker practice requires concerted attention.  Furthermore, while the intention to reverse 
the rising trajectory of children entering care, and those on CP plans is rightly placed, it will 
create additional demand within the CP and CiN arenas where practice strength requires 
notable improvement.  

For children with disabilities, the practice improvements seen in 2021/22 have not been 
sustained. Practice rated good or better reduced in Q1 22/23 (from 60% to 22%) and has 
remained relatively stable in the current quarter to date (at 25%). Practice rated as 
inadequate increased in Q1 22/23 (from 0% to 11%) and has further increased at the start of 
this quarter to 25%. Practice at the lower end of RI has also increased. The low number of 
audits completed for these children, in the current quarter to date, means that recent changes 
need to be considered with caution. The trends seen since the start of 22/23, however, lends 
weight to the case for remodelling for children with disabilities, as is being outlined under the 
Transformation planning.  

Page 188



7

The experiences and progress of children in care and care leavers 

For our children in care, variance can be seen in the quality of their service. The 
improvements seen in practice rated as good or better, in Q1 22/23, (from 43% to 54%), have 
not been sustained. Whilst this reduction to 40% in Q2 21/22 is below our target (50%), our 
children in care are currently the most likely to be receiving a service that is good or better. 
Levels of inadequate practice have also reduced for the 4th consecutive quarter, with no 
inadequate practice being identified in this quarter, to date. Practice at the lower end of RI, 
however, has increased markedly, such that overall weaker practice has returned to the 
higher levels seen in Q3 21/22.

For our Care Leavers, there is continued variability in the quality of their service. Levels of 
practice rated good or better have been reducing since Q4 21/22, with no good practice 
having been identified in the current quarter to date. Practice identified as inadequate 
increased in Q1 22/23 (from 0% to 22%), but no inadequate practice has been identified in 
the current quarter to date. There has also been a reduction in the level of practice at the 
lower end of RI. It is worth noting that too many care leavers do not have a Personal Advisor 
(PA) allocated in a timely way and do not consistently have their Pathway Plan updated with 
them, when their circumstances changes. The lower number of audits completed for our Care 
Leavers impacts on our understanding of the service they are receiving. Additional quality 
assurance activity is being considered for these young adults, within the refresh of our QA 
Framework.

2.2     The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and families 

Taken together, our performance and quality assurance practices provide senior leadership 
with an appreciation of the strengths and areas for development across the system. These 
occupy positions of prominence in strategic reporting and planning forums and contribute to 
coherent improvement activity.  

Organisational leadership has mobilised to respond to the identified contextual pressures and 
the downturn in the quality of practice in quarter 3. Leaders remain committed to providing 
good and outstanding services and our recent Ofsted judgement reflects this.  

Key pressure points for the service remain, as have been highlighted in previous QA reports: 

a) Retention of staff, particularly experienced, high-performing workers and managers.

b) The need for a stable and reliable ICT environment for office and remote working.

c) High and rising numbers of children and young people needing support from the service.

d) The availability of suitable homes and families for children and young people to be 
matched to.  

e) Good quality oversight, supervision and team building (towards a stable and progressive 
workforce) 

Attention to the above is evident in the current drafting of the post-Ofsted improvement plan.  

As can be seen in section 3.3 below, most social work teams exhibit inconsistencies in the 
quality of their work. Considerable focus is needed to support the managers of these teams 
to deliver consistently good services.

Page 189



8

2.3      QA Methodology
  

There is a well-established system of case file audits and dip samples that supports the 
department’s self-evaluation. Completed (moderated) audits continue to be largely accurate 
in evaluating children’s experiences and the quality of practice. 

As has been noted for some time, audit consistency would be improved by some auditors 
focussing on their conceptualisation of available evidence and better articulating impact for 
children and young people.  The pairing of auditors and moderators has been favourably 
received and, along with relevant notifications to Heads of Service about auditor 
development, offers further support in this regard.  

3.0 How are we doing?

3.1 Children’s Social Care core audit activity 

The audit methodology reviews the overall quality of practice, implicit to which is an analysis 
of the impact of that practice for the child/young person. Better ratings should therefore be 
directly correlated to better outcomes for children.  

Patterns of audit ratings are reflected below, by quarter over the last 15 months

Figure 1

1 0 1 4 3

37
31

36 36

17

52
49

54 45
71

10
20

8 15 9

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding % Good % RI % Inadequate %

Audit Ratings by Quarter (%)

As can be seen in Figure 1 above, levels of practice rated good or better were steadily 
increasing between Q3 21/22 to Q1 22/23 (from 31% to 40%). This improvement has not 
been sustained in the current quarter to date, with practice rated good or better falling to 20%. 
This change in trajectory would benefit from further consideration, to support previous 
improvements being sustained and our target of 50% being met. Levels of inadequate 
practice have been variable over the last 15 months. This has seen us meeting or 
approaching our target (9%) in Q2 and Q4 (21/22), as well as in the current quarter to date. 
This has, however, has been interspersed by an increase to 20% in Q3 21/22 and to 15% in 
Q1 22/23. This reflects our capacity for practice improvement but suggests that challenges 
remain in sustaining this.

Page 190



9

The QA team reviews audits to attend to practice at the lower end of the RI rating, providing 
an important indicator of trajectory and a focus for targeted improvement activity. In the past 
12 months an increase in lower RI has generally preceded an increase in inadequate 
practice. An increase in practice at the lower end of RI in Q4 21/22, for example, was followed 
by an increase in inadequate practice in Q1 22/23. The proportion of work at the lower end 
of the RI judgment has remained stable at the start of this quarter. Considered alongside the 
reduction in inadequate practice, overall levels of weaker practice are therefore reduced in 
the current quarter to date. 

3.2     Audit Ratings by legal status

Patterns of audit ratings by child’s legal status are reflected below in Figures 2 - 7, comparing 
audit ratings for each legal status, by quarter, over the last 15 months.

Figure 2

0 0 0 0 0

41 35 43 47

25

46
41

43 42
75

13
24

14 11
0

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Children subject to Assessment (%)

The profile in Figure 2 reflects that, for children subject to assessment, improvements in the 
levels of practice rated good or better has not been sustained. The increase from 35% in Q3 
21/22 to 47% in Q1 22/23, has reduced to 25% in the current quarter to date; falling well 
below our target (50%). Practice rated as inadequate, however, has been reducing over the 
last three quarters (from 24%), with no inadequate practice being identified in this quarter to 
date.  Practice at the lower end of the RI judgment, has also reduced for the 2nd subsequent 
quarter.

Page 191



10

Figure 3 

0 0 5 4 0

38
23

36 40

15

57

60

59
36

77

5
17

0

20
8

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Children subject to Child in Need Plans (%)

The profile in Figure 3 reflects that, for children in need of help, the indicators of improving 
practice from Q3 21/22 to Q1 22/23, have not been sustained in the current quarter, to date. 
The increase seen in practice rated good or better (from 23% in Q3 21/22 to 44% in Q1 
22/23), has reduced to 15% in the current quarter to date. This falls well below our target 
(50%). Practice rated as inadequate has reduced (from 20% to 8%), which is within our target 
(9%). Practice at the lower end of RI, however, has increased such that that overall levels of 
weaker practice have remained the same.

Figure 4 

0 0 0 3 0

35
17 23 20

17

50

46

59 57 67

15
37

18 20 17

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Children subject to Child Protection Plans (%)

The profile in Figure 4 reflects that, children in need of protection are not experiencing 
improvement in the quality of their service. The previous increase in practice rated as good 
or better (from 17% to 23%) has not been sustained in the current quarter to date (returning 
to 17%). This sits well below our target of 50%. Whilst practice rated as inadequate has 
remained relatively stable over the last three quarters (between 18% and 20%) this is well 
above our 9% target. The level of practice at the lower end of the RI judgment has also seen 
a marked increase. The inherent vulnerability of this group of children, alongside the rise in 
numbers of children on CP plans, means that this weaker practice requires concerted 

Page 192



11

attention.  Furthermore, while the intention to reverse the rising trajectory of children entering 
care, and those on CP plans is rightly placed, it will create additional demand within the CP 
and CiN arenas where practice strength requires notable improvement.  

Figure 5

0 0 0 0

2525 33

60

22

0

75 67

40

67
50

0 0 0
11

25

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Children with Disabilities (%)

The profile in Figure 5 reflects that, for children with disabilities, the practice improvements 
seen in 2021/22 have not been sustained. Practice rated good or better reduced in Q1 22/23 
(from 60% to 22%) and has remained relatively stable in the current quarter to date (at 25%). 
Practice rated as inadequate increased in Q1 22/23 (from 0% to 11%) and has further 
increased at the start of this quarter to 25%. Practice at the lower end of RI has also 
increased. The low number of audits completed for these children, in the current quarter to 
date, means that recent changes need to be considered with caution. The trends seen since 
the start of 22/23, however, lends weight to the case for remodelling for children with 
disabilities, as proposed under the Transformation planning.

Figure 6

6 0 0
8

0

52
46 43

46

40

27
40 50

42
60

15 14 7 4 0

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Children in our Care (%)

The profile in Figure 6 reflects that, for our children in care, variance can be seen in the 
quality of their service. The improvements seen in practice rated as good or better, in Q1 
22/23, (from 43% to 54%), have not been sustained. Whilst this reduction to 40% in Q2 21/22 
is below our target (50%), our children in care are currently the most likely to be receiving a 

Page 193



12

service that is good or better. Levels of inadequate practice have also reduced for the 4th 
consecutive quarter, with no inadequate practice being identified in this quarter, to date. 
Practice at the lower end of RI, however, has increased markedly. As a consequence, the 
overall proportion of weaker practice has returned to the higher levels seen in Q3 21/22.

Figure 7

0 0 0 0 0
9

50 50

33

0

91

42
50

44
100

0
8

0

22

0

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Young Adult Care Leavers (%)

The profile in Figure 7 reflects that, for there is continued variability in the quality of their 
service. Levels of practice rated good or better have been reducing since Q4 21/22, with no 
good practice having been identified in the current quarter to date. Practice identified as 
inadequate increased in Q1 22/23 (from 0% to 22%), but no inadequate practice has been 
identified in the current quarter to date. There has also been a reduction in the level of practice 
at the lower end of RI. It is worth noting that too many care leavers do not have a Personal 
Advisor (PA) allocated in a timely way and do not consistently have their Pathway Plan 
updated with them, when their circumstances changes. The lower number of audits 
completed for our Care Leavers impacts on our understanding of the service they are 
receiving. Additional quality assurance activity is being considered for these young adults, 
within the refresh of our QA Framework.

3.3     Audit Ratings by Team

11 teams (25% of all teams in scope) have met or exceeded the targets for Good (50%) and 
Inadequate (9%) practice in the last 6 months. 8 teams (20% of all teams in scope) are 
showing variance in practice in the last 6 months.  Whilst meeting the old or new targets (40% 
and 50% respectively) for practice rated as Good, there are also indications of weaker 
practice not meeting target. A further 9 teams (20% of all teams in scope) have no practice 
rated as inadequate, but they have not met the old or new targets for (40% and 50% 
respectively) for practice rated as Good or better. 20 teams (45% of all teams in scope) are 
displaying a rating of 40% or more of practice rated as ‘weaker’; these would benefit from 
further enquiries by operational leads.  

3.4   Audit Ratings by Area of Practice

Patterns of audit ratings by area of practice over the last 15 months are reflected below in 
Figures 9-14  

Page 194



13

Figure 9

1 2 1 4 3

46
35 38

48
37

47
49

54 33 54

6 14 7 15
6

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Risk Assessment and Response (%)

Figure 10

1 0 0 4 6

40 34 38
40 37

52
57 55 46 51

8 9 7 10 6

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Assessments (%)

Figure 11

1 0 1 5 3

41
32 30

38
26

49
55 62 47

60

8 13 7 11 9

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Planning and Review (%)

Page 195



14

Figure 12

3 1 1 4 3

40
31

39 35 43

52

56
53 51

49

5 12 7 10 6

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Relational Intervention and Review (%)

Figure 13

1 1 1 5 0

49
41 39

48

34

44
49 54

37
63

6 9 5 10
3

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Permanence (%)

Page 196



15

Figure 14

1 0 1 3 0

35 32
38 38

31

58
57

55 47 60

7 11 5 12 9

Q2 21/22 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 (to date)
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Outstanding Good RI Inadequate

Oversight (%)

The profiles in Figures 9-14 suggest that:

a) Levels of practice rated good or better have reduced across all areas of practice, other than 
Relational Intervention and Review, which has increased from 39% to 46%. The lowest levels 
of good practice have been seen in Planning and Review (reducing from 43% to 29%). Our 
target of 50% of practice being rated good or better has not been across any area of practice 
in the current quarter and Permanence is the only area where this target has been met over 
the last 15 months (in Q1 22/23 at 53%).

b) There has been an improvement in the levels of inadequate across all areas of practice in 
the current quarter, to date. The greatest reduction has been seen in Risk Assessment and 
Response (from 15% to 6%) and our target (9%) is currently met across all areas of practice. 
Levels of inadequate practice have followed this fluctuating pattern over the past 15 months, 
so this improvement will need to be sustained over a number of months for this progress to 
be secure.

3.5 Findings from children, young people and families’ feedback in audit

In the quarter to date, 21% of children and young people (aged 4+) have been spoken to as 
part of the audit. This reflects a reduction on the 35% spoken to in Q1 22/23 and 45% spoken 
to in Q4 21/22. 61% of parents or carers have been spoken to as part of the audit. This is 
reduced from 66% in Q1 22/23 and Q4 21-22. 71% of children and young people rated their 
service positively and 29% provided identified both strengths and areas for development. 40% 
of parents/carers rated the service positively and 60% identified both strengths and areas for 
development.

3.6     GCC Vulnerable children and young people’s Ambassadors’ audit review

GCC Ambassadors are key contributors to the QA framework through their monthly 
independent review of a sample of audits. The particular emphasis is on practice that is 
participative and relational. Whilst Ambassadors are GCC employees, sampled work is still 
carefully selected to avoid conflicts of interest and ensure information is protected as needed.  

Ambassadors look for evidence of the voice of the child and their relationship with the social 
worker.  They look for clear evidence that the worker knows the child/young person and 
presents a picture of who that child is: including their needs, views, wishes and feelings.  They 

Page 197



16

are also reviewing whether work has been recorded in a way that the child / young person 
could understand should they decide to access their records in the future.

The Ambassadors’ key findings this month were:

a) There were eight examples (80%) of a reasonable or good relationship between worker 
and child/young person. This is an improvement on the 70% identified in June, 63% in 
May and 30% in April.

b) There were nine (90%) case summaries with a good focus on, and representation of, the 
child with accessible language.  This is an improvement on the 50% seen in May and 
June and the 60% seen in April.

c) Seven (70%) of the practice examples drew through the views of the child and 
demonstrated direct work to varying degrees.  This sustains the improvement seen in 
June, compared with the 63% in May and 50% in April. There still appear to be missed 
opportunities to propose the use of Mind of My Own with children and young people.    

d) Six (60%) offered information about the child, their likes, dislikes, interests and 
achievement. This is an improvement on the 40% identified in June, but less than the 
75% identified in May. This suggests continued variability in this area.

e) Seven (70%) used appropriate language (including Language that Cares) and the 
decision-making could be followed. This is an improvement on the 50% identified in May 
and June, returning to the 70% seen in April. In a number of children’s records acronyms 
and jargon were used in ways that Ambassadors thought would be confusing for young 
people to read, which would make it harder for them to understand the reasons behind 
important decisions being made in their lives.  

Some of the comments from the Ambassadors in recent months about practice strengths 
include:

- Case summary is very clear and up to date, shows compassion and is child focussed. 
Explains why Services working with him.

- This is a very good case summary about his story and detail about why Social Care is 
involved.

- Case summary starts with ‘my name is’. The case summary is positive about the young 
person and his personality. There is a photo of the young person giving a good picture 
of who they are. The young person is written in a positive way surrounding the 
relationship they have with their carers, it states the young person loves being with 
them. Explains why social care is working with them.

- Case summary includes a photo of the young person. Introduces the young person “my 
name is, I am ... Years old with brown hair and a big smile. Describes the young person’s 
personality and what sexuality they identify as. Explains clearly why social care is 
working with him. Case summary is written clearly and written to the child.

- The young person has taken part in their reviews. The young person’s views are in visits 
such as “you did” and “you like”. Mind of my own statement was completed for foster 
care review. 

- It is stated through the audit that the young person’s voice is well represented in 
assessments. The section for the young person’s views is fully completed and detailed.

- There is clear evidence on what his likes and dislikes are, he loves animals. Nice 
description from his social worker shows a good relationship. Direct work. 

Page 198



17

- Family tree, Purposeful visits with his views, includes a Genogram. Lego built during 
direct work (includes photo). Family Group Conference Plan. Evidence the social worker 
is pro-active contributing to the building of a positive relationship (around his identity) 

- Worker has tried to build a relationship using Makaton. Evidence that verbal cues have 
been noticed when verbal cues are not available.

- His views are present at the end in the review around what support he wants. Says to 
‘buy into’ his pathway plan at the end, unsure on the intentions, but there’s better ways 
of influencing him to want independent accommodation 

- School Report and Mock Exam results are attached – evidence of achievements. 
Hobbies and likes are included (such as acting, psychology and music) 

- Simple language which is easy to understand and clear. SMART EHCP were the only 
acronyms I could find, well done! 😊 Clearly explains why decisions have been made 

- I think the social worker has done a brilliant job in getting to know the family and to me 
it looks like the relationship is building.

- I do think the young person would understand why decisions have been made, I also 
think language is clear and simple there are acronyms however they are initially written 
in full, and I do think the young person would recognise this. Reasons behind decisions 
such as direct work carried out following issues are clear and explained simply.

In summary, the Ambassadors found examples of positive practice across all areas this 
month but continue to highlight a high degree of variance in the quality of relational and 
inclusive practice.

3.7      Cases of Concern

The service to a child or young person is raised as a Case of Concern when, through audit, 
inadequate practice is identified. It has now been agreed that Heads of Service are best 
placed to maintain oversight of Cases of Concerns until these have been resolved, with the 
resolution of concerns being determined based on: 

 We are assured that the child/young person is safe.
 We are assured that an appropriate plan has been established to address the 

concerns for the child/young person, which are being progressed with appropriate 
grip/oversight.

In July, Heads of Service were informed of 3 Cases of Concern. Including Cases of Concern 
from previous months, there are currently 53 children or young people being tracked by the 
QA team, until the areas of concern are resolved. 7 cases of concern have been active for 
more than 12 months.

Heads of Service are asked to update the QA Team monthly whether concerns are now 
resolved, or where they will be undertaking further review.  In July, Head of Service updates 
were provided for 4 cases of concern, two of which found that concerns were resolved and 
two continue to be subject to Head of Service oversight. The 53 children still requiring monthly 
Head of Service updates represents a growing number and this requires improvement.   

3.8   Fostering audit activity

The auditing of in-house foster carers’ files is a now well-established routine with monthly 
moderated audits undertaken by staff within the service. Unfortunately, due to a combination 
of annual leave and sickness, 4 moderated audits were completed in July. As such, these 

Page 199



18

will be combined with August audits, to provide a more reliable and representative analysis 
of the quality of practice.

3.9 Families First and Youth Support audit activity  

Of the 4 audits completed in Early Help, all 4 (100%) were rated as Requires Improvement. 

These audits identified that improvement continues to be needed in the timeliness of risk 
assessments and quality of safety planning arising from these. The timeliness of 
assessments and reviews were also identified areas for improvement.  

Practice strengths were identified in the child’s voice being regularly understood and used to 
inform interventions; creative methods being used to engage with young people who find it 
harder to build relationship with us; and effective examples of multi-agency working.

Practice development remains a standing item in management meetings, and this learning is 
in turn cascaded through team meetings, and through supervision to individual supports.

Of the 5 audits completed in Youth Support, 4 (80%) rated practice as good, and 1 (20%) 
rated practice as requiring improvement to be good.  These audits relate to a range of 
practices including Youth Justice (2 audits, 1 good and 1 RI), Health (1 audit rated good), 
and NEET (2 audits, both good).   

Practice strengths were identified in the quality of clear planning, formed through multi-
agency partnerships. This is supporting the right team of people around a young person, 
enabling a collective understanding of their needs and life experience informing current 
interventions.

Areas for development have been identified in the consistency of quality of management 
oversight and the quality of robust analysis to make sense of young people’s situations. 
These areas for development are informing the YST annual training plan and learning from 
audits is being shared through leadership meetings, team meetings and practice forums.

4.0     How do we know this?

4.1 Children’s’ Social Care Audit methodology

There is a basic expectation that every Advanced Practitioner, Team Manager and Senior 
Manager undertakes an audit each month; one Director electively audits. ‘Standing 
exemptions’ to audit apply to those that are moderating the audits of their colleagues, those 
working 0.5fte or less (who audit alternate months), those on extended absences, and those 
in the MASH, who undertake MASH QA activity on alternate months.  All other exemptions 
require sign-off from the respective Director. 

4.1.1 Audit Accuracy

As the most fundamental element of QA, the accuracy and validity of audit activity requires 
ongoing monitoring.  Within the GCC audit methodology, accuracy should be arrived at 
through discourse, debate, and collaboration which run throughout good social work. The 
contributions of each participant (including the child/young person, family, and IRO/CP chair) 
are all valued and shaped into a completed audit.  In this context, the moderator acts on 
behalf of the DCS as arbiter of the overall evaluation.  

Since February 2021, auditors have been matched with specific moderators with the aim of 
providing more consistent developmental feedback and greater opportunity for discussions 
that incorporate different perspectives. After 6 months together in pairs, we change these 

Page 200



19

pairings to allow for auditors and moderators to benefit from different perspectives in their 
approach to QA and avoid ‘groupthink’.

With this in mind, Table 1 (below) indicates the ‘moderator effect’ on the ratings of audit. In 
pursuit of congruence in our evaluations of practice we expect the moderators to have a 10-
15% effect on ratings.  Where auditors are working more subjectively in their own teams this 
effect is expected to be greater.

This is not necessarily an indication that auditors do not recognise good or inadequate 
practice.  Whilst this may be the case for a minority of auditors, this is more likely to indicate 
a bias to editorialise, be overly optimistic about practice that is ‘closer to home’ or 
demonstrate the dissonance between known versus recorded practice.  Nevertheless, this 
holds relevance for quality control in day-to-day practice.  For this reason, the Academy is 
tracking those auditors most likely to require support and working with Heads of Service to 
support their development.  

In terms of the subjectivity that arises from auditing work within one’s own team, this will be 
considered within the refresh of the QA framework. In the interim, we will continue to rely on 
moderators’ objectivity in counteracting the potential for bias.  

Table 1

Percentage 
upgraded by 
moderators

Percentage 
downgraded by 

moderators

Percentage Inadequate 
identified by 
moderators

Feb 22 3 33 67
Mar 22 5 18 100
Apr 22 2 37 67
May 22 0 25 100
Jun 22 0 23 71
July 22 3 49 100

In July, there was a significant increase in the downgrading of audits (from 23% to 49%) and 
for practice rated as inadequate,100% was identified through moderation. This continues to 
be a greater than expected moderator effect and too many audits continue to be reliant upon 
moderation for inadequate practice to be identified.

External review of our audits (including feedback from the inspectorate and experienced 
consultants) is that the contribution of our moderators and a strong moderator effect upholds 
the rigour and reliability of our audits.   

An additional element of QA governance is the contribution by external critical friend Steve 
Hart (ex HMI) to reviewing the quality of auditing.  Steve’s review of 7 completed audits from 
July found the following themes, many of which coincide with previous findings: 

a) Audits are generally accurate in identifying the prominent features of practice, but some 
audits do not provide a narrative that evidences how the effectiveness and impact of 
practice has informed the ratings that have been applied. In some circumstances this is 
addressed through moderation, but this was not evident in all examples. For these latter 
examples, it is less likely that learning will be drawn from the audit to improve practice or 
the child’s situation.

b) Steve repeatedly references the impact of the moderator on the quality of audit.  There 
continue to be regular examples where the auditor and moderator combine well to 
effectively evaluate the quality of practice for the child/young person. There are other 
examples where the level of difference between auditor and moderator perspectives 
impacts on learning that can be drawn from this collective evaluation of practice. Steve 
rightly advises that these differences need to be resolved before these audits are 
finalised.

Page 201



20

c) Steve noted a theme in some audits where the impact of trauma and adversity on parents 
and carers appear to be contributing to a sustained lack of change in the child or young 
person’s situation. Steve identified one example where the moderated audit attended to 
this complexity and offered suggestions about how this might be resolved. Steve also 
noted a number of examples that did not clearly resolve how this lack of change would 
be addressed.

d) Steve also noted that around half of the audits reviewed in July identified cultural and 
diversity needs for the child and their family. Within these, however, it was not always 
clear how this understanding of culture and diversity was informing our interventions with 
the family.

The QA team have raised the points about impact and conceptualisation with moderators, 
who are working with auditors where the above issues are identified.  Steve’s feedback is 
also shared directly with auditors and moderators for the benefit of their learning.  The QA 
team will further work with the respective Heads of Service when enduring issues are 
identified.  Additionally, these points need to be addressed within the forthcoming refresh of 
the QA framework.

4.1.2 Representation

A sufficient, regular and distributed volume of audit activity is required to provide the Authority 
with a good understanding of its quality of practice in support of the necessary oversight.  The 
baseline for this is set at 45 audits per month though Gloucestershire has an ambitious stretch 
target of 86 audits per month (i.e., 2 audits per team per month).  

Having said this, we are deliberately seeking to diversify the range of proportionate quality 
assurance activities to avoid a sole reliance on the findings from core audits to inform our 
self-evaluation.  

In July, 35 audits were completed which is well below our baseline of 45 audits. In the last 
six months, this baseline target for audit completion has only been met once. This needs to 
increase in coming months to provide a meaningful representation of practice. 

In July, there was a pool of 107 staff, trained in the audit methodology. 80 of these function 
as auditors, and 27 as moderators. Two moderators are currently involved in supporting new 
moderators, rather than providing moderation. Ten either moderate bi-monthly or at a 
reduced level each month and 1 moderator is currently exempt due to absence from work. 
On this basis, there is current capacity to moderate 58 audits each month.

As it takes more time to identify and develop moderators, the current auditor-moderator ratio 
means that there are more auditors than available moderator capacity. To address this, we 
have been purchasing additional external moderator capacity and this will continue to be the 
case as the completion rate and auditor numbers grow. This move also offers external 
objectivity, support and challenge which continue to be welcomed. 

Of the 80 auditors, there are 8 who are currently exempt from audit due to their absence from 
work or being involved in other improvement activity. This means that there are 72 auditors 
available for monthly auditing. Of the 72, 20 did not audit in July due to being bi-monthly 
auditors. There was also 1 further audit undertaken by a Head of Service. This meant that 53 
children were allocated for audit from across all teams in Children’s Social Care. Exemptions 
from audit require authorisation from the respective director, and nil returns are expected to 
be followed up by Heads of Service.  

Following allocation of audit, a further 10 single month exemptions were given by the Director 
of Children’s Safeguarding and 7 were not submitted. This resulted in 36 audits being 

Page 202



21

completed. Of available auditors, in July, we had a completion rate of 69%, which is a slight 
decrease on the 73% in June and remains well below the 90% target. 

There was 1 audit in July that did not meet the standard for uploading, resulting in a final total 
of 35 completed audits. This means that 67% of the assigned audits contributed towards a 
representative profile.  The 35 audits completed to expected standards in July is well below 
the ultimate target of 86 audits per month and also below the baseline of 45 audits.

Table 2 

July 
21

Aug 
21

Sep 
21

Oct 
21

Nov 
21

Dec 
21

Feb 
22

Mar 
22

Apr 
22 

May 
22

Jun 
22

Jul 
22

Ave

No. audits 
completed

51 49 46 51 44 35 30 44 52 40 44 35 43

In the last 12 months we have completed, on average, 43 audits per month.  As a proportion 
of the 4517 children open to Children’s Social Care in July 2022, this 12-month total (521) 
represents 12% of the service’s activity. If we were meeting our target of 86 audits per month 
(2 audits per team per month) this would offer representation of 23%. 

Although an audit is allocated to every team, the single month exemptions, audits not 
returned and the audit not ready for submission means that 16 teams (36%) have not been 
audited in July.

In the last three months, there is 1 team where no audit has been completed; 7 teams where 
one audit has been completed; and 10 teams where two audits have been completed. 

4.1.3 Participative Auditing

The audit methodology is intended to be delivered as a collaborative exercise with social 
workers.  Without this collaboration the accuracy of audits is diminished, as is the opportunity 
for learning and ownership of any subsequent recommendations. 

In the current quarter to date, 35 audits have been completed. 100% of audits included the 
social worker and 97% included the Team Manager.  Where an IRO or CP Chair was working 
with these children/young people, they were included in 92% of audits. Where CP Chairs and 
IRO’s are completing audits, they are now allocated children or young that they already have 
responsibility for. This is in keeping with the statutory monitoring expectation of these staff; 
and for these children, this will provide a greater opportunity for learning discussions to take 
place between the operational team and the reviewing service.

In the current quarter to date, 21% of children and young people (aged 4+) have been spoken 
to as part of audit, reduced from 35% in Q1 22/23 and 45% in Q4 21/22. 61% of parents or 
carers have been spoken to as part of audit, reduced from 66% in Q1 22/23 and Q4 21/22. 

There remain, therefore, a majority of audits where the voice of children, young people and 
families have not contributed as needed. Continued rigour is therefore required from both 
auditors and moderators to make best use of all possible contributions. This can be 
strengthened by improved planning by auditors at the point of audit allocation.   

In the current quarter, where views have not been obtained, analysis of this feedback 
highlights that:

a) 13 (33%) were deemed inappropriate to gather views by the auditor. For a number of 
these, there was not consultation about this with the social worker (as expected).

b) 22 (55%) the child/young person or the parent/carer was unreachable, but for a number 
it was not evident that persistent attempts had been made, as expected.

Page 203



22

c) 5 (13%) declined to provide views when asked.

4.1.4 Impact from Audit

The primary purpose of our QA is to ensure that its findings drive effective and timely 
improvements for children and young people, and secondly to drive organisational self-
awareness, learning and change.  

Audit actions are separated into Care Planning and non-Care Planning actions, with the 
expectation that Care Planning actions are transferred directly into the child’s plan and 
reviewed at each plan update, until the identified outcomes are achieved for the child. The 
following collaborative process has been agreed:

 Children in Need/ DCYPS Early Help: audit actions will be discussed at the next Child 
in Need review/ TAF meeting and transposed into the care plan.  This should allow for 
the child/young person and family to be included.  If they are not attending the review, 
then this needs to be discussed with them beforehand.

 Child Protection: the actions will be discussed at the next core group or child protection 
conference – whichever comes first – and transposed into the CP plan.  This should 
allow for the child/young person and family to be included.  If they are not at the core 
group/conference, then this needs to be discussed with them beforehand. If the core 
group precedes the conference, then the CP chair needs to be made aware of the audit 
actions relative to care planning, so that their oversight is maintained.

 Children in Care: the actions will be discussed with the child/young person by the social 
worker and then with the IRO.  As outcome focussed actions are likely to constitute a 
change to the care plan, a Child in Care review should be held to consider the proposed 
action and then included in an updated CLA plan.

 Care Leavers: the actions from the audit will be discussed with the young person by the 
social worker and their Pathway Plan updated with them at this point.

Team managers are expected to record on the child’s file when care plan actions have been 
transferred to the child’s plan and whether the child, family and IRO/CP Chair have been 
appropriately involved.  They are also expected to maintain oversight of non-care planning 
actions to ensure timely completion.  The QA team maintains an action tracker, which notes 
updates from Team Managers regarding their oversight of both Care Planning and Non-Care 
Planning Actions.

Over the last three auditing months, there have been 119 audits completed, of which 86 have 
contained Care Planning Actions.  Of these Care Planning Actions:

a) 4 (5%) have been transferred to the child’s plan on time. 

b) 7 (8%) have been transferred to the child’s plan late.

c) 47 (55%) where the Team Manager has yet to provide an update.

d) 28 (33%) have not yet been transferred to the child’s plan. These relate to July audits 
and so it is likely that a review has not yet taken place.

In addition to this, there were 123 audits completed prior to May2022, where the actions have 
not yet been transferred to the child’s plan or the team manager has not provided an update 
on their progress. There are also 10 audits where the social work service was ended prior to 
actions being completed. These audits date back to March 2020.

Page 204



23

Where actions have not been transferred to the child’s plan in a timely way, this could reflect 
a missed opportunity for learning from the audit to make a meaningful difference to the child.

Over the last three months, there have been 236 non-care planning actions agreed from 
audit, of which:

a) 53 (22% have been completed on time.

b) 28 (12%) have been completed late. 

c) 59 (25%) are overdue. 

d) 8 (3%) are not yet due to be completed.
 

e) 88 (37%) where the Team Manager has yet to provide an update, of which 62 were 
from July audits

In addition to this, there are 169 non-care planning actions, from audits prior to May 2022, 
which are overdue being completed or the team manager has not provided an update. There 
are a further 10 audits where the social work service was ended prior to actions being 
completed.  

Compared with the June QAF report, the timeliness of audit action completion has improved 
(from 31% to 48% completed on time). There are several historic audit actions which have 
not yet been achieved and are therefore unlikely to make a meaningful difference to the 
child’s situation. Responsiveness to audit for individual children requires ongoing attention 
and for this reason a proposal for QA surgeries was agreed and started in March 2022.

Whilst it is important that these outstanding audit actions are progressed, it is also noted that, 
in the last six months, there are 55 children and young people whose care plan has been 
amended to reflect learning from audit.  In addition to this, 313 actions have been completed 
for children and young people, because of learning from audit. This is likely to represent 
positive difference for each of these children and young people.

While impact for individual children following audit continues to require improvement, audit 
remains influential in the following areas:

 Core audits are consistently employed in the evaluation and support offered in the GCC 
ASYE programme. These can be linked to learning opportunities and practice 
improvements.

 Audits are being used by individual practitioners and teams to reflect and learn about 
practice improvement.

 There are clear changes in direction for practice and improved outcomes for some 
children because of audit; and this is most markedly the case for Children of Concern 
immediately following audit.

 The findings from audit and other forms of QA activity continue to shape the 
organisation’s learning and improvement activity. A key example of this is the 
development and implementation of the Essentials 2.0 programme, the leadership and 
management programme, the Practice fundamentals, and the Essentials 3.0 programme 
all came about as a direct result of audit findings.

4.2 QA governance

There are several forums where the QA report is considered, including the Children’s 
Services Improvement Board, the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
the Children’s Senior Leadership Team, and Children’s Services Improvement Executive 

Page 205



24

meetings.  The monthly Strategic Performance and Quality Meeting also allow QA findings 
to be triangulated against improvement activity and performance and feed into the refresh.  
A monthly meeting also takes place between the Director (Safeguarding and Care) and the 
Head of Quality to review the QA findings and further inform understanding and planning.  

There is now considerable alignment between performance and QA reporting and the 
response by leadership through ongoing development of the AIP which is the key mechanism 
for driving change.  The outcome of the recent Ofsted inspection has highlighted the need to 
further develop our QA arrangements in support of the journey from ‘requires improvement’ 
to ‘good’.

5.0 Conclusions & Recommendations

This report highlights variability in the improvement journey for the service; and whilst there 
is undoubted evidence of progress in some areas, this has yet to be secured and more widely 
distributed. Assertive leadership is required to maintain momentum towards consistently 
good provision and to avoid the risk of returning to the regular and pervasive weak practice 
that previously defined the service.  

It is positive that the improvement plan is attending to the contextual issues of workforce 
stability, ICT, and workload whilst also looking to the finer elements of practice improvement 
outlined both in this report and by the regulator. Rather than presenting a series of 
recommendations in this respect, it is therefore proposed that the revised improvement 
planning provides the focal point for improvement and is reviewed as necessary in light of 
ongoing QA findings and performance data.

Additionally, two recommendations are made in light of the QA findings over recent months: 
these being the need for better responsiveness from the service in relation to audit findings, 
and the benefit of streamlining QA reporting.

Firstly, incisive work is needed from senior managers to secure urgent resolution to the 
concerns identified for the 53 cases of concern; and review the 414 audit actions outstanding 
prior to July. Until these indicators of responsiveness are addressed, we leave too many 
children in need of acknowledged service improvement, and the service remains vulnerable 
to the long-standing challenge from the regulator in this respect.

Secondly, given the benefit of quarterly QA profiling, and the general similarities in month-
on-month qualitative findings, it is recommended that QA reporting be proportionately 
streamlined to align with performance reporting.  That is, that monthly QA headlines continue 
to be provided to directors immediately upon production but that the monthly QA reports 
reduce from their current comprehensive format to a summary dashboard as found at the 
beginning of this report with headline findings and graphics. This would allow for a combined 
QA and monthly performance report. Quarterly reporting would maintain the comprehensive 
format currently employed. The required reports for the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and the Continuous Improvement Board would continue in their present 
format, supplemented with the most up-to-date findings in line with the dates of these 
meetings.

Page 206



1. Purpose

To provide the outturn figures for the 2021/22 revenue budgets.

The structure of the report reflects the commissioning view of children and families services. 
Services are grouped by Service Areas with DSG (Dedicated Schools Grant) and non-DSG 
variances identified. 

DSG is the grant allocated by the Department for Education to fund all education services 
including schools and the total for Gloucestershire is over £524 million. Of this total, £413 
million is delegated to schools and academies with the remainder relating to early years, high 
needs and a small number of central support services which are the responsibility of the Local 
Authority. High needs includes the funding for special schools, pupil referral service, additional 
SEN support for pupils in mainstream schools and post 16 support to colleges.

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 Overall Position

The year-end revenue position as at March 2022 for non-DSG funded services is an over-
spend of £17.286 million (13.73% of budget). Included within these figures is the additional 
cost of the impact of Covid-19 on budgets which totals £9.683 million giving an underlying 
over-spend of £7.603 million. Significant over-spends include the external placements budget 
due to the increased number of children in care partly linked to the pandemic but also the 
number and cost of external placements and disability services.  The net over-spend has 
reduced by £1.062 million due to lower safeguarding staff and home to school transport costs.

Additional expenditure for the impact of Covid-19 covers three key areas which are external 
placement costs including the additional cost of accommodation for care leavers, cost of social 
care staff and support to vulnerable pupils. Covid-19 grants totalling £7.1 million have been 
spent including the Winter Grant, Local Support Grant, Holiday Activities Fund and Household 
Support Fund. 

Activity levels within social care continued to cause significant budgetary pressures on 
children’s services and in particular against external placements resulting in the over-spend. 
At the end of March 2022 children in care numbers were 841 compared to 754 at the end of 
April 2020. Gloucestershire’s number and rate of children in care is above statistical 
neighbours but remains below the England average.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are over-spent by £17.043 million in 2021/22, 
which includes the deficit brought forward of £13.665 million. Within the total deficit position, 
the High Needs block is £20.205 million in deficit offset by early years and de-delegated 
balances. The High Needs budget was £2.869 million above the deficit budget that was set 

Gloucestershire County Council

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report
Children & Families Services

Net Budget Analysis
Outturn Position 2021/22

 

Page 207

Agenda Item 12



with top-up budgets for colleges, special schools, primary and secondary schools 
overspending by £3.18 million due to increased demand.

This position is analysed in the monitoring spreadsheet provided at attachment 1 to this report. 

2.2 Variance Summary

The major variances for non-DSG, with summary explanations are:
 Children in Care – the over-spend against the external placement budget is £15 million 

(48.2% above budget) and this also includes the impact of Covid-19 on placement 
numbers which totals £7.9 million resulting in an underlying over-spend of £7.1 million. 
The underlying over-spend is due to the number of residential, fostering and supported 
living placements and also the cost of complex residential placements. The average unit 
cost of a placement is £115,800 per annum, (residential/supported living average unit cost 
of £180,900), this is compared with the budgeted cost of £105,200 per annum. At the end 
of March there were 480 external placements, of which 114 are residential and 141 
supported living placements. 

 Safeguarding – against safeguarding staffing budgets are over-spent of £144k (0.7% 
above budget). Effective management of the workforce, improved processes for 
recruitment, more effective advertising and the support and training provided by the social 
work academy has reduced this cost pressure in year. The inability to recruit to both 
agency and permanent staff has also contributed to the position. Turnover of staff has 
been rising and has been between 20.7% and 24.5% over the last six months and at the 
end of March there were 125 agency workers in post which is an increase on previous 
months. 

 Regulated Services - in-house fostering and adoption services are under-spent by £933k 
due to activity at the start of the year being below budgeted assumptions. 

 Services for CYP with Additional Needs - services for children with disabilities are over-
spent by £1.644 million due to the increased cost of care packages, including s.76 
contracts with Health, and disability service staffing costs.

The major variances for DSG include:
 Schools – the deficit carry forward was £13.665 million and relates to the high needs 

block. High Needs top-up budgets are £3.18 million overspend due to increased demand.
 Education Outcomes and Intervention – the deficit budget that was set for the high 

needs block totals £4.093 million and is included under this heading. 
 Early Years Education - the Early Years block was under-spent by £2.8 million due to 

lower spend against the budget for free entitlement for nursery places for three and four 
year olds and project initiatives. This included balances from 2020/21 and in March the 
Schools Forum agreed for £1.4 million of these balances to be allocated to providers and 
for specific projects.

Gloucestershire’s High Needs block, like most LAs nationally remained in deficit throughout 
the year. The increase in the allocated funding for 2022/23 of an additional £6.968 million and 
a further £2.98 million Supplementary Grant will be required to meet forecast demand 
pressures for additional special school places and support to mainstream schools. The current 
forecast for 2022/23 for the high needs block is an in-year deficit of over £3.4 million, but recent 
trends are still being analysed to identify a realistic position. The LA and Schools Forum are 
looking at proposals on how to resolve this deficit, and initiatives to tackle need more 
effectively and reduce costs in the long term.

Page 208



2.3 Other Key Financial Information

To address this over-spend position in 2022/23, in conjunction with the additional MTFS 
funding of £6.6 million for external placements, the strategy will continue to be to bring the 
child in care population more in line with statistical neighbours over the coming years.  This 
will involve a range of measures, aimed to impact on both numbers and associated costs, 
including  

 further developing our edge of care offer to support children at home and to prevent 
their escalation and entry into care;

 increasing the number and proportion of children placed with in-house foster care;
 continuing to develop our own placement provision with providers to exert a greater 

influence on the market and control costs;
 continuing to develop our permanence planning to reduce drift and delay and ensure 

children can leave our care in a timely manner by achieving permanence or 
reunification as appropriate.

3. Detailed Analysis
An analysis of the financial figures is contained in the following attachments:
 Attachment 1 – Net Budget (Outturn) Children & Families – SLA format
 Attachment 2 – Net Budget (Outturn) – High Risk Analysis
 Attachment 3 – Activity Analysis – External Placements
 Attachment 4 – Net Covid-19 Analysis

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank



Service Area Budget Manager Full Year 
Budget Outturn

Services for CYP £000 £000 DSG   £000 Non DSG 
£000 Total £000 % DSG   £000 Non DSG 

£000 Total £000 Change 
£000

Education & Additional Needs Kirsten Harrison
Schools CF0201 -60,345 -44,341 14,980 337 15,317 -25.4% 16,477 228 16,705 -1,388 
Services for CYP with Additional Needs CF0202 25,807 26,707 434 466 900 3.5% 273 338 611 289
Disabled Children & Young People CF0209 4,234 5,878 0 1,644 1,644 38.8% 0 1,445 1,445 199
Education Outcomes and Intervention CF0203/04/05 5,394 7,687 3,038 -58 2,980 55.2% 3,280 -32 3,248 -268 
Commissioning for Learning CF0206 15,542 15,493 -80 31 -49 -0.3% -85 682 597 -646 
Early Years Education CF0210 33,317 31,813 -1,302 -202 -1,504 -4.5% 0 0 0 -1,504 
Other Education Services CF02-0 686 587 -71 -28 -99 -14.4% -74 34 -40 -59 
Total Education & Additional Needs 24,635 43,824 16,999 2,190 19,189 77.9% 19,871 2,695 22,566 -3,377 

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok
Children & Families Chris Spencer
Safeguarding CF0301 21,416 21,676 0 260 260 1.2% 0 734 734 -474 
Children in Care CF0302 33,661 48,500 0 14,839 14,839 44.1% 0 15,219 15,219 -380 
Regulated Services CF0303 20,025 19,092 0 -933 -933 -4.7% 0 -766 -766 -167 
Quality CF0305 2,364 2,398 0 34 34 1.4% 0 78 78 -44 
CF Management & Business Support CF0306 5,648 6,390 0 742 742 13.1% 0 649 649 93
Localities Coordination & Support CF0307 4,255 4,286 0 31 31 0.7% 0 42 42 -11 
Young People Services CF040201 4,260 3,955 0 -305 -305 -7.2% 0 -109 -109 -196 
Total Children & Families 91,629 106,297 0 14,668 14,668 16.0% 0 15,847 15,847 -1,179 

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok
Commissioned Children's Services Wendy Williams
Young People Support CF0402 4,668 4,690 0 22 22 0.5% 0 0 0 22
Commissioning of Intervention Services CF0403 1,336 1,229 -13 -94 -107 -8.0% 0 -3 -3 -104 
Health Contracts CF0405 704 633 0 -71 -71 -10.1% 0 0 0 -71 
Commissioned Early Years Services CF0406 4,449 4,649 0 200 200 4.5% 0 0 0 200
Other Commissioned Children's Services 11,157 11,201 -13 57 44 0.4% 0 -3 -3 47

CF07 ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok
Commissioning Function Wendy Williams -1,561 -1,133 57 371 428 -27.4% 96 609 705 -277 

Roundings 0 0 0 0 0 0 -1 -1 1

Total 125,860 160,189 17,043 17,286 34,329 27.3% 19,967 19,147 39,114 -4,785 

Variance

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 1
Children & Families Services

Net Budget Analysis
Year-End Outturn @ March 2022

Feb Forecast Variance

P
age 211



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Service Area Budget Manager Full Year 
Budget Outturn

High Risk Areas £000 £000 DSG £000 Non DSG 
£000

Total 
£000 % DSG £000 Non DSG 

£000
Total 
£000

Change 
£000

External Placements Wendy Williams 31,150 46,155 0 15,005 15,005 48.2% 0 15,373 15,373 -368 

Independent Special Schools Tracy Oosthuizen 16,969 17,305 336 0 336 2.0% 116 0 116 220

Fostering Tammy Wheatley 12,824 12,358 0 -466 -466 -3.6% 0 -280 -280 -186 

Adoption Tammy Wheatley 2,644 2,643 0 -1 -1 -0.0% 0 -21 -21 20

Special Guard & Res Orders Tammy Wheatley 4,557 4,090 0 -467 -467 -10.2% 0 -465 -465 -2 

Safeguarding Staff Ann James 19,267 19,411 0 144 144 0.7% 0 963 963 -819 

Section 17 & Discretionary Payments Ann James 1,009 1,404 0 395 395 39.1% 0 43 43 352
Discretionary Payments 599 761 0 162 162 27.0% 0 21 21 141
Section 17 Payments 410 643 0 233 233 56.8% 0 22 22 211

High Needs Top-up Budgets Amanda Henderson 31,611 34,791 3,180 0 3,180 10.1% 2,718 0 2,718 462

Pensions Philip Haslett 3,639 3,545 0 -94 -94 -2.6% 0 -30 -30 -64 

Youth Support - Leaving Care / After Care Mark Bone 4,260 3,955 0 -305 -305 -7.2% 0 -109 -109 -196 
Staffing 3,270 3,263 0 -7 -7 -0.2% 0 34 34 -41 
Payments 990 692 0 -298 -298 -30.1% 0 -143 -143 -155 

Transport Clare Medland 14,142 14,293 0 151 151 1.1% 0 803 803 -652 

Nursery Education Fees Sarah Hylton 33,037 31,736 -1,302 1 -1,301 -3.9% 0 0 0 -1,301 

Variance

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 2
Children & Families Services

High Risk Analysis
Year-End Outturn @ March 2022

February Forecast Variance

P
age 213



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Mth 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 Mth 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 Mth 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 Mth 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21
Apr 131 159 136 153 184 245 270 320 331 436 Apr 21 31 33 37 55 63 72 78 92 117 Apr 92 107 89 108 104 153 161 174 182 197 Apr 21 14 8 19 29 37 68 57
May 134 152 138 162 201 252 287 315 356 468 May 22 30 36 42 56 63 72 82 102 125 May 93 101 90 114 118 154 176 171 181 211 May 21 12 6 19 35 39 62 73
Jun 129 149 142 174 205 248 287 317 354 482 Jun 23 31 35 45 63 61 68 79 99 128 Jun 90 95 95 117 119 155 181 175 176 222 Jun 22 12 12 23 32 38 63 79
Jul 129 149 138 170 226 247 299 321 375 471 Jul 21 29 36 41 61 65 68 88 94 125 Jul 94 98 92 115 136 150 188 168 197 218 Jul 22 10 14 29 32 43 65 84
Aug 126 138 132 169 215 241 305 321 392 459 Aug 23 24 29 40 57 61 70 86 98 121 Aug 88 98 94 115 133 146 192 169 205 215 Aug 16 9 14 25 34 43 66 89
Sep 131 134 136 166 231 251 289 325 381 447 Sep 23 24 27 40 63 65 68 79 99 115 Sep 91 95 101 111 145 152 182 174 195 210 Sep 14 8 15 23 34 39 72 87
Oct 127 135 134 178 221 246 294 330 375 449 Oct 22 28 22 44 61 65 69 81 95 109 Oct 89 93 104 119 136 144 186 178 194 218 Oct 13 8 15 24 37 39 71 86
Nov 127 139 129 176 213 246 295 340 377 460 Nov 22 31 22 45 61 67 75 91 100 111 Nov 89 96 100 117 131 138 173 177 196 219 Nov 11 7 14 21 41 47 72 81
Dec 127 133 124 189 222 246 307 336 401 486 Dec 24 30 20 51 61 67 75 90 107 119 Dec 91 91 98 120 133 142 178 175 200 228 Dec 12 6 18 26 37 54 71 94
Jan 129 138 132 180 217 244 314 330 395 474 Jan 25 34 24 49 60 67 82 91 107 111 Jan 93 92 100 113 129 142 176 173 197 224 Jan 12 8 18 28 35 56 66 91
Feb 126 142 124 178 234 252 312 336 404 475 Feb 25 34 24 52 61 68 82 88 114 110 Feb 91 94 95 110 137 149 173 181 194 225 Feb 14 5 16 36 35 57 67 96
Mar 129 136 143 187 231 246 313 346 403 480 Mar 25 30 36 53 63 67 84 89 112 114 Mar 94 91 100 114 134 146 177 187 194 225 Mar 15 7 20 34 33 52 70 97
Avera 129 142 134 174 217 247 298 328 379 466 23 30 29 45 60 65 74 85 102 117 91 96 97 114 130 148 179 175 193 218 16 9 14 26 35 45 68 85

1. Youth Offending placements account for the difference between the number of residential and fostering placements and the total.
2. Activity includes unaccompanied asylum seekers
3. The numbers are based on placements in the database at the end of a month. Previous months figures are updated as information becomes available
4. Prior to 2011/12 supported living placements were included within the fostering figures
5. There were a significant number of placements which came in during March 2013 which were only identified from April 

Notes

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report
Children & Young People’s Services

Activity Analysis - External Placements

Total Agency Placements Total Residential Agency Placements Total Fostering Agency Placements Supported Living Placements

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

A
pr

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l

A
ug

S
ep O
ct

N
ov

D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

N
um

be
r 

of
 P

la
ce

m
en

ts

Month

Total External Agency Placements

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

A
pr

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l

A
ug

S
ep O
ct

N
ov

D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

N
um

be
r 

of
 P

la
ce

m
en

ts

Month

Agency Residential Placements

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

A
pr

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l

A
ug

S
ep O
ct

N
ov

D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

N
um

be
r 

of
 P

la
ce

m
en

ts

Month

Agency Fostering Placements

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

A
pr

M
ay Ju
n

Ju
l

A
ug

S
ep O
ct

N
ov

D
ec Ja
n

Fe
b

Supported Living Placements

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 1

18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

P
age 215



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Service Area Budget Manager Outturn 
COVID

February 
COVID 
COVID

Outturn net 
position

February  Net 
position Movement

Services for CYP Non DSG 
£000 Non DSG £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Education & Additional Needs Kirsten Harrison
Schools CF0201 337 228 109 430 259 -93 -31 -62
Services for CYP with Additional Needs CF0202 466 338 128 174 382 292 -44 336
Disabled Children & Young People CF0209 1,644 1,445 199 1,644 1,445 199
Education Outcomes and Intervention CF0203/04/05 -58 -32 -26 -58 -32 -26
Commissioning for Learning CF0206 31 682 -651 33 62 -2 620 -622
Early Years Education CF0210 -202 0 -202 -202 0 -202
Other Education Services CF02-0 -28 34 -62 101 111 -129 -77 -52
Total Education & Additional Needs 2,190 2,695 -505 738 814 1,452 1,881 -429

ok ok
Children & Families Chris Spencer
Safeguarding CF0301 260 734 -474 415 446 -155 288 -443
Children in Care CF0302 14,839 15,219 -380 7,909 8,420 6,930 6,799 131
Regulated Services CF0303 -933 -766 -167 -933 -766 -167
Quality CF0305 34 78 -44 56 54 -22 24 -46
CF Management & Business Support CF0306 742 649 93 471 653 271 -4 275
Localities Coordination & Support CF0307 31 42 -11 31 42 -11
Young People Services CF040201 -305 -109 -196 8 8 -313 -117 -196
Total Children & Families 14,668 15,847 -1,179 8,859 9,581 5,809 6,266 -457

ok ok
Commissioned Children's Services Wendy Williams
Young People Support CF0402 22 0 22 22 0 22
Commissioning of Intervention Services CF0403 -94 -3 -91 -94 -3 -91
Health Contracts CF0405 -71 0 -71 -71 0 -71
Commissioned Early Years Services CF0406 200 0 200 200 0 200
Other Commissioned Children's Services 57 -3 60 0 0 57 -3 60

CF07 ok ok
Commissioning Function Wendy Williams 371 609 -238 86 87 285 522 -237

Roundings 0 -1 1 0 -1 1

Total 17,286 19,147 -1,861 9,683 10,482 7,603 8,665 -1,062

2021/22 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - Attachment 4
Children & Families Services

Net Budget Analysis with COVID-19 analysis

Year-End Outturn @ March 2022

Outturn 
Variance

February 
Forecast 
Variance

P
age 217



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2022

Date of meeting Proposed reports Additional Information 

15 September 2022 Family Hubs – Where are we in the process

Alternative Provision – Current Position and Development 
Plans linked to the SEND Green paper content & Direction 
of Travel

Fostering Update (moved from July Meeting)

Improvement Board Update
Improvement Plan 
Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework – 
Revenue Monitoring Report

24 November 2022 Annual Safeguarding Report : Annual Update

Sufficiency Strategy

Children Services IT Update 

Academies briefing paper - to be confirmed

Regional Director to be invited - to be confirmed

12 January 2023 School Attendance – issues post pandemic, key changes 
in GCC duty in the white paper

Recruitment and Retention of Children Services Staff 
(Social Workers, etc) 

Update on autism pathway  CCG Lead on this area – awaiting confirmation of 
contact

P
age 219

A
genda Item

 13



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2022

Improvement Board Update 
Improvement Plan 
Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework 
Revenue Monitoring Report

9 March 2023 Early Intervention and Help

SEND Update – Local Area SEND Inspection preparation

Bright Spots Survey Results 
18 May 2023 Inclusion Strategy 

Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework – 
Revenue Monitoring Report

13 July 2023 

14 September 2023

Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework – 
Revenue Monitoring Report

9 November 2023

Agreed work plan items to date: 

 Regional Schools Commissioner – would be useful to plan an extraordinary meeting with the RSC on Academisation. 
 Peer to peer violence and Gangs – it would be helpful if the Ambassadors could scope out this item indicating expected outcomes.
 Interdependence and the importance of partnership working

P
age 220



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2022

 Exclusion Data Figures (RSC to be invited to meeting) (possibly July Meeting – tbc)

Other issues to be scheduled
 Child Friendly Gloucestershire 
 Children on the edge of care
 Youth Service Provision 

Development/Briefing Sessions (held virtually and not in public)

 Transition from Children’s to Adult Services – joint with Adult Care Scrutiny. To be scheduled. 
 Special Education Needs – White Paper
 Academisation
 School Admissions/Transport
 P

age 221



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	4 Alternative Provision - Current Position and Development Plans linked to the SEND Green paper content & Direction of Travel
	5 Family Hubs - Where are we in the process
	engagement (hard to reach groups)
	engagement (playgroups)
	engagement (family centres)
	engagement (online with families)
	engagement (nov meetings)

	6 Continuous Improvement Board Update
	7 Fostering Update
	Annual Fostering Report 21-22 V3 (002)

	9 Improvement Plan
	Improvement Programme Social Care & Early Help Post Ofsted 2022 CIB 28 July 2022

	10 Performance Report
	Performance and Risk Scorcard Quarter 1 2022-23

	11 Quality Assurance Framework
	12 Revenue Monitoring Report
	P13 YE CF Mar 2022 App SC
	P13 YE CF Mar 2022 App SC 2
	P13 YE CF Mar 2022 App SC 3
	P13 YE CF Mar 2022 App SC 4

	13 Work Plan

